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EXPLANATORY PARAGRAPH
 
This report combines the quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 of Retail Opportunity Investments Corp., a Maryland
corporation (“ROIC”), and Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Operating Partnership”), of which ROIC is
the parent company and general partner. Unless otherwise indicated or unless the context requires otherwise, all references in this report to “the Company,”
“we,” “us,” “our,” or “our company” refer to ROIC together with its consolidated subsidiaries, including the Operating Partnership. Unless otherwise
indicated or unless the context requires otherwise, all references in this report to “the Operating Partnership” refer to Retail Opportunity Investments
Partnership, LP together with its consolidated subsidiaries.
 
ROIC operates as a real estate investment trust and as of September 30, 2016, ROIC owned an approximate 90.2% partnership interest and other limited
partners owned the remaining 9.8% partnership interest in the Operating Partnership. Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC, ROIC’s wholly-owned
subsidiary, is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership, and as the parent company, ROIC has the full and complete authority over the Operating
Partnership’s day-to-day management and control.
 
The Company believes that combining the quarterly reports on Form 10-Q of ROIC and the Operating Partnership into a single report will result in the
following benefits:
 

• facilitate a better understanding by the investors of ROIC and the Operating Partnership by enabling them to view the business as a whole in the
same manner as management views and operates the business;

• remove duplicative disclosures and provide a more straightforward presentation in light of the fact that a substantial portion of the disclosure applies
to both ROIC and the Operating Partnership; and

• create time and cost efficiencies through the preparation of one combined report instead of two separate reports.

Management operates ROIC and the Operating Partnership as one enterprise. The management of ROIC and the Operating Partnership are the same.
 
There are a few differences between ROIC and the Operating Partnership, which are reflected in the disclosures in this report. The Company believes it is
important to understand the differences between ROIC and the Operating Partnership in the context of how these entities operate as an interrelated
consolidated company. ROIC is a real estate investment trust, whose only material asset is its ownership of direct or indirect partnership interests in the
Operating Partnership and membership interest in Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC, which is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership. As
a result, ROIC does not conduct business itself, other than acting as the parent company of the Operating Partnership and issuing equity from time to time.
The Operating Partnership holds substantially all the assets of the Company and directly or indirectly holds the ownership interests in the Company’s real
estate ventures. The Operating Partnership conducts the operations of the Company’s business and is structured as a partnership with no publicly traded
equity. Except for net proceeds from equity issuances by ROIC, which are contributed to the Operating Partnership, the Operating Partnership generates the
capital required by the Company’s business through the Operating Partnership’s operations, by the Operating Partnership’s incurrence of indebtedness
(directly and through subsidiaries) or through the issuance of operating partnership units (“OP Units”).
 
Non-controlling interests is the primary area of difference between the Consolidated Financial Statements for ROIC and the Operating Partnership. The OP
Units in the Operating Partnership that are not owned by ROIC are accounted for as partners’ capital in the Operating Partnership’s financial statements and
as non-controlling interests in ROIC’s financial statements. Accordingly, this report presents the Consolidated Financial Statements for ROIC and the
Operating Partnership separately, as required, as well as Earnings Per Share / Earnings Per Unit and Capital of the Operating Partnership.
 
This report also includes separate Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Liquidity and Capital
Resources, Item 4. Controls and Procedures sections and separate Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer certifications for each of ROIC and the
Operating Partnership as reflected in Exhibits 31 and 32.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

Item 1. Financial Statements

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS CORP.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share data) 

 
September 30, 2016

(unaudited)  
December 31, 

2015

ASSETS    
Real Estate Investments:    
Land $ 741,255  $ 669,307
Building and improvements 1,859,178  1,627,310
 2,600,433  2,296,617
Less: accumulated depreciation 176,398  134,311
Real Estate Investments, net 2,424,035  2,162,306
Cash and cash equivalents 10,447  8,844
Restricted cash 161  227
Tenant and other receivables, net 31,100  28,652
Deposits 4,500  500
Acquired lease intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 79,282  66,942
Prepaid expenses 827  1,953
Deferred charges, net of accumulated amortization 34,388  30,129
Other 1,761  1,895

Total assets $ 2,586,501  $ 2,301,448

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    
Liabilities:    

Term loan $ 299,094  $ 298,802
Credit facility 5,373  132,028
Senior Notes Due 2026 199,732  —
Senior Notes Due 2024 245,222  244,833
Senior Notes Due 2023 244,893  244,426
Mortgage notes payable 71,634  62,156
Acquired lease intangible liabilities, net of accumulated amortization 153,140  124,861
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 25,197  13,205
Tenants’ security deposits 5,778  5,085
Other liabilities 12,327  11,036

Total liabilities 1,262,390  1,136,432
Commitments and contingencies  
Non-controlling interests - redeemable OP Units —  33,674

Equity:    
Preferred stock, $.0001 par value 50,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding —  —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized, 109,156,012 and 99,531,034 shares issued
and outstanding at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively 11  10
Additional paid-in-capital 1,355,523  1,166,395
Accumulated dividends in excess of earnings (155,854)  (122,991)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (5,284)  (6,743)
Total Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. stockholders’ equity 1,194,396  1,036,671
Non-controlling interests 129,715  94,671

Total equity 1,324,111  1,131,342

Total liabilities and equity $ 2,586,501  $ 2,301,448

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share data)

 Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Revenues        
Base rents $ 45,429  $ 37,654  $ 134,929  $ 108,884
Recoveries from tenants 13,271  10,279  37,642  29,809
Other income 654  2,144  1,548  2,721

Total revenues 59,354  50,077  174,119  141,414
Operating expenses        

Property operating 8,053  7,285  23,761  21,064
Property taxes 6,594  4,933  18,302  14,351
Depreciation and amortization 23,102  18,059  65,856  52,567
General and administrative expenses 3,220  3,092  10,055  9,387
Acquisition transaction costs 179  91  613  507
Other (income) expense (10)  254  361  507

Total operating expenses 41,138  33,714  118,948  98,383
Operating income 18,216  16,363  55,171  43,031
Non-operating expenses        

Interest expense and other finance expenses (10,001)  (8,526)  (29,393)  (25,407)
Net income 8,215  7,837  25,778  17,624
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests (813)  (295)  (2,645)  (681)

Net Income Attributable to Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. $ 7,402  $ 7,542  $ 23,133  $ 16,943

Earnings per share - basic and diluted: $ 0.07  $ 0.08  $ 0.22  $ 0.18

Dividends per common share $ 0.18  $ 0.17  $ 0.54  $ 0.51

Comprehensive income:        
Net income $ 8,215  $ 7,837  $ 25,778  $ 17,624
Other comprehensive income        
Unrealized swap derivative gain (loss) arising during the period 416  —  (402)  —
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of interest expense included in net income 628  535  1,861  1,604
Other comprehensive income 1,044  535  1,459  1,604
Comprehensive income 9,259  8,372  27,237  19,228
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests (813)  (295)  (2,645)  (681)

Comprehensive income attributable to Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. $ 8,446  $ 8,077  $ 24,592  $ 18,547

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS CORP.
Consolidated Statement of Equity

(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share data)

 Common Stock  
Additional

paid-in capital

 Accumulated
dividends in excess

of earnings

 Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss

 Non-
controlling

interests

 

Equity Shares  Amount      
Balance at December 31,
2015 99,531,034  $ 10  $ 1,166,395  $ (122,991)  $ (6,743)  $ 94,671  $ 1,131,342

Shares issued under the
2009 Plan 337,556  —  —  —  —  —  —
Repurchase of common
stock (76,262)  —  (1,368)  —  —  —  (1,368)
Cancellation of
restricted stock (7,332)  —  —  —  —  —  —
Stock based
compensation expense —  —  3,650  —  —  —  3,650
Issuance of OP Units to
non-controlling interests —  —  —  —  —  48,175  48,175
OP Unit redemption 613,762  —  12,982  —  —  (12,982)  —
Cash redemption for
non-controlling interests —  —  —  —  —  (7,182)  (7,182)
Adjustment to non-
controlling interests
ownership in Operating
Partnership —  —  (3,940)  —  —  3,940  —
Proceeds from the
issuance of common
stock 8,757,254  1  184,880  —  —  —  184,881
Registration
expenditures —  —  (7,076)  —  —  —  (7,076)
Cash dividends ($0.54
per share/unit) —  —  —  (55,863)  —  (6,262)  (62,125)
Dividends payable to
officers —  —  —  (133)  —  —  (133)
Net income attributable
to Retail Opportunity
Investments Corp. —  —  —  23,133  —  —  23,133
Net income attributable
to non-controlling
interests —  —  —  —  —  2,645  2,645
Other comprehensive
income —  —  —  —  1,459  —  1,459

Total 109,156,012  $ 11  $ 1,355,523  $ (155,854)  $ (5,284)  $ 123,005  $ 1,317,401
Proceeds on repayment
of promissory note
receivable secured by
equity —  —  —  —  —  6,710  6,710

Balance at September 30,
2016 109,156,012  $ 11  $ 1,355,523  $ (155,854)  $ (5,284)  $ 129,715  $ 1,324,111
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

 Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Net income $ 25,778  $ 17,624

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization 65,856  52,567

Amortization of deferred financing costs and mortgage premiums, net 1,558  119

Straight-line rent adjustment (3,312)  (3,847)

Amortization of above and below market rent (10,769)  (7,346)

Amortization relating to stock based compensation 3,650  3,490

Provisions for tenant credit losses 1,578  1,574

Other noncash interest expense 1,604  1,604

Change in operating assets and liabilities:    

Restricted cash 31  205

Tenant and other receivables (713)  (1,337)

Prepaid expenses 1,127  1,857

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 12,270  10,369

Other assets and liabilities, net (149)  (2,284)

Net cash provided by operating activities 98,509  74,595

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Investments in real estate (207,980)  (235,786)

Improvements to properties (31,920)  (19,278)

Deposits on real estate acquisitions (4,000)  3,500

Construction escrows and other 35  23

Net cash used in investing activities (243,865)  (251,541)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Principal repayments on mortgages (7,630)  (65,156)

Proceeds from mortgage loan —  35,500

Proceeds from term loan —  300,000

Proceeds from draws on credit facility 242,500  306,000

Payments on credit facility (370,000)  (446,275)

Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes Due 2026 200,000  —

Proceeds on repayment of promissory note receivable 6,710  —

Redemption of OP Units (38,820)  —

Distributions to OP Unitholders (6,262)  (1,950)

Deferred financing and other costs (71)  (1,766)

Proceeds from the sale of common stock 184,881  101,293

Registration expenditures (6,983)  (4,286)

Dividends paid to common stockholders (55,998)  (48,918)

Repurchase of common stock (1,368)  (1,316)

Net cash provided by financing activities 146,959  173,126

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,603  (3,820)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 8,844  10,773

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 10,447  $ 6,953

Other non-cash investing and financing activities increase (decrease):    

Issuance of OP Units in connection with acquisitions $ 46,140  $ —

Fair value of assumed mortgages upon acquisition $ 17,618  $ —

Intangible lease liabilities $ 26,631  $ 15,609

Interest rate swap liabilities $ 145  $ —

Accrued real estate improvement costs $ (726)  $ 503

OP Unit redemption $ 12,982  $ 2,731
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

- 4 -



RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS PARTNERSHIP, LP
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands)

 
September 30, 2016

(unaudited)  December 31, 2015

ASSETS    
Real Estate Investments:    
Land $ 741,255  $ 669,307
Building and improvements 1,859,178  1,627,310
 2,600,433  2,296,617
Less: accumulated depreciation 176,398  134,311
Real Estate Investments, net 2,424,035  2,162,306
Cash and cash equivalents 10,447  8,844
Restricted cash 161  227
Tenant and other receivables, net 31,100  28,652
Deposits 4,500  500
Acquired lease intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 79,282  66,942
Prepaid expenses 827  1,953
Deferred charges, net of accumulated amortization 34,388  30,129
Other 1,761  1,895

Total assets $ 2,586,501  $ 2,301,448

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL    
Liabilities:    

Term loan $ 299,094  $ 298,802
Credit facility 5,373  132,028
Senior Notes Due 2026 199,732  —
Senior Notes Due 2024 245,222  244,833
Senior Notes Due 2023 244,893  244,426
Mortgage notes payable 71,634  62,156
Acquired lease intangible liabilities, net of accumulated amortization 153,140  124,861
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 25,197  13,205
Tenants’ security deposits 5,778  5,085
Other liabilities 12,327  11,036

Total liabilities 1,262,390  1,136,432
Commitments and contingencies  
Redeemable limited partners —  33,674

Capital:    
Partners’ capital, unlimited partnership units authorized:    
ROIC capital (consists of general and limited partnership interests held by ROIC) 1,199,680  1,043,414
Limited partners’ capital (consists of limited partnership interests held by third parties) 129,715  94,671
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (5,284)  (6,743)

Total capital 1,324,111  1,131,342

Total liabilities and capital $ 2,586,501  $ 2,301,448
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS PARTNERSHIP, LP
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except unit data)

 Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Revenues        
Base rents $ 45,429  $ 37,654  $ 134,929  $ 108,884
Recoveries from tenants 13,271  10,279  37,642  29,809
Other income 654  2,144  1,548  2,721

Total revenues 59,354  50,077  174,119  141,414
Operating expenses        

Property operating 8,053  7,285  23,761  21,064
Property taxes 6,594  4,933  18,302  14,351
Depreciation and amortization 23,102  18,059  65,856  52,567
General and administrative expenses 3,220  3,092  10,055  9,387
Acquisition transaction costs 179  91  613  507
Other (income) expense (10)  254  361  507

Total operating expenses 41,138  33,714  118,948  98,383
Operating income 18,216  16,363  55,171  43,031
Non-operating expenses        

Interest expense and other finance expenses (10,001)  (8,526)  (29,393)  (25,407)
Net Income Attributable to Retail Opportunity Investments
Partnership, LP $ 8,215  $ 7,837  $ 25,778  $ 17,624

Earnings per unit - basic and diluted: $ 0.07  $ 0.08  $ 0.22  $ 0.18

Distributions per unit $ 0.18  $ 0.17  $ 0.54  $ 0.51

Comprehensive income:        
Net income $ 8,215  $ 7,837  $ 25,778  $ 17,624
Other comprehensive income        
Unrealized swap derivative gain (loss) arising during the period 416  —  (402)  —
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of interest expense included
in net income 628  535  1,861  1,604
Other comprehensive income 1,044  535  1,459  1,604

Comprehensive income $ 9,259  $ 8,372  $ 27,237  $ 19,228

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS PARTNERSHIP, LP
Consolidated Statement of Partners’ Capital

(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except unit data) 

 Limited Partner’s Capital (1)  ROIC Capital (2)     

 Units  Amount  Units  Amount  

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss  Capital

Balance at December 31, 2015 12,195,603  $ 94,671  99,531,034  $ 1,043,414  $ (6,743)  $ 1,131,342
OP units issued under the 2009 Plan —  —  337,556  —  —  —
Repurchase of OP Units —  —  (76,262)  (1,368)  —  (1,368)
Cancellation of restricted stock —  —  (7,332)  —  —  —
Stock based compensation expense —  —  —  3,650  —  3,650
Issuance of OP Units 2,434,833  48,175  —  —  —  48,175
Equity redemption of OP Units (613,762)  (12,982)  613,762  12,982  —  —
Cash redemption of OP Units (2,206,613)  (7,182)  —  —  —  (7,182)
Adjustment to non-controlling interests
ownership in Operating Partnership —  3,940  —  (3,940)  —  —
Issuance of OP Units in connection
with sale of common stock —  —  8,757,254  184,881  —  184,881
Registration expenditures —  —  —  (7,076)  —  (7,076)
Cash distributions ($0.54 per unit) —  (6,262)  —  (55,863)  —  (62,125)
Dividends payable to officers —  —  —  (133)  —  (133)
Net income attributable to Retail
Opportunity Investments Partnership,
LP —  2,645  —  23,133  —  25,778
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  1,459  1,459

Total 11,810,061  $ 123,005  109,156,012  $ 1,199,680  $ (5,284)  $ 1,317,401
Proceeds on repayment of promissory
note receivable secured by capital —  6,710  —  —  —  6,710

Balance at September 30, 2016 11,810,061  $ 129,715  109,156,012  $ 1,199,680  $ (5,284)  $ 1,324,111
 
_________________________________
(1) Consists of limited partnership interests held by third parties.
(2) Consists of general and limited partnership interests held by ROIC.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS PARTNERSHIP, LP
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

 Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Net income $ 25,778  $ 17,624

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization 65,856  52,567

Amortization of deferred financing costs and mortgage premiums, net 1,558  119

Straight-line rent adjustment (3,312)  (3,847)

Amortization of above and below market rent (10,769)  (7,346)

Amortization relating to stock based compensation 3,650  3,490

Provisions for tenant credit losses 1,578  1,574

Other noncash interest expense 1,604  1,604

Change in operating assets and liabilities:    

Restricted cash 31  205

Tenant and other receivables (713)  (1,337)

Prepaid expenses 1,127  1,857

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 12,270  10,369

Other assets and liabilities, net (149)  (2,284)

Net cash provided by operating activities 98,509  74,595

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Investments in real estate (207,980)  (235,786)

Improvements to properties (31,920)  (19,278)

Deposits on real estate acquisitions (4,000)  3,500

Construction escrows and other 35  23

Net cash used in investing activities (243,865)  (251,541)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Principal repayments on mortgages (7,630)  (65,156)

Proceeds from mortgage loan —  35,500

Proceeds from term loan —  300,000

Proceeds from draws on credit facility 242,500  306,000

Payments on credit facility (370,000)  (446,275)

Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes Due 2026 200,000  —

Proceeds on repayment of promissory note receivable 6,710  —

Redemption of OP Units (38,820)  —

Deferred financing and other costs (71)  (1,766)

Proceeds from the issuance of OP Units in connection with sale of common stock 184,881  101,293

Registration expenditures (6,983)  (4,286)

Distributions to Unitholders (62,260)  (50,868)

Repurchase of OP Units (1,368)  (1,316)

Net cash provided by financing activities 146,959  173,126

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,603  (3,820)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 8,844  10,773

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 10,447  $ 6,953

Other non-cash investing and financing activities increase (decrease):    

Issuance of OP Units in connection with acquisitions $ 46,140  $ —

Fair value of assumed mortgages upon acquisition $ 17,618  $ —

Intangible lease liabilities $ 26,631  $ 15,609

Interest rate swap liabilities $ 145  $ —

Accrued real estate improvement costs $ (726)  $ 503

OP Unit redemption $ 12,982  $ 2,731
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 

1. Organization, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business
 
Retail Opportunity Investments Corp., a Maryland corporation (“ROIC”), is a fully integrated and self-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”). ROIC
specializes in the acquisition, ownership and management of necessity-based community and neighborhood shopping centers on the west coast of the United
States anchored by supermarkets and drugstores.
 
ROIC is organized in a traditional umbrella partnership real estate investment trust (“UpREIT”) format pursuant to which Retail Opportunity Investments GP,
LLC, its wholly-owned subsidiary, serves as the general partner of, and ROIC conducts substantially all of its business through, its operating partnership
subsidiary, Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Operating Partnership”), together with its subsidiaries.
Unless otherwise indicated or unless the context requires otherwise, all references to the “Company”, “we,” “us,” “our,” or “our company” refer to ROIC
together with its consolidated subsidiaries, including the Operating Partnership.
 
With the approval of its stockholders, ROIC reincorporated as a Maryland corporation on June 2, 2011. ROIC began operations as a Delaware corporation,
known as NRDC Acquisition Corp., which was incorporated on July 10, 2007, for the purpose of acquiring assets or operating businesses through a merger,
capital stock exchange, stock purchase, asset acquisition or other similar business combination. On October 20, 2009, ROIC’s stockholders and
warrantholders approved the proposals presented at the special meetings of stockholders and warrantholders, respectively, in connection with the transactions
contemplated by the Framework Agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) ROIC entered into on August 7, 2009 with NRDC Capital Management, LLC
(“NRDC”), which, among other things, set forth the steps to be taken by ROIC to continue its business as a corporation that has elected to qualify as a REIT
for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
 
ROIC’s only material asset is its ownership of direct or indirect partnership interests in the Operating Partnership and membership interest in Retail
Opportunity Investments GP, LLC, which is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership. As a result, ROIC does not conduct business itself, other
than acting as the parent company and issuing equity from time to time. The Operating Partnership holds substantially all the assets of the Company and
directly or indirectly holds the ownership interests in the Company’s real estate ventures. The Operating Partnership conducts the operations of the
Company’s business and is structured as a partnership with no publicly traded equity. Except for net proceeds from equity issuances by ROIC, which are
contributed to the Operating Partnership, the Operating Partnership generates the capital required by the Company’s business through the Operating
Partnership’s operations, by the Operating Partnership’s incurrence of indebtedness (directly and through subsidiaries) or through the issuance of operating
partnership units (“OP Units”) of the Operating Partnership.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-2, “Leases.” The pronouncement requires lessees to put most leases on
their balance sheets but recognize expenses on their income statements. The guidance also eliminates real estate-specific provisions for all entities. For
lessors, the guidance modifies the classification criteria and the accounting for sales-type and direct financing leases. The pronouncement is effective for
fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company is in the
process of evaluating the impact this pronouncement will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 
In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-16, “Business Combinations: Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments.” The
pronouncement simplifies the accounting for adjustments made to provisional amounts recognized in a business combination by eliminating the requirement
to retrospectively account for those adjustments. The pronouncement requires any adjustments to provisional amounts to be applied prospectively. The
pronouncement is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption
permitted. The Company adopted the provisions of ASU No. 2015-16 effective January 1, 2016 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Company.
 
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-3, “Interest – Imputation of Interest: Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs.” The
pronouncement requires reporting entities to present debt issuance costs related to a note as a direct deduction from the face amount of that note presented in
the balance sheet. The pronouncement is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015, with
early adoption permitted. The Company adopted the provisions of ASU No. 2015-3 effective January 1, 2016 and retrospectively applied the guidance to its
debt obligations for all periods presented, which resulted in the presentation of debt issuance costs associated with its term loan, unsecured revolving credit
facility,
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Senior Notes Due 2024, Senior Notes Due 2023, and mortgage notes payable as a direct reduction from the carrying amount of the related debt instrument.
These amounts were previously included in deferred charges, net on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. See Note 4.
 
In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-2, “Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis.” The pronouncement focuses to minimize situations
under previously existing guidance in which a reporting entity was required to consolidate another legal entity in which that reporting entity did not have: (1)
the ability through contractual rights to act primarily on its own behalf; (2) ownership of the majority of the legal entity's voting rights; or (3) the exposure to
a majority of the legal entity's economic benefits.  ASU 2015-2 affects reporting entities that are required to evaluate whether they should consolidate certain
legal entities. All legal entities are subject to reevaluation under the revised consolidation model. ASU 2015-2 is effective for fiscal years, and for interim
periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted the provisions of ASU No. 2015-
2 effective January 1, 2016, and there were no changes to the Company’s consolidation conclusions as a result of the adoption of this guidance.
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-9, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” The pronouncement was issued to clarify the principles for
recognizing revenue and to develop a common revenue standard and disclosure requirements for U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards.
The pronouncement is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact this
pronouncement will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

 
Principles of Consolidation

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not
include all of the disclosures required by GAAP for complete financial statement disclosures. In the opinion of management, the consolidated financial
statements include all adjustments necessary, which are of a normal and recurring nature, for the fair presentation of the Company’s financial position and the
results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. Results of operations for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2016 are not
necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2016. It is suggested that these financial statements be read in
conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2015.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and those of its subsidiaries, which are wholly-owned or controlled by the
Company. Entities which the Company does not control through its voting interest and entities which are variable interest entities (“VIEs”), but where it is not
the primary beneficiary, are accounted for under the equity method. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
 
The Company follows the FASB guidance for determining whether an entity is a VIE and requires the performance of a qualitative rather than a quantitative
analysis to determine the primary beneficiary of a VIE. Under this guidance, an entity would be required to consolidate a VIE if it has (i) the power to direct
the activities that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive
benefits from the VIE that could be significant to the VIE. Effective January 1, 2016, the Company adopted the provisions of ASU No 2015-2, and as a result,
concluded that the Operating Partnership is a VIE. The Company has concluded that because they have both the power and the rights to control the Operating
Partnership, they are the primary beneficiary and are required to continue to consolidate the Operating Partnership.
 
A non-controlling interest in a consolidated subsidiary is defined as the portion of the equity (net assets) in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly,
to a parent. Non-controlling interests are required to be presented as a separate component of equity in the consolidated balance sheet and modify the
presentation of net income by requiring earnings and other comprehensive income to be attributed to controlling and non-controlling interests.

Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities, the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the periods covered by the financial statements. The most significant assumptions and estimates relate to the purchase price allocations,
depreciable lives, revenue recognition and the collectability of tenant receivables, other receivables, notes receivables, the valuation of performance-based
restricted stock, stock options, and derivatives. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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Federal Income Taxes
 
Commencing with ROIC’s taxable year ended December 31, 2010, ROIC elected to qualify as a REIT under Sections 856-860 of the Internal Revenue Code
(the “Code”). Under those sections, a REIT that, among other things, distributes at least 90% of its REIT taxable income (determined without regard to the
dividends paid deduction and by excluding net capital gains) and meets certain other qualifications prescribed by the Code will not be taxed on that portion of
its taxable income that is distributed.
 
Although ROIC may qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, it is subject to state income or franchise taxes in certain states in which some of
its properties are located.  In addition, taxable income from non-REIT activities managed through the Company’s taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”), if any, is
fully subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. For all periods from inception through September 26, 2013 the Operating Partnership has been an
entity disregarded from its sole owner, ROIC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes and as such has not been subject to federal income taxes. Effective
September 27, 2013, the Operating Partnership issued OP Units in connection with the acquisitions of two shopping centers. Accordingly, the Operating
Partnership ceased being a disregarded entity and instead is being treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.     

The Company follows the FASB guidance that defines a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The FASB also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. The Company records interest and penalties relating to unrecognized tax benefits, if any, as
interest expense. As of September 30, 2016, the statute of limitations for the tax years 2013 through and including 2015 remain open for examination by the
Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and state taxing authorities.
 
ROIC intends to make regular quarterly distributions to holders of its common stock.  U.S. federal income tax law generally requires that a REIT distribute
annually at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains, and that it pay U.S.
federal income tax at regular corporate rates to the extent that it annually distributes less than 100% of its net taxable income.  ROIC intends to pay regular
quarterly dividends to stockholders in an amount not less than its net taxable income, if and to the extent authorized by its board of directors.  Before ROIC
pays any dividend, whether for U.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwise, it must first meet both its operating requirements and its debt service on
debt.  If ROIC’s cash available for distribution is less than its net taxable income, it could be required to sell assets or borrow funds to make cash distributions
or it may make a portion of the required distribution in the form of a taxable stock distribution or distribution of debt securities.
 
Real Estate Investments
 
All costs related to the improvement or replacement of real estate properties are capitalized. Additions, renovations and improvements that enhance and/or
extend the useful life of a property are also capitalized. Expenditures for ordinary maintenance, repairs and improvements that do not materially prolong the
normal useful life of an asset are charged to operations as incurred. The Company expenses transaction costs associated with business combinations in the
period incurred. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, capitalized costs related to the improvement or replacement of real estate
properties were approximately $31.2 million and $18.8 million, respectively.
 
Upon the acquisition of real estate properties, the fair value of the real estate purchased is allocated to the acquired tangible assets (consisting of land,
buildings and improvements), and acquired intangible assets and liabilities (consisting of above-market and below-market leases and acquired in-place
leases). Acquired lease intangible assets include above-market leases and acquired in-place leases, and acquired lease intangible liabilities represent below-
market leases, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property is determined by valuing the
property as if it were vacant, which value is then allocated to land, buildings and improvements based on management’s determination of the relative fair
values of these assets. In valuing an acquired property’s intangibles, factors considered by management include an estimate of carrying costs during the
expected lease-up periods, and estimates of lost rental revenue during the expected lease-up periods based on management’s evaluation of current market
demand. Management also estimates costs to execute similar leases, including leasing commissions, tenant improvements, legal and other related costs.
Leasing commissions, legal and other related costs (“lease origination costs”) are classified as deferred charges in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets.

The value of in-place leases is measured by the excess of (i) the purchase price paid for a property after adjusting existing in-place leases to market rental
rates, over (ii) the estimated fair value of the property as if vacant. Above-market and below-market lease values are recorded based on the present value
(using a discount rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between the contractual amounts to be received and
management’s estimate of market lease rates, measured over the terms of the respective leases that management deemed appropriate at the time of acquisition.
Such valuations include a
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consideration of the non-cancellable terms of the respective leases as well as any applicable renewal periods. The fair values associated with below-market
rental renewal options are determined based on the Company’s experience and the relevant facts and circumstances that existed at the time of the acquisitions.
The value of the above-market and below-market leases is amortized to rental income, over the terms of the respective leases including option periods, if
applicable. The value of in-place leases are amortized to expense over the remaining non-cancellable terms of the respective leases. If a lease were to be
terminated prior to its stated expiration, all unamortized amounts relating to that lease would be recognized in operations at that time. The Company may
record a bargain purchase gain if it determines that the purchase price for the acquired assets was less than the fair value. The Company will record a liability
in situations where any part of the cash consideration is deferred. The amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value. The liability is
subsequently re-measured to fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. If, up to one year from the
acquisition date, information regarding fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is received and estimates are refined, appropriate property
adjustments are made to the purchase price allocation in the period in which the amounts are adjusted.
 
In conjunction with the Company’s pursuit and acquisition of real estate investments, the Company expensed acquisition transaction costs during the three
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 of approximately $179,000 and $91,000, respectively, and approximately $613,000 and $507,000 during the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
 
Asset Impairment
 
The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to aggregate future net cash flows
(undiscounted and without interest) expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured
by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceed the fair value. Management does not believe that the value of any of the Company’s real
estate investments was impaired at September 30, 2016.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents are maintained at financial institutions and, at times, balances may exceed the federally insured limit by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation. The Company has not experienced any losses related to these balances.
 
Restricted Cash
 
The terms of several of the Company’s mortgage loans payable require the Company to deposit certain replacement and other reserves with its lenders. Such
“restricted cash” is generally available only for property-level requirements for which the reserves have been established and is not available to fund other
property-level or Company-level obligations.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
Management has determined that all of the Company’s leases with its various tenants are operating leases. Rental income is generally recognized based on the
terms of leases entered into with tenants. In those instances in which the Company funds tenant improvements and the improvements are deemed to be owned
by the Company, revenue recognition will commence when the improvements are substantially completed and possession or control of the space is turned
over to the tenant. When the Company determines that the tenant allowances are lease incentives, the Company commences revenue recognition when
possession or control of the space is turned over to the tenant for tenant work to begin. Minimum rental income from leases with scheduled rent increases is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Percentage rent is recognized when a specific tenant’s sales breakpoint is achieved. Property operating
expense recoveries from tenants of common area maintenance, real estate taxes and other recoverable costs are recognized in the period the related expenses
are incurred.
 
Termination fees (included in other income) are fees that the Company has agreed to accept in consideration for permitting certain tenants to terminate their
lease prior to the contractual expiration date. The Company recognizes termination fees in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff
Accounting Bulletin 104, “Revenue Recognition,” when the following conditions are met: (a) the termination agreement is executed; (b) the termination fee is
determinable; (c) all landlord services pursuant to the terminated lease have been rendered; and (d) collectability of the termination fee is assured. Interest
income is recognized as it is earned. Gains or losses on disposition of properties are recorded when the criteria for recognizing such gains or losses under
GAAP have been met.
 

- 12 -



The Company must make estimates as to the collectability of its accounts receivable related to base rent, straight-line rent, expense reimbursements and other
revenues. Management analyzes accounts receivable by considering tenant creditworthiness, current economic trends, and changes in tenants’ payment
patterns when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable. The Company also provides an allowance for future credit losses of
the deferred straight-line rents receivable. The provision for doubtful accounts at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 was approximately $5.1 million
and $4.5 million, respectively.
 
Depreciation and Amortization
 
The Company uses the straight-line method for depreciation and amortization. Buildings are depreciated over the estimated useful lives which the Company
estimates to be 39-40 years. Property improvements are depreciated over the estimated useful lives that range from 10 to 20 years. Furniture and fixtures are
depreciated over the estimated useful lives that range from 3 to 10 years. Tenant improvements are amortized over the shorter of the life of the related leases
or their useful life.
 
Deferred Leasing and Financing Costs
 
Costs incurred in obtaining tenant leases (principally leasing commissions and acquired lease origination costs) are amortized ratably over the life of the
tenant leases. Costs incurred in obtaining long-term financing are amortized ratably over the related debt agreement. The amortization of deferred leasing and
financing costs is included in Depreciation and amortization and Interest expense and other finance expenses, respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
 
Internal Capitalized Leasing Costs
 
The Company capitalizes a portion of payroll-related costs related to its leasing personnel associated with new leases and lease renewals. These costs are
amortized over the life of the respective leases. During the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company capitalized approximately
$313,000 and $279,000, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company capitalized approximately $931,000 and
$804,000, respectively.
 
Concentration of Credit Risk
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and tenant
receivables. The Company places its cash and cash equivalents in excess of insured amounts with high quality financial institutions. The Company performs
ongoing credit evaluations of its tenants and requires tenants to provide security deposits.
 
Earnings Per Share
 
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) excludes the impact of dilutive shares and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue shares of common
stock were exercised or converted into shares of common stock and then shared in the earnings of the Company.
 

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, basic EPS was determined by dividing net income allocable to common stockholders for
the applicable period by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during such period. Net income during the applicable period is
also allocated to the time-based unvested restricted stock as these grants are entitled to receive dividends and are therefore considered a participating security.
 Time-based unvested restricted stock is not allocated net losses and/or any excess of dividends declared over net income; such amounts are allocated entirely
to the common stockholders other than the holders of time-based unvested restricted stock. The performance-based restricted stock awards outstanding under
the 2009 Plan described in Note 7 are excluded from the basic EPS calculation, as these units are not participating securities until they vest.
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation between basic and diluted EPS for ROIC (in thousands, except share data):

 Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Numerator:        
Net income $ 8,215  $ 7,837  $ 25,778  $ 17,624
Less income attributable to non-controlling interests (813)  (295)  (2,645)  (681)
Less earnings allocated to unvested shares (67)  (58)  (204)  (173)

Net income available for common stockholders, basic $ 7,335  $ 7,484  $ 22,929  $ 16,770

Numerator:        
Net income $ 8,215  $ 7,837  $ 25,778  $ 17,624
Less earnings allocated to unvested shares (67)  (58)  (204)  (173)

Net income available for common stockholders, diluted $ 8,148  $ 7,779  $ 25,574  $ 17,451

Denominator:        
Denominator for basic EPS – weighted average common equivalent
shares 107,745,991  96,722,628  102,460,495  94,479,375
OP units 12,015,200  3,771,314  11,767,965  3,825,710
Restricted stock awards - performance-based 166,949  163,167  147,751  153,191
Stock options 145,609  98,354  132,936  102,705
Denominator for diluted EPS – weighted average common equivalent
shares 120,073,749  100,755,463  114,509,147  98,560,981
 
Earnings Per Unit
 
The following table sets forth the reconciliation between basic and diluted earnings per unit for the Operating Partnership (in thousands, except unit data):

 Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Numerator:        
Net income $ 8,215  $ 7,837  $ 25,778  $ 17,624
Less earnings allocated to unvested shares (67)  (58)  (204)  (173)

Net income available to unitholders, basic and diluted $ 8,148  $ 7,779  $ 25,574  $ 17,451

Denominator:        
Denominator for basic earnings per unit – weighted average common
equivalent units 119,761,191  100,493,942  114,228,460  98,305,085
Restricted stock awards – performance-based 166,949  163,167  147,751  153,191
Stock options 145,609  98,354  132,936  102,705
Denominator for diluted earnings per unit – weighted average common
equivalent units 120,073,749  100,755,463  114,509,147  98,560,981
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 
The Company has a stock-based employee compensation plan, which is more fully described in Note 7.
 
The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation plans based on the FASB guidance which requires that compensation expense be recognized based
on the fair value of the stock awards less estimated forfeitures.  Restricted stock grants vest based upon the completion of a service period (“time-based
grants”) and/or the Company meeting certain established market-specific financial performance criteria (“performance-based grants”).  Time-based grants are
valued according to the market price for the Company’s common stock at the date of grant.  For performance-based grants, a Monte Carlo valuation model is
used, taking into account the underlying contingency risks associated with the performance criteria.  It is the Company’s policy to grant options with an
exercise price equal to the quoted closing market price of stock on the grant date.  Awards of stock options and time-based grants of stock are expensed as
compensation on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.  Depending on the terms of the agreement, certain awards of performance-based grants are
expensed as compensation under the accelerated attribution method
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while certain are expensed as compensation on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. All awards of performance-based grants are recognized in income
regardless of the results of the performance criteria.
 
Non-Controlling Interests – Redeemable OP Units / Redeemable Limited Partners
 
OP Units are classified as either mezzanine equity or permanent equity. If ROIC could be required to deliver cash in exchange for the OP Units upon
redemption, such OP Units are referred to as Redeemable OP Units and presented in the mezzanine section of the balance sheet. If ROIC could, in its sole
discretion, deliver cash or shares of ROIC common stock in exchange for the OP Units upon redemption, such OP Units are classified as permanent equity
and presented in the equity section of the balance sheet. As of September 30, 2016, all outstanding OP Units are classified as permanent equity. See Note 8 for
further discussion.
 
Derivatives
 
The Company records all derivatives on the balance sheets at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the intended
use of the derivative, whether the Company has elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge accounting and whether the
hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to
changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges.
Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are
considered cash flow hedges. Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on the hedging instrument with
the recognition of the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk in a fair value hedge or the earnings
effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge. When the Company terminates a derivative for which cash flow hedging was being applied,
the balance which was recorded in Other Comprehensive Income is amortized to interest expense over the remaining contractual term of the swap. The
Company includes cash payments made to terminate interest rate swaps as an operating activity on the statement of cash flows, given the nature of the
underlying cash flows that the derivative was hedging.
 
Segment Reporting
 
The Company’s primary business is the ownership, management, and redevelopment of retail real estate properties. The Company reviews operating and
financial information for each property on an individual basis and therefore, each property represents an individual operating segment. The Company
evaluates financial performance using property operating income, defined as operating revenues (base rent and recoveries from tenants), less property and
related expenses (property operating expenses and property taxes). The Company has aggregated the properties into one reportable segment as the properties
share similar long-term economic characteristics and have other similarities including the fact that they are operated using consistent business strategies, are
typically located in major metropolitan areas, and have similar tenant mixes.
 
Reclassifications

 
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period consolidated financial statements and notes to conform to the current year presentation. See Note
4.

2. Real Estate Investments

The following real estate investment transactions have occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2016.
 
Property Acquisitions
 
On March 10, 2016, the Company acquired a two-property portfolio for an adjusted purchase price of approximately $64.3 million. The first property known
as Magnolia Shopping Center is located in Santa Barbara, California, is approximately 116,000 square feet and is anchored by Kroger (Ralph’s) Supermarket.
The second property, known as Casitas Plaza Shopping Center is located in Carpinteria, California, within Santa Barbara County, is approximately 97,000
square feet and is anchored by Albertson’s Supermarket and CVS Pharmacy. The acquisitions were funded through the issuance of 2,434,833 OP Units with a
fair value of approximately $46.1 million, the assumption of $9.3 million and $7.6 million in mortgage loans on Magnolia Shopping Center and Casitas Plaza
Shopping Center, respectively, and cash on hand.

On April 28, 2016, the Company acquired the property known as Bouquet Center located in Santa Clarita, California, within the Los Angeles metropolitan
area, for a purchase price of approximately $59.0 million. Bouquet Center is approximately 149,000 square feet and is anchored by Safeway (Vons)
Supermarket, CVS Pharmacy and Ross Dress For Less. The property was acquired
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with borrowings under the Company's unsecured revolving credit facility, proceeds from the ATM program and available cash from operations.

On June 1, 2016, the Company acquired the property known as North Ranch Shopping Center located in Westlake Village, California, within the Los Angeles
metropolitan area, for a purchase price of approximately $122.8 million. North Ranch Shopping Center is approximately 147,000, square feet and is anchored
by Kroger (Ralph's) Supermarket, Trader Joe's, Rite Aid Pharmacy, and Petco. The property was acquired with borrowings under the Company's unsecured
revolving credit facility, proceeds from the ATM program and available cash from operations.

On July 14, 2016, the Company acquired the property known as Monterey Center, located in downtown Monterey, California, for a purchase price of
approximately $12.1 million. Monterey Center is approximately 26,000 square feet and is anchored by Trader Joe's and Pharmaca Pharmacy. The property
was acquired with cash on hand.

On September 15, 2016, the Company acquired the property known as Rose City Center located in Portland, Oregon, for a purchase price of approximately
$12.8 million. Rose City Center is approximately 61,000 square feet and is anchored by Safeway Supermarket. The property was acquired with borrowings
under the Company's unsecured revolving credit facility and cash on hand.

Any reference to the number of properties and square footage are unaudited and outside the scope of the Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm’s review of its financial statements in accordance with the standards of the United States Public Company Accounting Oversight Board.
 
The financial information set forth below summarizes the Company’s purchase price allocation for the properties acquired during the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 (in thousands).

 September 30, 2016

ASSETS  
Land $ 67,590
Building and improvements 210,858
Acquired lease intangible assets 14,887
Deferred charges 5,035

Assets acquired $ 298,370

LIABILITIES  
Mortgage notes assumed $ 17,618
Acquired lease intangible liabilities 26,631

Liabilities assumed $ 44,249
 

The allocations for Magnolia Shopping Center, Casitas Plaza Shopping Center, Bouquet Center and North Ranch Shopping Center are final. The allocations
for Monterey Center and Rose City Center are preliminary and will be adjusted as final information becomes available.
 
Pro Forma Financial Information
 
The pro forma financial information set forth below is based upon the Company’s historical consolidated statements of operations for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, adjusted to give effect to the acquisition of properties described above as if such transactions had been
completed at the beginning of 2015. The pro forma financial information set forth below is presented for informational purposes only and may not be
indicative of what actual results of operations would have been had the transactions occurred at the beginning of 2015, nor does it purport to represent the
results of future operations (in thousands). 
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 Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Statement of operations:        
Revenues $ 45,634  $ 46,834  $ 142,220  $ 143,235
Net income attributable to Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. $ 7,436  $ 7,950  $ 23,360  $ 19,423

The following table summarizes the operating results included in the Company’s historical consolidated statement of operations for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2016, for the properties acquired during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 (in thousands).

 
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2016  

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2016

Statement of operations:    
Revenues $ 4,923  $ 8,180
Net income attributable to Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. $ 626  $ 948

3. Tenant Leases

Space in the Company’s shopping centers is leased to various tenants under operating leases that usually grant tenants renewal options and generally provide
for additional rents based on certain operating expenses as well as tenants’ sales volume.
 
Future minimum rents to be received under non-cancellable leases as of September 30, 2016 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

 Minimum Rents

Remaining 2016 $ 41,379
2017 157,584
2018 137,103
2019 115,455
2020 96,696

Thereafter 422,250

Total minimum lease payments $ 970,467

4. Mortgage Notes Payable, Credit Facilities and Senior Notes

ROIC does not hold any indebtedness. All debt is held directly or indirectly by the Operating Partnership; however, ROIC has guaranteed the Operating
Partnership’s term loan, unsecured revolving credit facility, carve-out guarantees on property-level debt, the Senior Notes Due 2026, the Senior Notes Due
2024 and the Senior Notes Due 2023.
 
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-3, which requires reporting entities to present debt issuance costs related to a note as a direct deduction from
the face amount of that note presented in the balance sheet. Effective January 1, 2016, the Company adopted the provisions of ASU 2015-3 and
retrospectively applied the guidance to its debt obligations for all periods presented. The unamortized deferred financing costs were previously included in
deferred charges, net on the Company’s consolidated Balance Sheets.
 
Mortgage Notes Payable
 
On March 10, 2016, in connection with the acquisitions of Magnolia Shopping Center and Casitas Plaza Shopping Center, the Company assumed two existing
mortgage loans with outstanding principal balances of approximately $9.3 million and $7.6 million, respectively. On April 1, 2016, the Company repaid in
full the Gateway Village III mortgage note related to Gateway Shopping Center for a total of approximately $7.1 million, without penalty, in accordance with
the prepayment provisions of the note.
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The mortgage notes payable collateralized by respective properties and assignment of leases at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively,
were as follows (in thousands):

Property Maturity Date  Interest Rate  September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015

Gateway Village III July 2016  6.10%  $ —  $ 7,166
Bernardo Heights Plaza July 2017  5.70%  8,265  8,404
Santa Teresa Village February 2018  6.20%  10,442  10,613
Magnolia Shopping Center October 2018  5.50%  9,179  —
Casitas Plaza Shopping Center June 2022  5.32%  7,483  —
Diamond Hills Plaza October 2025  3.55%  35,500  35,500
     $ 70,869  $ 61,683
Mortgage premiums     1,208  922
Net unamortized deferred financing costs     (443)  (449)

Total mortgage notes payable     $ 71,634  $ 62,156
 

Term Loan and Credit Facility
 
The carrying values of the Company’s term loan (the “term loan”) were as follows (in thousands):

 September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015

Term Loan $ 300,000  $ 300,000
Net unamortized deferred financing costs (906)  (1,198)

Term Loan: $ 299,094  $ 298,802
 
On September 29, 2015, the Company entered into a term loan agreement (the “Term Loan Agreement”) with KeyBank National Association, as
Administrative Agent, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Syndication Agent and the other lenders party thereto, under which the lenders agreed to
provide a $300.0 million unsecured term loan facility. The Term Loan Agreement also provides that the Company may from time to time request increased
aggregate commitments of $200.0 million under certain conditions set forth in the Term Loan Agreement, including the consent of the lenders for the
additional commitments. The initial maturity date of the term loan is January 31, 2019, subject to two one-year extension options, which may be exercised
upon satisfaction of certain conditions including the payment of extension fees. Borrowings under the Term Loan Agreement accrue interest on the
outstanding principal amount at a rate equal to an applicable rate based on the credit rating level of the Company, plus, as applicable, (i) a LIBOR rate
determined by reference to the cost of funds for U.S. dollar deposits for the relevant period (the “Eurodollar Rate”), or (ii) a base rate determined by reference
to the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the rate of interest announced by the Administrative Agent as its “prime rate,” and (c) the
Eurodollar Rate plus 1.10%.
 
The carrying values of the Company’s unsecured revolving credit facility were as follows (in thousands):

 September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015

Credit Facility $ 8,000  $ 135,500
Net unamortized deferred financing costs (2,627)  (3,472)

Credit Facility: $ 5,373  $ 132,028
 
The Operating Partnership has an unsecured revolving credit facility (the “credit facility”) with several banks which provides for borrowings of up to $500.0
million. Additionally, the credit facility contains an accordion feature, which allows the Operating Partnership to increase the credit facility amount up to an
aggregate of $1.0 billion, subject to lender consents and other conditions. The maturity date of the credit facility is January 31, 2019, subject to a further one-
year extension option, which may be exercised by the Operating Partnership upon satisfaction of certain conditions including the payment of extension fees.
Borrowings under the credit facility accrue interest on the outstanding principal amount at a rate equal to an applicable rate based on the credit rating level of
the Company, plus, as applicable, (i) the Eurodollar Rate, or (ii) a base rate determined by reference to the highest of (a)
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the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the rate of interest announced by KeyBank, National Association as its “prime rate,” and (c) the Eurodollar Rate plus
1.00%. Additionally, the Operating Partnership is obligated to pay a facility fee at a rate based on the credit rating level of the Company, currently 0.20%, and
a fronting fee at a rate of 0.125% per year with respect to each letter of credit issued under the credit facility. The Company obtained investment grade credit
ratings from Moody’s Investors Service (Baa2) and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (BBB-) during the second quarter of 2013.

Both the term loan and credit facility contain customary representations, financial and other covenants. The Operating Partnership’s ability to borrow under
the term loan and credit facility is subject to its compliance with financial covenants and other restrictions on an ongoing basis. The Operating Partnership
was in compliance with such covenants at September 30, 2016.
 
As of September 30, 2016, $300.0 million and $8.0 million were outstanding under the term loan and credit facility, respectively. The average interest rate on
the term loan during both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was 1.6%. The average interest rate on the credit facility during both the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was 1.5%. The Company had no available borrowings under the term loan at September 30, 2016. The Company
had $492.0 million available to borrow under the credit facility at September 30, 2016.
 
Senior Notes Due 2026

The carrying value of the Company’s Senior Notes Due 2026 is as follows (in thousands):
 

 September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015

Principal amount $ 200,000  $ —
Net unamortized deferred financing costs (268)  —

Senior Notes Due 2026: $ 199,732  $ —

On July 26, 2016, the Operating Partnership entered into a Note Purchase Agreement, as amended, which provided for the issuance of $200.0 million
principal amount of 3.95% Senior Notes Due 2026 (the “Senior Notes Due 2026”) in a private placement effective September 22, 2016. The Senior Notes
Due 2026 pay interest on March 22 and September 22 of each year, commencing on March 22, 2017, and mature on September 22, 2026, unless prepaid
earlier by the Operating Partnership. The Operating Partnership's performance of the obligations under the Note Purchase Agreement, including the payment
of any outstanding indebtedness thereunder, are guaranteed, jointly and severally, by ROIC. The net proceeds were used to reduce borrowings under the
Operating Partnership’s $500.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility. The interest expense recognized on the Senior Notes Due 2026 during the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2016 included approximately $198,000 for the contractual coupon interest.

In connection with the issuance of the Senior Notes Due 2026, the Company incurred approximately $268,000 of deferred financing costs which are being
amortized over the term of the Senior Notes Due 2026.

Senior Notes Due 2024
 
The carrying value of the Company’s Senior Notes Due 2024 is as follows (in thousands):
 

 September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015

Principal amount $ 250,000  $ 250,000
Unamortized debt discount (2,967)  (3,191)
Net unamortized deferred financing costs (1,811)  (1,976)

Senior Notes Due 2024: $ 245,222  $ 244,833
 
On December 3, 2014, the Operating Partnership completed a registered underwritten public offering of $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.000%
Senior Notes due 2024 (the “Senior Notes Due 2024”), fully and unconditionally guaranteed by ROIC. The Senior Notes Due 2024 pay interest semi-annually
on June 15 and December 15, commencing on June 15, 2015, and mature on December 15, 2024, unless redeemed earlier by the Operating Partnership. The
Senior Notes Due 2024 are the Operating Partnership’s senior unsecured obligations that rank equally in right of payment with the Operating Partnership’s
other unsecured indebtedness, and effectively junior to (i) all of the indebtedness and other liabilities, whether secured or unsecured, and any preferred equity
of the Operating Partnership’s subsidiaries, and (ii) all of the Operating Partnership’s indebtedness that is secured
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by its assets, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such indebtedness outstanding. ROIC fully and unconditionally guaranteed the Operating
Partnership’s obligations under the Senior Notes Due 2024 on a senior unsecured basis, including the due and punctual payment of principal of, and premium,
if any, and interest on, the notes, whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration, notice of redemption or otherwise. The guarantee is a senior unsecured
obligation of ROIC and ranks equally in right of payment with all other senior unsecured indebtedness of ROIC. ROIC’s guarantee of the Senior Notes Due
2024 is effectively subordinated in right of payment to all liabilities, whether secured or unsecured, and any preferred equity of its subsidiaries (including the
Operating Partnership and any entity ROIC accounts for under the equity method of accounting). The interest expense recognized on the Senior Notes Due
2024 during the three months ended September 30, 2016 included $2.5 million and approximately $75,000 for the contractual coupon interest and the
accretion of the debt discount, respectively. The interest expense recognized on the Senior Notes Due 2024 during the nine months ended September 30, 2016
included $7.5 million and approximately $224,000 for the contractual coupon interest and the accretion of the debt discount, respectively. The interest
expense recognized on the Senior Notes Due 2024 during the three months ended September 30, 2015 included $2.5 million and approximately $72,000 for
the contractual coupon interest and the accretion of the debt discount, respectively. The interest expense recognized on the Senior Notes Due 2024 during the
nine months ended September 30, 2015 included $7.5 million and approximately $215,000 for the contractual coupon interest and the accretion of the debt
discount, respectively.
 
In connection with the Senior Notes Due 2024 offering, the Company incurred approximately $2.2 million of deferred financing costs which are being
amortized over the term of the Senior Notes Due 2024.
 
Senior Notes Due 2023
 
The carrying value of the Company’s Senior Notes Due 2023 is as follows (in thousands):

 September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015

Principal amount $ 250,000  $ 250,000
Unamortized debt discount (3,212)  (3,482)
Net unamortized deferred financing costs (1,895)  (2,092)

Senior Notes Due 2023: $ 244,893  $ 244,426

On December 9, 2013, the Operating Partnership completed a registered underwritten public offering of $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.000%
Senior Notes due 2023 (the “Senior Notes Due 2023”), fully and unconditionally guaranteed by ROIC. The Senior Notes Due 2023 pay interest semi-annually
on June 15 and December 15, commencing on June 15, 2014, and mature on December 15, 2023, unless redeemed earlier by the Operating Partnership. The
Senior Notes Due 2023 are the Operating Partnership’s senior unsecured obligations that rank equally in right of payment with the Operating Partnership’s
other unsecured indebtedness, and effectively junior to (i) all of the indebtedness and other liabilities, whether secured or unsecured, and any preferred equity
of the Operating Partnership’s subsidiaries, and (ii) all of the Operating Partnership’s indebtedness that is secured by its assets, to the extent of the value of the
collateral securing such indebtedness outstanding. ROIC fully and unconditionally guaranteed the Operating Partnership’s obligations under the Senior Notes
Due 2023 on a senior unsecured basis, including the due and punctual payment of principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on, the notes, whether at
stated maturity, upon acceleration, notice of redemption or otherwise. The guarantee is a senior unsecured obligation of ROIC and will rank equally in right of
payment with all other senior unsecured indebtedness of ROIC. ROIC’s guarantee of the Senior Notes Due 2023 is effectively subordinated in right of
payment to all liabilities, whether secured or unsecured, and any preferred equity of its subsidiaries (including the Operating Partnership and any entity ROIC
accounts for under the equity method of accounting). The interest expense recognized on the Senior Notes Due 2023 during the three months ended
September 30, 2016 included approximately $3.1 million and $91,000 for the contractual coupon interest and the accretion of the debt discount, respectively.
The interest expense recognized on the Senior Notes Due 2023 during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 included approximately $9.4 million and
$270,000 for the contractual coupon interest and the accretion of the debt discount, respectively. The interest expense recognized on the Senior Notes Due
2023 during the three months ended September 30, 2015 included approximately $3.1 million and $87,000 for the contractual coupon interest and the
accretion of the debt discount, respectively. The interest expense recognized on the Senior Notes Due 2023 during the nine months ended September 30, 2015
included approximately $9.4 million and $256,000 for the contractual coupon interest and the accretion of the debt discount, respectively.
 
In connection with the Senior Notes Due 2023 offering, the Company incurred approximately $2.6 million of deferred financing costs which are being
amortized over the term of the Senior Notes Due 2023.

5. Preferred Stock of ROIC
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ROIC is authorized to issue 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock with such designations, voting and other rights and preferences as may be determined from
time to time by the board of directors. As of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were no shares of preferred stock outstanding.

 6. Common Stock of ROIC

Equity Issuance
 
On July 12, 2016, the Company issued 6,555,000 shares of common stock in a registered public offering, including shares issued upon the exercise in full of
the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $133.0 million, after deducting the underwriters’ discounts
and commissions and offering expenses. The net proceeds were used to reduce borrowings under the Operating Partnership’s $500.0 million unsecured
revolving credit facility.

ATM
 
On September 19, 2014, ROIC entered into four separate Sales Agreements (the “Original Sales Agreements”) with each of Jefferies LLC, KeyBanc Capital
Markets Inc., MLV & Co. LLC and Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (each individually, an “Original Agent” and collectively, the “Original Agents”)
pursuant to which ROIC may sell, from time to time, shares of ROIC’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, having an aggregate offering price of up
to $100.0 million through the Original Agents either as agents or principals. On May 23, 2016, ROIC entered into two additional sales agreements (the
“Additional Sales Agreements”, and together with the Original Sales Agreements, the “Sales Agreements”) with each of Canaccord Genuity Inc. and Robert
W. Baird & Co. Incorporated (the “Additional Agents”, and together with the Original Agents, the “Agents”) pursuant to which the Company may sell shares
of ROIC's common stock through the Additional Agents either as agents or principals. In addition, on May 19, 2016, the Company terminated the Original
Sales Agreement with MLV & Co. LLC.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, ROIC sold a total of 2,202,254 shares under the Sales Agreements, which resulted in gross proceeds of
approximately $45.6 million and commissions of approximately $584,000 paid to the Agents. Since the Original Sales Agreements were entered into through
September 30, 2016, ROIC has sold a total of 2,746,821 shares under the Sales Agreements, which resulted in gross proceeds of approximately $55.5 million
and commissions of approximately $733,000 paid to the Agents.
 
Stock Repurchase Program
 
On July 31, 2013, the Company’s board of directors authorized a stock repurchase program to repurchase up to a maximum of $50.0 million of the
Company’s common stock. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock under this
program.

7. Stock Compensation for ROIC

ROIC follows the FASB guidance related to stock compensation which establishes financial accounting and reporting standards for stock-based employee
compensation plans, including all arrangements by which employees receive shares of stock or other equity instruments of the employer, or the employer
incurs liabilities to employees in amounts based on the price of the employer’s stock. The guidance also defines a fair value-based method of accounting for
an employee stock option or similar equity instrument.
 
In 2009, ROIC adopted the 2009 Plan. The 2009 Plan provides for grants of restricted common stock and stock option awards up to an aggregate of 7.5% of
the issued and outstanding shares of ROIC’s common stock at the time of the award, subject to a ceiling of 4,000,000 shares.
 
Restricted Stock
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, ROIC awarded 350,614 shares of restricted common stock under the 2009 Plan, of which 121,150 shares
are performance-based grants and the remainder of the shares are time-based grants. The performance-based grants vest based on pre-defined market-specific
performance criteria with a vesting date on January 1, 2019.
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A summary of the status of ROIC’s non-vested restricted stock awards as of September 30, 2016, and changes during the nine months ended September 30,
2016 are presented below:

 Shares  
Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Value

Non-vested at December 31, 2015 627,471  $ 14.39
Granted 350,614  $ 15.96
Vested (306,545)  $ 14.01
Canceled (7,332)  $ 17.62

Non-vested at September 30, 2016 664,208  $ 15.36
 
For the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the amounts charged to expenses for all stock-based compensation arrangements totaled
approximately $1.1 million and $1.3 million, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the amounts charged to expenses for all
stock-based compensation arrangements totaled approximately $3.6 million and $3.5 million, respectively.

8. Capital of the Operating Partnership

As of September 30, 2016, the Operating Partnership had 120,966,073 OP Units outstanding. ROIC owned an approximate 90.2% partnership interest in the
Operating Partnership at September 30, 2016, or 109,156,012 OP Units. The remaining 11,810,061 OP Units are owned by other limited partners. A share of
ROIC’s common stock and an OP unit have essentially the same economic characteristics as they share equally in the total net income or loss and
distributions of the Operating Partnership.
 
As of September 30, 2016, subject to certain exceptions, holders are able to redeem their OP Units, at the option of ROIC, for cash or for unregistered shares
of ROIC common stock on a one-for-one basis. If cash is paid in the redemption, the redemption price is equal to the average closing price on the NASDAQ
Stock Market for shares of ROIC’s common stock over the ten consecutive trading days immediately preceding the date a redemption notice is received by
ROIC.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, in connection with the acquisition of Bellevue Marketplace, the property formerly known as Sternco Shopping
Center, the Operating Partnership issued 1,946,483 OP Units whereby the Operating Partnership was required to deliver cash in exchange for the OP Units
upon redemption if such OP Units were redeemed on or before January 31, 2016 (“Redeemable OP Units”). These Redeemable OP Units were previously
classified as mezzanine equity as of December 31, 2015 because, as of such date, ROIC could be required to deliver cash upon the redemption of such OP
Units. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company received notices of redemption for 1,828,825 Redeemable OP Units. The Company
redeemed the OP Units in cash at a price of $17.30, in accordance with the Third Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership, as amended, of the Operating Partnership, and accordingly, a total of approximately $31.6 million was paid to the holders of the respective
Redeemable OP Units. The remaining 117,658 Redeemable OP Units are treated as permanent equity as ROIC now has the option, in its sole discretion, to
settle the redemption of the OP Units in cash or unregistered shares of ROIC common stock.
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, ROIC received notices of redemption for a total of 991,550 OP Units (excluding Redeemable OP Units,
described above). ROIC elected to redeem 613,762 OP Units for shares of ROIC common stock on a one-for-one basis, and accordingly, 613,762 shares of
ROIC common stock were issued. ROIC elected to redeem the remaining 377,788 OP Units in cash.
 
The redemption value of outstanding OP Units owned by the limited partners as of September 30, 2016, not including ROIC, had such units been redeemed
at September 30, 2016, was approximately $260.8 million, calculated based on the average closing price on the NASDAQ Stock Market of ROIC common
stock for the ten consecutive trading days immediately preceding September 30, 2016, which amounted to $22.08 per share.
 
Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC, ROIC’s wholly-owned subsidiary, is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership, and as the parent
company, ROIC has the full and complete authority over the Operating Partnership’s day-to-day management and control. As the sole general partner of the
Operating Partnership, ROIC effectively controls the ability to issue common stock of ROIC upon redemption of any OP Units. The redemption provisions
that permit ROIC to settle the redemption of OP Units in either cash or common stock, in the sole discretion of ROIC, are further evaluated in accordance
with applicable accounting guidance to determine whether temporary or permanent equity classification on the balance sheet is appropriate. The Company
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evaluated this guidance, including the ability, in its sole discretion, to settle in unregistered shares of common stock, and determined that the OP Units meet
the requirements to qualify for presentation as permanent equity.

9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company follows the FASB guidance that defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. The guidance applies to reported balances that are required or permitted to be measured at fair value under existing accounting
pronouncements; accordingly, the standard does not require any new fair value measurements of reported balances.
 
The guidance emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific measurement. Therefore, a fair value measurement should be
determined based on the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. As a basis for considering market participant
assumptions in fair value measurements, the guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy that distinguishes between market participant assumptions based on
market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity (observable inputs that are classified within Levels 1 and 2 of the hierarchy) and the
reporting entity’s own assumptions about market participant assumptions (unobservable inputs classified within Level 3 of the hierarchy).
 
Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access. Level 2 inputs
are inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs may include
quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, as well as inputs that are observable for the asset or liability (other than quoted prices), such
as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability, which are typically based on an entity’s own assumptions, as there is little, if any, related market activity. In instances where the
determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy within
which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company’s
assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the asset
or liability.
 
The following disclosures of estimated fair value were determined by management, using available market information and appropriate valuation
methodologies as discussed in Note 1. Considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data and develop estimated fair value. Accordingly, the
estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts realizable upon disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market
assumptions or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.
 
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, tenant and other receivables, deposits, prepaid expenses, other assets, accounts payable and
accrued expenses are reasonable estimates of their fair values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. The carrying values of the term loan and
credit facility are deemed to be at fair value since the outstanding debt is directly tied to monthly LIBOR contracts. The fair value of the outstanding Senior
Notes Due 2026 approximates carrying value at September 30, 2016. The fair value, based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but corroborated by
market data, or Level 2, of the outstanding Senior Notes Due 2024 at September 30, 2016 was approximately $252.8 million. The fair value, based on inputs
not quoted on active markets, but corroborated by market data, or Level 2, of the outstanding Senior Notes Due 2023 at September 30, 2016 was
approximately $272.5 million. Assumed mortgage notes payable were recorded at their fair value at the time they were assumed and were estimated to have a
fair value of approximately $36.7 million with an interest rate range of 3.3% to 3.9% and a weighted average interest rate of 3.5% as of September 30, 2016.
Mortgage notes payable originated by the Company were estimated to have a fair value of approximately $34.6 million with an interest rate of 3.9% as of
September 30, 2016. These fair value measurements fall within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
 
Derivative and Hedging Activities
 
The Company’s objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure to interest rate movements.  To
accomplish this objective, the Company primarily uses interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate risk management strategy.  Interest rate swaps designated
as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the Company making fixed-rate payments over the life
of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount.

The following is a summary of the terms of the Company’s interest rate swaps as of September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

- 23 -



Swap Counterparty Notional Amount  Effective Date  Maturity Date

Bank of Montreal $ 50,000  1/29/2016  1/31/2019
Regions Bank $ 50,000  2/29/2016  1/31/2019
 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income (“AOCI”) and will be subsequently reclassified into earnings during the period in which the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.
 
The valuation of these instruments is determined using widely accepted valuation techniques including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash
flows of the derivative.  This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the derivative, including the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based
inputs, including interest rate curves, and implied volatilities.  The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined using the market standard methodology of
netting the discounted future fixed cash receipts (or payments) and the discounted expected variable cash payments (or receipts).  The variable cash payments
(or receipts) are based on an expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived from observable market interest rate curves.

 
The Company incorporated credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own non-performance risk and the respective counterparty’s non-
performance risk in the fair value measurements.  In adjusting the fair value of its derivative contract for the effect of non-performance risk, the Company
considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts, and guarantees.

 
Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit
valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by
the Company and its counterparties.  However, as of September 30, 2016, the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation
adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative position and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall
valuation of its derivatives.  As a result, the Company has determined that its derivative valuation in its entirety is classified in Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.
 
The table below presents the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy
within which those measurements fall (in thousands).
 

 

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical
Assets and Liabilities

(Level 1)  
Significant Other

Observable Inputs
(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)  Total

September 30, 2016:        
Liabilities        
Derivative financial instruments $ —  $ (145)  $ —  $ (145)
 
Amounts paid, or received, to cash settle interest rate derivatives prior to their maturity date are recorded in AOCI at the cash settlement amount, and will be
reclassified to interest expense as interest expense is recognized on the hedged debt. During the next twelve months, the Company estimates that $2.3 million
will be reclassified as a non-cash increase to interest expense.
 
The table below presents the fair value of the Company’s derivative financial instruments as well as their classification on the balance sheet as of
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively (in thousands):

Derivatives designed as hedging instruments  Balance sheet location  
September 30, 2016

Fair Value  
December 31, 2015

Fair Value

Interest rate products  Other liabilities  $ (145)  $ —

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships
 
The table below details the location in the financial statements of the gain or loss recognized on interest rate derivatives designated as cash flow hedges for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively (in thousands).
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 Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Amount of gain (loss) recognized in OCI on derivative $ 416  $ —  $ (402)  $ —
Amount of loss reclassified from accumulated OCI into interest $ 628  $ 535  $ 1,861  $ 1,604

10. Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, from time to time, the Company is involved in legal actions relating to the ownership and operations of its properties. In
management’s opinion, the liabilities, if any, that ultimately may result from such legal actions are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the
consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity of the Company.
 
The following table represents the Company’s future minimum annual lease payments under operating leases as of September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 
Operating

Leases

Remaining 2016 $ 300
2017 1,222
2018 1,260
2019 1,265
2020 1,273
Thereafter 37,934

Total minimum lease payments $ 43,254
 
Tax Protection Agreements
 
In connection with the acquisition of the remaining 51% of the partnership interests in the Terranomics Crossroads Associates, LP and the acquisition of
100% of the equity interest in SARM Five Points Plaza LLC in September 2013, the Company entered into Tax Protection Agreements with certain limited
partners of the Operating Partnership. The Tax Protection Agreements require the Company, subject to certain exceptions, for a period of 12 years from
closing, to indemnify the respective sellers receiving OP Units against certain tax liabilities incurred by them, as calculated pursuant to the respective Tax
Protection Agreements. If the Company were to trigger the tax protection provisions under these agreements, the Company would be required to pay damages
in the amount of the taxes owed by these limited partners (plus additional damages in the amount of the taxes incurred as a result of such payment).
 
In connection with the acquisition of Wilsonville Town Center in December 2014, Iron Horse Plaza, Bellevue Marketplace and Warner Plaza in December
2015, and Magnolia Shopping Center and Casitas Plaza Shopping Center in March 2016 (more fully discussed in Footnote 2), the Company entered into Tax
Protection Agreements with certain limited partners of the Operating Partnership. The Tax Protection Agreements require the Company, subject to certain
exceptions, for a period of 10 years from closing, to indemnify the respective sellers receiving OP Units against certain tax liabilities incurred by them, as
calculated pursuant to the respective Tax Protection Agreements. If the Company were to trigger the tax protection provisions under these agreements, the
Company would be required to pay damages in the amount of the taxes owed by these limited partners (plus additional damages in the amount of the taxes
incurred as a result of such payment).

11. Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered into several lease agreements with an officer of the Company, whereby pursuant to the lease agreements, the Company is provided
the use of storage space. For both the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company incurred approximately $11,000 of expenses relating to
the agreements. For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company incurred approximately $33,000 and $32,000, respectively, of
expenses relating to the agreements. These expenses were included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.

12. Subsequent Events
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On October 3, 2016, the Company acquired the property known as Trader Joe's at the Knolls, located in Long Beach, California, within the Los Angeles
metropolitan area, for a purchase price of approximately $29.2 million. Trader Joe's at the Knolls is approximately 52,000 square feet and is anchored by
Trader Joe's . The property was acquired with borrowings under the Company's unsecured revolving credit facility.

On October 17, 2016, the Company acquired the property known as Bridle Trails Shopping Center, located in Kirkland, Washington, within the Seattle
metropolitan area, for a purchase price of approximately $32.8 million. Bridle Trails Shopping Center is approximately 106,000 square feet and is anchored
by Red Apple (Unified) Supermarket and Bartell Drugs. The property was acquired with borrowings under the Company's unsecured revolving credit facility.

During the month ended October 31, 2016, the Company received notices of redemption for a total of 142,000 OP Units. ROIC elected to redeem the OP
Units for shares of ROIC common stock on a one-for-one basis, and accordingly, 142,000 shares of ROIC common stock were issued.

On October 25, 2016, ROIC’s board of directors declared a cash dividend on its common stock and a distribution on the Operating Partnership’s OP Units of
$0.18 per share and per OP Unit, payable on December 29, 2016 to holders of record on December 15, 2016.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
When used in this discussion and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the words “believes,” “anticipates,” “projects,” “should,” “estimates,”
“expects,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements within the meaning of that term in Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and in Section 21F of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Actual results
may differ materially due to uncertainties including:
 

• our ability to identify and acquire retail real estate that meet our investment standards in our markets;

• the level of rental revenue we achieve from our assets;

• the market value of our assets and the supply of, and demand for, retail real estate in which we invest;

• the state of the U.S. economy generally, or in specific geographic regions;

• the impact of economic conditions on our business;

• the conditions in the local markets in which we operate and our concentration in those markets, as well as changes in national economic and market

conditions;

• consumer spending and confidence trends;

• our ability to enter into new leases or to renew leases with existing tenants at the properties we own or acquire at favorable rates;

• our ability to anticipate changes in consumer buying practices and the space needs of tenants;

• the competitive landscape impacting the properties we own or acquire and their tenants;

• our relationships with our tenants and their financial condition and liquidity;

• our ability to continue to qualify as a real estate investment trust for U.S. federal income tax (a “REIT”);

• our use of debt as part of our financing strategy and our ability to make payments or to comply with any covenants under our senior unsecured notes,

our unsecured credit facilities or other debt facilities we currently have or subsequently obtain;
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• the level of our operating expenses, including amounts we are required to pay to our management team;

• changes in interest rates that could impact the market price of our common stock and the cost of our borrowings; and

• legislative and regulatory changes (including changes to laws governing the taxation of REITs).

Forward-looking statements are based on estimates as of the date of this report. We disclaim any obligation to publicly release the results of any revisions to
these forward-looking statements reflecting new estimates, events or circumstances after the date of this report.
 
We caution that the foregoing list of factors is not all-inclusive. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements concerning us or any person
acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements above. We caution not to place undue reliance upon any forward-
looking statements, which speak only as of the date made. We do not undertake or accept any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or
revisions to any forward-looking statement to reflect any change in our expectations or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such
statement is based. Other sections of this report may include additional factors that could adversely affect our business and financial performance.  Moreover,
we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment.  New risk factors emerge from time to time and it is not possible for management to
predict all such risk factors, nor can it assess the impact of all such risk factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors,
may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.  Given these risks and uncertainties, investors should
not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results.

Overview
 
Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. (“ROIC”) is organized in an UpREIT format pursuant to which Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC, its wholly-
owned subsidiary, serves as the general partner of, and ROIC conducts substantially all of its business through, its operating partnership, Retail Opportunity
Investments Partnership, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Operating Partnership”), together with its subsidiaries. ROIC reincorporated as a Maryland
corporation on June 2, 2011. ROIC has elected to be taxed as a REIT, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, commencing with the year ended December 31,
2010.
 
ROIC commenced operations in October 2009 as a fully integrated and self-managed REIT, and as of September 30, 2016, ROIC owned an approximate
90.2% partnership interest and other limited partners owned the remaining approximate 9.8% partnership interest in the Operating Partnership. ROIC
specializes in the acquisition, ownership and management of necessity-based community and neighborhood shopping centers on the west coast of the United
States, anchored by supermarkets and drugstores.
 
As of September 30, 2016, the Company’s portfolio consisted of 79 retail properties totaling approximately 9.2 million square feet of gross leasable area
(“GLA”). As of September 30, 2016, the Company’s portfolio was approximately 97.0% leased. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the
Company leased or renewed a total of 902,000 square feet in its portfolio. The Company has committed approximately $21.5 million, or $62.38 per square
foot, in tenant improvements, including building improvements, for new leases that occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The
Company has committed approximately $1.1 million, or $3.29 per square foot, in leasing commissions, for the new leases that occurred during the nine
months ended September 30, 2016. The Company has committed approximately $665,000, or $1.19 per square foot, in tenant improvements, including
building improvements, for the renewed leases that occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Leasing commission commitments for
renewed leases were not material for the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Subsequent Events
 
On October 3, 2016, the Company acquired the property known as Trader Joe's at the Knolls, located in Long Beach, California, within the Los Angeles
metropolitan area, for a purchase price of approximately $29.2 million. Trader Joe's at the Knolls is approximately 52,000 square feet and is anchored by
Trader Joe's . The property was acquired with borrowings under the Company's unsecured revolving credit facility.

On October 17, 2016, the Company acquired the property known as Bridle Trails Shopping Center, located in Kirkland, Washington, within the Seattle
metropolitan area, for a purchase price of approximately $32.8 million. Bridle Trails Shopping Center is approximately 106,000 square feet and is anchored
by Red Apple (Unified) Supermarket and Bartell Drugs. The property was acquired with borrowings under the Company's unsecured revolving credit facility.
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During the month ended October 31, 2016, the Company received notices of redemption for a total of 142,000 OP Units. ROIC elected to redeem the OP
Units for shares of ROIC common stock on a one-for-one basis, and accordingly, 142,000 shares of ROIC common stock were issued.

On October 25, 2016, ROIC’s board of directors declared a cash dividend on its common stock and a distribution on the Operating Partnership’s OP Units of
$0.18 per share and per OP Unit, payable on December 29, 2016 to holders of record on December 15, 2016.

Results of Operations
 
At September 30, 2016, the Company had 79 properties, all of which are consolidated (“consolidated properties”) in the accompanying financial statements.
The Company believes, because of the location of the properties in densely populated areas, the nature of its investments provides for relatively stable
revenue flows even during difficult economic times. The Company has a strong capital structure with manageable debt as of September 30, 2016. The
Company expects to continue to actively explore acquisition opportunities consistent with its business strategy.
 
Property operating income is a non-GAAP financial measure of performance. The Company defines property operating income as operating revenues (base
rent and recoveries from tenants), less property and related expenses (property operating expenses and property taxes). Property operating income excludes
general and administrative expenses, depreciation and amortization, acquisition transaction costs, other expense, interest expense, gains and losses from
property acquisitions and dispositions, extraordinary items, tenant improvements and leasing commissions. Other REITs may use different methodologies for
calculating property operating income, and accordingly, the Company’s property operating income may not be comparable to other REITs.
 
Property operating income is used by management to evaluate and compare the operating performance of the Company’s properties, to determine trends in
earnings and to compute the fair value of the Company’s properties as this measure is not affected by the cost of our funding, the impact of depreciation and
amortization expenses, gains or losses from the acquisition and sale of operating real estate assets, general and administrative expenses or other gains and
losses that relate to our ownership of our properties. The Company believes the exclusion of these items from net income is useful because the resulting
measure captures the actual revenue generated and actual expenses incurred in operating the Company’s properties as well as trends in occupancy rates, rental
rates and operating costs.
 
Property operating income is a measure of the operating performance of the Company’s properties but does not measure the Company’s performance as a
whole. Property operating income is therefore not a substitute for net income or operating income as computed in accordance with GAAP.
 
Results of Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2015.
 
Property Operating Income
 
The table below provides a reconciliation of consolidated operating income, in accordance with GAAP, to consolidated property operating income for the
three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands).
 

 Three Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015

Operating income per GAAP $ 18,216  $ 16,363
Plus: Depreciation and amortization 23,102  18,059
General and administrative expenses 3,220  3,092
Acquisition transaction costs 179  91
Other (income) expense (10)  254

Total portfolio property operating income $ 44,707  $ 37,859
 
The following comparison for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2015, makes reference to the
effect of the same-center properties. Same-center properties, which totaled 65 of the Company’s 79 properties as of September 30, 2016, represent all
operating properties owned by the Company during the entirety of both periods presented and consolidated into the Company’s financial statements during
such periods.
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The table below provides a reconciliation of consolidated operating income, in accordance with GAAP, to property operating income for the three months
ended September 30, 2016 related to the 65 same-center properties owned by the Company during the entirety of both the three months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015 and consolidated into the Company’s financial statements during such periods (in thousands).

 Three Months Ended September 30, 2016

 Same-Center  Non Same-Center  Total

Operating income per GAAP $ 18,089  $ 127  $ 18,216
Plus: Depreciation and amortization 17,482  5,620  23,102
General and administrative expenses (1) —  3,220  3,220
Acquisition transaction costs —  179  179
Other income (1) —  (10)  (10)

Property operating income $ 35,571  $ 9,136  $ 44,707
______________________
(1) For illustration purposes, general and administrative expenses and other income are included in non same-center because the Company does not

allocate these types of expenses and income between same-center and non same-center.

The table below provides a reconciliation of consolidated operating income, in accordance with GAAP, to property operating income for the three months
ended September 30, 2015 related to the 65 same-center properties owned by the Company during the entirety of both the three months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015 and consolidated into the Company’s financial statements during such periods (in thousands).
 

 Three Months Ended September 30, 2015

 Same-Center  Non Same-Center  Total

Operating income (loss) per GAAP $ 19,476  $ (3,113)  $ 16,363
Plus: Depreciation and amortization 17,632  427  18,059
General and administrative expenses (1) —  3,092  3,092
Acquisition transaction costs 51  40  91
Other expenses (1) —  254  254

Property operating income $ 37,159  $ 700  $ 37,859
______________________

(1) For illustration purposes, general and administrative expenses and other expenses are included in non same-center because the Company does not
allocate these types of expenses between same-center and non same-center.

During the three months ended September 30, 2016, the Company generated property operating income of approximately $44.7 million compared to property
operating income of $37.9 million generated during the three months ended September 30, 2015. Property operating income increased by approximately $6.8
million during the three months ended September 30, 2016 primarily as a result of an increase in the number of properties owned by the Company in 2016
compared to 2015.  As of September 30, 2016, the Company owned 79 consolidated properties as compared to 68 properties at September 30, 2015. The
newly acquired properties increased property operating income in the three months ended September 30, 2016 by approximately $8.4 million compared to the
three months ended September 30, 2015. The property operating income for the 65 same-center properties decreased approximately $1.6 million primarily
due to a $1.7 million lease settlement fee received resulting from an anchor termination in the three months ended September 30, 2015, compared to the three
months ended September 30, 2016.
 
Depreciation and amortization
 
The Company incurred depreciation and amortization expenses during the three months ended September 30, 2016 of approximately $23.1 million compared
to $18.1 million incurred during the three months ended September 30, 2015. Depreciation and amortization expenses were higher in 2016 as a result of an
increase in the number of properties owned by the Company in the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three months ended September
30, 2015.
 
General and administrative expenses
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The Company incurred general and administrative expenses of approximately $3.2 million during the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to
$3.1 million during the three months ended September 30, 2015.
 
Acquisition transaction costs
 
The Company incurred property acquisition costs during the three months ended September 30, 2016 of approximately $179,000 compared to $91,000
incurred during the three months ended September 30, 2015.
 
Interest expense and other finance expenses
 
The Company incurred interest expense during the three months ended September 30, 2016 of approximately $10.0 million compared to approximately $8.5
million during the three months ended September 30, 2015. The increase of approximately $1.5 million was primarily due to additional interest incurred
related to additional borrowings on the unsecured revolving credit facility and the term loan that was entered into in September 2015.

Results of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2015.
 
Property Operating Income
 
The table below provides a reconciliation of consolidated operating income, in accordance with GAAP, to consolidated property operating income for nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands).
 

 Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015

Operating income per GAAP $ 55,171  $ 43,031
Plus: Depreciation and amortization 65,856  52,567
General and administrative expenses 10,055  9,387
Acquisition transaction costs 613  507
Other expense 361  507

Total portfolio property operating income $ 132,056  $ 105,999
 
The following comparison for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2015, makes reference to the
effect of the same-center properties. Same-center properties, which totaled 61 of the Company’s 79 properties as of September 30, 2016, represent all
operating properties owned by the Company during the entirety of both periods presented and consolidated into the Company’s financial statements during
such periods.

The table below provides a reconciliation of consolidated operating income, in accordance with GAAP, to property operating income for the nine months
ended September 30, 2016 related to the 61 same-center properties owned by the Company during the entirety of both the nine months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015 and consolidated into the Company’s financial statements during such periods (in thousands).

 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016

 Same-Center  Non Same-Center  Total

Operating income (loss) per GAAP $ 55,623  $ (452)  $ 55,171
Plus: Depreciation and amortization 48,240  17,616  65,856
General and administrative expenses (1) —  10,055  10,055
Acquisition transaction costs 1  612  613
Other expenses (1) —  361  361

Property operating income $ 103,864  $ 28,192  $ 132,056
______________________
(1) For illustration purposes, general and administrative expenses and other expenses are included in non same-center because the Company does not

allocate these types of expenses between same-center and non same-center.
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The table below provides a reconciliation of consolidated operating income, in accordance with GAAP, to property operating income for the nine months
ended September 30, 2015 related to the 61 same-center properties owned by the Company during the entirety of both the nine months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015 and consolidated into the Company’s financial statements during such periods (in thousands).
 

 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015

 Same-Center  Non Same-Center  Total

Operating income (loss) per GAAP $ 51,254  $ (8,223)  $ 43,031
Plus: Depreciation and amortization 48,818  3,749  52,567
General and administrative expenses (1) —  9,387  9,387
Acquisition transaction costs 93  414  507
Other expenses (1) —  507  507

Property operating income $ 100,165  $ 5,834  $ 105,999
______________________

(1) For illustration purposes, general and administrative expenses and other expenses are included in non same-center because the Company does not
allocate these types of expenses between same-center and non same-center.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company generated property operating income of approximately $132.1 million compared to property
operating income of $106.0 million generated during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. Property operating income increased by approximately
$26.1 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 primarily as a result of an increase in the number of properties owned by the Company in
2016 compared to 2015.  As of September 30, 2016, the Company owned 79 consolidated properties as compared to 68 properties at September 30, 2015. The
newly acquired properties increased property operating income in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 by approximately $22.4 million compared to
the nine months ended September 30, 2015. The property operating income for the 61 same-center properties increased approximately $3.7 million primarily
due to an increase in base rents and recoveries for the same-center properties compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2015, offset by a $1.7 million
lease settlement fee received resulting from an anchor termination in the nine months ended September 30, 2015, compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2016.
 
Depreciation and amortization
 
The Company incurred depreciation and amortization expenses during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 of approximately $65.9 million compared
to $52.6 million incurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. Depreciation and amortization expenses were higher in 2016 as a result of an
increase in the number of properties owned by the Company in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the nine months ended September 30,
2015.
 
General and administrative expenses
 
The Company incurred general and administrative expenses of approximately $10.1 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to
$9.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. General and administrative expenses increased approximately $668,000 primarily as a result
of an increase in compensation-related expenses.
 
Acquisition transaction costs
 
The Company incurred property acquisition costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 of approximately $613,000 compared to $507,000
incurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2015.
 
Interest expense and other finance expenses
 
The Company incurred interest expense during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 of approximately $29.4 million compared to approximately $25.4
million during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. The increase of approximately $4.0 million was primarily due to additional interest incurred
related to additional borrowings on the unsecured revolving credit facility and the term loan that was entered into in September 2015.

Funds From Operations
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Funds from operations (“FFO”), is a widely-recognized non-GAAP financial measure for REITs that the Company believes when considered with financial
statements presented in accordance with GAAP, provides additional and useful means to assess its financial performance. FFO is frequently used by securities
analysts, investors and other interested parties to evaluate the performance of REITs, most of which present FFO along with net income as calculated in
accordance with GAAP.
 
The Company computes FFO in accordance with the “White Paper” on FFO published by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts
(“NAREIT”), which defines FFO as net income attributable to common stockholders (determined in accordance with GAAP) excluding gains or losses from
debt restructuring, sales of depreciable property, and impairments, plus real estate related depreciation and amortization, and after adjustments for
partnerships and unconsolidated joint ventures.
 
However, FFO:
 

• does not represent cash flows from operating activities in accordance with GAAP (which, unlike FFO, generally reflects all cash effects of
transactions and other events in the determination of net income); and

• should not be considered an alternative to net income as an indication of our performance.

FFO as defined by the Company may not be comparable to similarly titled items reported by other REITs due to possible differences in the application of the
NAREIT definition used by such REITs.
 
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) guidance relating to business combinations requires, among other things, an acquirer of a business (or
investment property) to expense all acquisition costs related to the acquisition, the amount of which will vary based on each specific acquisition and the
volume of acquisitions. Accordingly, the costs of completed acquisitions will reduce our FFO. Acquisition costs for the three months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015 were approximately $179,000 and $91,000, respectively. Acquisition costs for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 were
approximately $613,000 and $507,000, respectively.
 
The table below provides a reconciliation of net income applicable to stockholders in accordance with GAAP to FFO for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands).
 

 Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine months ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Net income attributable to ROIC $ 7,402  $ 7,542  $ 23,133  $ 16,943
Plus: Depreciation and amortization 23,102  18,059  65,856  52,567
Funds from operations – basic 30,504  25,601  88,989  69,510
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 813  295  2,645  681

Funds from operations – diluted $ 31,317  $ 25,896  $ 91,634  $ 70,191
 

Cash Net Operating Income (“NOI”)
 
Cash NOI is a non-GAAP financial measure of the Company’s performance. The most directly comparable GAAP financial measure is operating income. The
Company defines cash NOI as operating revenues (base rent and recoveries from tenants), less property and related expenses (property operating expenses
and property taxes), adjusted for non-cash revenue and operating expense items such as straight-line rent and amortization of lease intangibles, debt-related
expenses, and other adjustments. Cash NOI also excludes general and administrative expenses, depreciation and amortization, acquisition transaction costs,
other expense, interest expense, gains and losses from property acquisitions and dispositions, extraordinary items, tenant improvements and leasing
commissions. Other REITs may use different methodologies for calculating cash NOI, and accordingly, the Company’s cash NOI may not be comparable to
other REITs.
 
Cash NOI is used by management internally to evaluate and compare the operating performance of the Company’s properties. The Company believes cash
NOI provides useful information to investors regarding the Company’s financial condition and results of operations because it reflects only those cash income
and expense items that are incurred at the property level, and when compared across periods, can be used to determine trends in earnings of the Company’s
properties as this measure is not affected by non-cash revenue and expense recognition items, the cost of the Company’s funding, the impact of depreciation
and amortization expenses, gains or losses from the acquisition and sale of operating real estate assets, general and administrative expenses or other gains and
losses that relate to the Company’s ownership of properties. The Company believes the exclusion of these items from

- 32 -



operating income is useful because the resulting measure captures the actual revenue generated and actual expenses incurred in operating the Company’s
properties as well as trends in occupancy rates, rental rates and operating costs.
 
Cash NOI is a measure of the operating performance of the Company’s properties but does not measure the Company’s performance as a whole and is
therefore not a substitute for net income or operating income as computed in accordance with GAAP.

Same-Center Cash NOI
 
The table below provides a reconciliation of same-center cash NOI to consolidated operating income in accordance with GAAP for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2016 and 2015. The table makes reference to the effect of the same-center properties. Same-center properties, which totaled 65 and 61
of the Company’s 79 properties for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, represent all operating properties owned by the
Company during the entirety of both periods presented and consolidated into the Company’s financial statements during such periods.
 

 Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Same-center cash NOI $ 33,152  $ 31,892  $ 93,358  $ 88,489
Non same-center cash NOI 8,237  646  24,446  5,041
Total Company cash NOI 41,389  32,538  117,804  93,530
Adjustments        
Depreciation and amortization (23,102)  (18,059)  (65,856)  (52,567)
General and administrative expenses (3,220)  (3,092)  (10,055)  (9,387)
Acquisition transaction costs (179)  (91)  (613)  (507)
Other expense 10  (254)  (361)  (507)
Property revenues and expenses (1) 3,318  5,321  14,252  12,469

Operating income $ 18,216  $ 16,363  $ 55,171  $ 43,031
______________________
(1) Includes straight-line rents, amortization of above and below-market lease intangibles, anchor lease termination fees, net of contractual amounts, and

expense and recovery adjustments related to prior periods.

During the three months ended September 30, 2016, the Company generated same-center cash NOI of approximately $33.2 million compared to same-center
cash NOI of approximately $31.9 million generated during the three months ended September 30, 2015, representing a 4.0% increase. This increase is
primarily due to an increase in base rents and recoveries from tenants. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company generated same-
center cash NOI of approximately $93.4 million compared to same center cash NOI of approximately $88.5 million generated during the nine months ended
September 30, 2015, representing a 5.5% increase. This increase is primarily due to an increase in base rents and recoveries from tenants.

Critical Accounting Policies
 
Critical accounting policies are those that are both important to the presentation of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations and require
management’s most difficult, complex or subjective judgments. Set forth below is a summary of the accounting policies that management believes are critical
to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. This summary should be read in conjunction with the more complete discussion of the Company’s
accounting policies included in Note 1 to ROIC’s and the Operating Partnership’s consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition
 
The Company records base rents on a straight-line basis over the term of each lease. The excess of rents recognized over amounts contractually due pursuant
to the underlying leases is included in tenant and other receivables on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Most leases contain provisions that
require tenants to reimburse a pro-rata share of real estate taxes and certain common area expenses. Adjustments are also made throughout the year to tenant
and other receivables and the related cost recovery income based upon the Company’s best estimate of the final amounts to be billed and collected. In
addition, the Company also provides an allowance for future credit losses in connection with the deferred straight-line rent receivable.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
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The allowance for doubtful accounts is established based on a quarterly analysis of the risk of loss on specific accounts. The analysis places particular
emphasis on past-due accounts and considers information such as the nature and age of the receivables, the payment history of the tenants or other debtors,
the financial condition of the tenants and any guarantors and management’s assessment of their ability to meet their lease obligations, the basis for any
disputes and the status of related negotiations, among other things. Management’s estimates of the required allowance is subject to revision as these factors
change and is sensitive to the effects of economic and market conditions on tenants, particularly those at retail properties. Estimates are used to establish
reimbursements from tenants for common area maintenance, real estate tax and insurance costs. The Company analyzes the balance of its estimated accounts
receivable for real estate taxes, common area maintenance and insurance for each of its properties by comparing actual recoveries versus actual expenses and
any actual write-offs. Based on its analysis, the Company may record an additional amount in its allowance for doubtful accounts related to these items. In
addition, the Company also provides an allowance for future credit losses in connection with the deferred straight-line rent receivable.

Real Estate
 
Land, buildings, property improvements, furniture/fixtures and tenant improvements are recorded at cost. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are
charged to operations as incurred. Renovations and/or replacements, which improve or extend the life of the asset, are capitalized and depreciated over their
estimated useful lives.
 
Upon the acquisition of real estate properties, the fair value of the real estate purchased is allocated to the acquired tangible assets (consisting of land,
buildings and improvements), and acquired intangible assets and liabilities (consisting of above-market and below-market leases and acquired in-place
leases). The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property is determined by valuing the property as if it were vacant, which value is then allocated to
land, buildings and improvements based on management’s determination of the relative fair values of these assets. In valuing an acquired property’s
intangibles, factors considered by management include an estimate of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods, and estimates of lost rental revenue
during the expected lease-up periods based on its evaluation of current market demand. Management also estimates costs to execute similar leases, including
leasing commissions, tenant improvements, legal and other related costs.
 
The value of in-place leases is measured by the excess of (i) the purchase price paid for a property after adjusting existing in-place leases to market rental
rates, over (ii) the estimated fair value of the property as if vacant. Above-market and below-market lease values are recorded based on the present value
(using a discount rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between the contractual amounts to be received and
management’s estimate of market lease rates, measured over the terms of the respective leases that management deemed appropriate at the time of acquisition.
Such valuations include a consideration of the non-cancellable terms of the respective leases as well as any applicable renewal periods. The fair values
associated with below-market rental renewal options are determined based on the Company’s experience and the relevant facts and circumstances that existed
at the time of the acquisitions. The value of the above-market and below-market leases associated with the original lease term is amortized to rental income,
over the terms of the respective leases. The value of below-market rental lease renewal options is deferred until such time as the renewal option is exercised
and subsequently amortized over the corresponding renewal period. The value of in-place leases are amortized to expense, and the above-market and below-
market lease values are amortized to rental income, over the remaining non-cancellable terms of the respective leases. If a lease were to be terminated prior to
its stated expiration, all unamortized amounts relating to that lease would be recognized in operations at that time. The Company will record a bargain
purchase gain if it determines that the purchase price for the acquired assets was less than the fair value. The Company will record a liability in situations
where any part of the cash consideration is deferred. The amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value. The liability is subsequently re-
measured to fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. If, up to one year from the acquisition date,
information regarding fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is received and estimates are refined, appropriate property adjustments are made to
the purchase price allocation in the period in which the amounts are adjusted.
 
The Company is required to make subjective assessments as to the useful life of its properties for purposes of determining the amount of depreciation. These
assessments have a direct impact on the Company’s net income.
 
Properties are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
 

Buildings (years) 39 — 40       
Property Improvements (years) 10 — 20       
Furniture/Fixtures (years) 3 — 10       
Tenant Improvements Shorter of lease term or their useful life
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Asset Impairment
 
The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to aggregate future net cash flows
(undiscounted and without interest) expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured
by the amount by which the carrying amounts of the assets exceed the fair value. Management does not believe that the value of any of the Company’s real
estate investments was impaired at September 30, 2016.

REIT Qualification Requirements
 
ROIC has elected and qualified to be taxed as a REIT under the Code, and believes that it has been organized and has operated in a manner that will allow it
to continue to qualify for taxation as a REIT under the Code.

ROIC is subject to a number of operational and organizational requirements to qualify and then maintain qualification as a REIT. If ROIC does not qualify as
a REIT, its income would become subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes at regular corporate rates that would be substantial and the Company
cannot re-elect to qualify as a REIT for four taxable years following the year that it failed to qualify as a REIT. The resulting adverse effects on the
Company’s results of operations, liquidity and amounts distributable to stockholders would be material.

Liquidity and Capital Resources of the Company
 
In this “Liquidity and Capital Resources of the Company” section and in the “Liquidity and Capital Resources of the Operating Partnership” section, the term
“the Company” refers to Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. on an unconsolidated basis, excluding the Operating Partnership.
 
The Company’s business is operated primarily through the Operating Partnership, of which the Company is the parent company and which it consolidates for
financial reporting purposes. Because the Company operates on a consolidated basis with the Operating Partnership, the section entitled “Liquidity and
Capital Resources of the Operating Partnership” should be read in conjunction with this section to understand the liquidity and capital resources of the
Company on a consolidated basis and how the Company is operated as a whole.
 
The Company issues public equity from time to time, but does not otherwise generate any capital itself or conduct any business itself, other than incurring
certain expenses in operating as a public company. The Company itself does not hold any indebtedness other than guarantees of indebtedness of the Operating
Partnership, and its only material assets are its ownership of direct or indirect partnership interests in the Operating Partnership and membership interest in
Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC, the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership. Therefore, the consolidated assets and liabilities and the
consolidated revenues and expenses of the Company and the Operating Partnership are the same on their respective financial statements. However, all debt is
held directly or indirectly by the Operating Partnership. The Company’s principal funding requirement is the payment of dividends on its common stock. The
Company’s principal source of funding for its dividend payments is distributions it receives from the Operating Partnership.
 
As the parent company of the Operating Partnership, the Company, indirectly, has the full, exclusive and complete responsibility for the Operating
Partnership’s day-to-day management and control. The Company causes the Operating Partnership to distribute such portion of its available cash as the
Company may in its discretion determine, in the manner provided in the Operating Partnership’s partnership agreement.
 
The Company is a well-known seasoned issuer with an effective shelf registration statement filed in May 2016 that allows the Company to register
unspecified various classes of debt and equity securities. As circumstances warrant, the Company may issue equity from time to time on an opportunistic
basis, dependent upon market conditions and available pricing. Any proceeds from such equity issuances would be contributed to the Operating Partnership.
The Operating Partnership may use the proceeds to acquire additional properties, pay down debt, and for general working capital purposes.
 
Liquidity is a measure of the ability to meet potential cash requirements, including ongoing commitments to repay borrowings, fund and maintain its assets
and operations, make distributions to its stockholders and meet other general business needs.  The liquidity of the Company is dependent on the Operating
Partnership’s ability to make sufficient distributions to the Company. The primary cash requirement of the Company is its payment of dividends to its
stockholders.
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During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company’s primary sources of cash were distributions from the Operating Partnership and proceeds
from the issuance of common stock. As of September 30, 2016, the Company has determined that it has adequate working capital to meet its dividend funding
obligations for the next twelve months. 

On July 12, 2016, the Company issued 6,555,000 shares of common stock in a registered public offering, including shares issued upon the exercise in full of
the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $133.0 million, after deducting the underwriters’ discounts
and commissions and offering expenses.

On September 19, 2014, ROIC entered into four separate Sales Agreements (the “Original Sales Agreements”) with each of Jefferies LLC, KeyBanc Capital
Markets Inc., MLV & Co. LLC and Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (each individually, an “Original Agent” and collectively, the “ Original Agents”)
pursuant to which ROIC may sell, from time to time, shares of ROIC’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, having an aggregate offering price of up
to $100.0 million through the Original Agents either as agents or principals. On May 23, 2016, ROIC entered into two additional sales agreements (the
“Additional Sales Agreements”, and together with the Original Sales Agreements, the “Sales Agreements”) with each of Canaccord Genuity Inc. and Robert
W. Baird & Co. Incorporated (the “Additional Agents”, and together with the Original Agents, the “Agents”) pursuant to which the Company may sell shares
of ROIC's common stock through the Additional Agents either as agents or principals. In addition, on May 19, 2016, the Company terminated the Original
Sales Agreement with MLV & Co. LLC.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, ROIC sold a total of 2,202,254 shares under the 2014 sales agreements, which resulted in gross proceeds
of approximately $45.6 million and commissions of approximately $584,000 paid to the agents.
 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, dividends paid to stockholders totaled approximately $56.0 million.  Additionally, for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016, the Operating Partnership made distributions of approximately $6.3 million to the non-controlling interest OP Unitholders. On a
consolidated basis, cash flows from operations for the same period totaled approximately $98.5 million.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2015,
dividends paid to stockholders totaled approximately $48.9 million.  Additionally, for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the Operating Partnership
made distributions of approximately $2.0 million to the non-controlling interest OP Unitholders. On a consolidated basis, cash flows from operations for the
same period totaled approximately $74.6 million.  In the future, it is expected that the cash flows from stabilized properties will be sufficient to cover the
dividends paid to stockholders.
 
Potential future sources of capital for the Company include debt and equity issuances.

Liquidity and Capital Resources of the Operating Partnership
 
In this “Liquidity and Capital Resources of the Operating Partnership” section, the terms the “Operating Partnership,” “we”, “our” and “us” refer to the
Operating Partnership together with its consolidated subsidiaries or the Operating Partnership and the Company together with their respective consolidated
subsidiaries, as the context requires.
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Operating Partnership’s primary sources of cash were (i) proceeds from the issuance of senior
unsecured debt, (ii) cash flow from operations, (iii) proceeds from bank borrowings under the credit facility, and (iv) cash contributed by ROIC from the
issuance of common stock. As of September 30, 2016, the Operating Partnership has determined that it has adequate working capital to meet its debt
obligations and operating expenses for the next twelve months.
 
On September 29, 2015, the Company entered into a term loan agreement with KeyBank National Association, as Administrative Agent, and U.S. Bank
National Association, as Syndication Agent and the other lenders party thereto, under which the lenders agreed to provide a $300.0 million unsecured term
loan facility. The term loan agreement also provides that the Company may from time to time request increased aggregate commitments of $200.0 million
under certain conditions set forth in the term loan agreement, including the consent of the lenders for the additional commitments. The initial maturity date of
the term loan is January 31, 2019, subject to two one-year extension options, which may be exercised upon satisfaction of certain conditions including the
payment of extension fees. Borrowings under the term loan agreement bear interest on the outstanding principal amount at a rate equal to an applicable rate
based on the credit rating level of the Company, plus, as applicable, (i) a LIBOR rate determined by reference to the cost of funds for U.S. dollar deposits for
the relevant period (the “Eurodollar Rate”), or (ii) a base rate determined by reference to the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the rate of
interest announced by the Administrative Agent as its “prime rate,” and (c) the Eurodollar Rate plus 1.10%.
 
The Operating Partnership has an unsecured revolving credit facility with several banks which provides for borrowings of up to $500.0 million. Additionally,
the credit facility contains an accordion feature, which allows the Operating Partnership to increase the credit facility amount up to an aggregate of $1.0
billion, subject to lender consents and other conditions. The maturity date of the credit facility is January 31, 2019, subject to a further one-year extension
option, which may be exercised by the Operating
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Partnership upon satisfaction of certain conditions. The Company obtained investment grade credit ratings from Moody’s Investors Service (Baa2) and
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (BBB-) during the second quarter of 2013. Borrowings under the credit facility accrue interest on the outstanding
principal amount at a rate equal to an applicable rate based on the credit rating level of the Company, plus, as applicable, (i) the Eurodollar Rate, or (ii) a base
rate determined by reference to the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the rate of interest announced by KeyBank, National Association at its
“prime rate,” and (c) the Eurodollar Rate plus 1.00%. Additionally, the Operating Partnership is obligated to pay a facility fee at a rate based on the credit
rating level of the Company, currently 0.20%, and a fronting fee at a rate of 0.125% per year with respect to each letter of credit issued under the credit
facility.
 
Both the term loan and credit facility contain customary representations, financial and other covenants. The Operating Partnership’s ability to borrow under
the credit facility and term loan is subject to its compliance with financial covenants and other restrictions on an ongoing basis. The Operating Partnership
was in compliance with such covenants at September 30, 2016.

As of September 30, 2016, $300.0 million and $8.0 million were outstanding under the term loan and credit facility, respectively. The average interest rate on
the term loan during both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was 1.6%. The average interest rate on the credit facility during both the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was 1.5%. The Company had no available borrowings under the term loan at September 30, 2016. The Company
had $492.0 million available to borrow under the credit facility at September 30, 2016.
 
On July 26, 2016, the Operating Partnership entered into a Note Purchase Agreement, as amended, which provided for the issuance of $200.0 million
principal amount of 3.95% Senior Notes Due 2026 (the “Senior Notes Due 2026”) in a private placement. The Senior Notes Due 2026 pay interest on March
22 and September 22 of each year, commencing on March 22, 2017, and mature on September 22, 2026, unless prepaid earlier by the Operating Partnership.
The Operating Partnership's performance of the obligations under the Note Purchase Agreement, including the payment of any outstanding indebtedness
thereunder, are guaranteed, jointly and severally, by ROIC. The interest expense recognized on the Senior Notes Due 2026 during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2016 included approximately $198,000 for the contractual coupon interest.

Further, the Operating Partnership issued $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior notes in December 2014 and $250.0 million
aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior notes in December 2013, each of which were fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company.
 
While the Operating Partnership generally intends to hold its assets as long term investments, certain of its investments may be sold in order to manage the
Operating Partnership’s interest rate risk and liquidity needs, meet other operating objectives and adapt to market conditions.  The timing and impact of future
sales of its investments, if any, cannot be predicted with any certainty.
 
The following table summarizes, for the periods indicated, selected items in our consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):
 

 Nine months ended September 30,

 2016  2015

Net Cash Provided by (Used in):    
Operating Activities $ 98,509  $ 74,595
Investing Activities $ (243,865)  $ (251,541)
Financing Activities $ 146,959  $ 173,126

 
Net Cash Flows from:
 
Operating Activities
 
Net cash flows provided by operating activities amounted to $98.5 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2016, compared to $74.6 million in the
comparable period in 2015. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, cash flows from operating activities increased by approximately $23.9
million primarily due to an increase in property operating income of approximately $26.1 million, offset by an increase in interest expense of approximately
$4.0 million related to increased borrowings in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and the
timing of collections and payments of working capital accounts.
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Investing Activities
 
Net cash flows used in investing activities amounted to $243.9 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2016, compared to $251.5 million in the
comparable period in 2015. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, cash flows used in investing activities decreased by approximately $7.7
million, primarily due to the decrease in cash outflow on investments in real estate of approximately $27.8 million, offset by an increase in improvements to
properties of approximately $12.6 million and an increase in deposits on real estate of $7.5 million.
 
Financing Activities
 
Net cash flows provided by financing activities amounted to $147.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, compared to $173.1 million in the
comparable period in 2015. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, cash flows provided by financing activities decreased by approximately $26.2
million, primarily due to receipt of proceeds from the term loan of $300.0 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2015, from which no proceeds
were received in 2016. This decrease was offset by proceeds received from the issuance of $200.0 million senior unsecured notes in the nine months ended
September 30, 2016, from which no proceeds were received in 2015, and an increase of approximately $80.9 million in net proceeds from the issuance of
common stock during the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Contractual Obligations
 
The following table presents the principal amount of the Company’s long-term debt maturing each year, including amortization of principal based on debt
outstanding and other contractual obligations at September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 Remaining 2016  2017  2018  2019  2020  Thereafter  Total

Contractual obligations:              
Mortgage Notes Payable Principal (1) $ 188  $ 8,786  $ 19,237  $ 157  $ 166  $ 42,335  $ 70,869
Mortgage Notes Payable Interest 824  3,079  2,174  1,655  1,650  6,523  15,905
Term loan (2) —  —  —  300,000  —  —  300,000
Credit facility (3) —  —  —  8,000  —  —  8,000
Senior Notes Due 2026 (4) —  7,900  7,900  7,900  7,900  247,400  279,000
Senior Notes Due 2024 (4) 5,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  290,000  335,000
Senior Notes Due 2023 (4) 6,250  12,500  12,500  12,500  12,500  287,500  343,750
Operating lease obligations 300  1,222  1,260  1,265  1,273  37,934  43,254

Total $ 12,562  $ 43,487  $ 53,071  $ 341,477  $ 33,489  $ 911,692  $ 1,395,778
_________________________________
(1) Does not include unamortized mortgage premium of $1.2 million as of September 30, 2016.
(2) For the purpose of the above table, the Company has assumed that borrowings under the term loan accrue interest at the average interest rate on the

term loan during both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 which was 1.6%. Borrowings under the term loan accrue
interest at a rate equal to an applicable rate based on the credit rating level of the Company, plus, as applicable (i) the Eurodollar Rate, or
(ii) a base rate determined by reference to the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the rate of interest announced by the
Administrative Agent as its “prime rate,” and (c) the Eurodollar Rate plus 1.10%.

(3) For the purpose of the above table, the Company has assumed that borrowings under the credit facility accrue interest at the average interest rate on
the credit facility during both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 which was 1.5%. Borrowings under the credit facility
accrue interest at a rate equal to an applicable rate based on the credit rating level of the Company, plus, as applicable (i) the Eurodollar
Rate, or (ii) a base rate determined by reference to the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the rate of interest announced by
KeyBank, National Association as its “prime rate,” and (c) the Eurodollar Rate plus 1.00%.

(4) Represents payments of interest only in years 2016 through 2020 and payments of both principal and interest thereafter.

For the new leases and renewals that occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company has committed approximately $22.2 million
and $1.1 million in tenant improvements (including building improvements) and leasing commissions, respectively. As of September 30, 2016, the Company
did not have any capital lease or purchase obligations.
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The Company has entered into several lease agreements with an officer of the Company. Pursuant to the lease agreements, the Company is provided the use
of storage space.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 
As of September 30, 2016, the Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Real Estate Taxes
 
The Company’s leases generally require the tenants to be responsible for a pro rata portion of the real estate taxes.

Inflation
 
The Company’s long-term leases contain provisions to mitigate the adverse impact of inflation on its operating results.  Such provisions include clauses
entitling the Company to receive (a) scheduled base rent increases and (b) percentage rents based upon tenants’ gross sales which generally increase as prices
rise.  In addition, many of the Company’s non-anchor leases are for terms of less than ten years, which permits the Company to seek increases in rents upon
renewal at then-current market rates if rents provided in the expiring leases are below then-existing market rates.  Most of the Company’s leases require
tenants to pay a share of operating expenses, including common area maintenance, real estate taxes, insurance and utilities, thereby reducing the Company’s
exposure to increases in costs and operating expenses resulting from inflation.

Leverage Policies
 
The Company employs prudent amounts of leverage and uses debt as a means of providing additional funds for the acquisition of its properties and the
diversification of its portfolio. The Company seeks to primarily utilize unsecured debt in order to maintain liquidity and flexibility in its capital structure.
 
On September 29, 2015, the Company entered into the Term Loan Agreement with KeyBank National Association, as Administrative Agent, and U.S. Bank
National Association, as Syndication Agent and the other lenders party thereto, under which the lenders agreed to provide a $300.0 million unsecured term
loan facility. The Term Loan Agreement also provides that the Company may from time to time request increased aggregate commitments of $200.0 million
under certain conditions set forth in the Term Loan Agreement, including the consent of the lenders for the additional commitments. The initial maturity date
of the term loan is January 31, 2019, subject to two one-year extension options, which may be exercised upon satisfaction of certain conditions including the
payment of extension fees. The Operating Partnership has an unsecured revolving credit facility with several banks which provides for borrowings of up to
$500.0 million. Additionally, the credit facility contains an accordion feature, which allows the Operating Partnership to increase the credit facility amount up
to an aggregate of $1.0 billion, subject to lender consents and other conditions. The maturity date of the credit facility is January 31, 2019, subject to a further
one-year extension option, which may be exercised by the Operating Partnership upon satisfaction of certain conditions.

On July 26, 2016, the Operating Partnership entered into a Note Purchase Agreement, as amended, which provided for the issuance of $200.0 million
principal amount of 3.95% Senior Notes Due 2026 (the “Senior Notes Due 2026”) in a private placement. The Senior Notes Due 2026 pay interest on March
22 and September 22 of each year, commencing on March 22, 2017, and mature on September 22, 2026, unless prepaid earlier by the Operating Partnership.
The Operating Partnership's performance of the obligations under the Note Purchase Agreement, including the payment of any outstanding indebtedness
thereunder, are guaranteed, jointly and severally, by ROIC. The interest expense recognized on the Senior Notes Due 2026 during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2016 included approximately $198,000 for the contractual coupon interest.

In addition, the Operating Partnership issued $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior notes in December 2014 and $250.0 million
aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior notes in December 2013, each of which were fully and unconditionally guaranteed by ROIC.
 
The Company may borrow on a non-recourse basis or at the corporate level or Operating Partnership level. Non-recourse indebtedness means the
indebtedness of the borrower or its subsidiaries is secured only by specific assets without recourse to other assets of the borrower or any of its subsidiaries.
Even with non-recourse indebtedness, however, a borrower or its subsidiaries will likely be required to guarantee against certain breaches of representations
and warranties such as those relating to the absence of fraud, misappropriation, misapplication of funds, environmental conditions and material
misrepresentations. Because non-recourse financing generally restricts the lender’s claim on the assets of the borrower, the lender generally may only proceed
against the asset securing the debt. This may protect the Company’s other assets.
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The Company plans to evaluate each investment opportunity and determine the appropriate leverage on a case-by-case basis and also on a Company-wide
basis. The Company may seek to refinance indebtedness, such as when a decline in interest rates makes it beneficial to prepay an existing mortgage, when an
existing mortgage matures or if an attractive investment becomes available and the proceeds from the refinancing can be used to purchase the investment.
 
The Company plans to finance future acquisitions through a combination of cash, borrowings under its credit facility, the assumption of existing mortgage
debt, the issuance of OP Units, and equity and debt offerings. In addition, the Company may acquire retail properties indirectly through joint ventures with
third parties as a means of increasing the funds available for the acquisition of properties.

Distributions
 
The Operating Partnership and ROIC intend to make regular quarterly distributions to holders of their OP Units and common stock, respectively.  The
Operating Partnership pays distributions to ROIC directly as a holder of units of the Operating Partnership, and indirectly to ROIC through distributions to
Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of ROIC.  U.S. federal income tax law generally requires that a REIT distribute annually
at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains, and that it pay U.S. federal
income tax at regular corporate rates to the extent that it annually distributes less than 100% of its net taxable income.  ROIC intends to pay regular quarterly
dividends to its stockholders in an amount not less than its net taxable income, if and to the extent authorized by its board of directors.  If ROIC’s cash
available for distribution is less than its net taxable income, ROIC could be required to sell assets or borrow funds to make cash distributions or ROIC may
make a portion of the required distribution in the form of a taxable stock distribution or distribution of debt securities.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 
See Note 1 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 
The Company’s primary market risk exposure is to changes in interest rates related to its debt. There is inherent rollover risk for borrowings as they mature
and are renewed at current market rates. The extent of this risk is not quantifiable or predictable because of the variability of future interest rates and the
Company’s future financing requirements.

As of September 30, 2016, the Company had $308.0 million of variable rate debt outstanding. The Company has primarily used fixed-rate debt and interest
rate swaps to manage its interest rate risk. See the discussion under Note 9 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for certain quantitative
details related to the interest rate swaps.
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company entered into two interest rate swaps in order to economically hedge against the risk of rising
interest rates that would affect the Company’s interest expense related to its future anticipated debt issuances as part of its overall borrowing program.  The
sensitivity analysis table presented below shows the estimated instantaneous parallel shift in the yield curve up and down by 50 and 100 basis points,
respectively, on the clean market value of its interest rate derivatives as of September 30, 2016, exclusive of non-performance risk (in thousands).
 

Swap Notional  Less 100 basis points  Less 50 basis points  
September 30, 2016

Value  
Increase 50 basis

points  
Increase 100 basis

points

$50,000  (1,053)  (685)  (126)  424  969
$50,000  (945)  (578)  (19)  531  1,074

See Note 9 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a discussion on how the Company values derivative financial instruments.  The
Company calculates the value of its interest rate swaps based upon the present value of the future cash flows expected to be paid and received on each leg of
the swap.  The cash flows on the fixed leg of the swap are agreed to at inception and the cash flows on the floating leg of a swap change over time as interest
rates change.  To estimate the floating cash flows at each valuation date, the Company utilizes a forward curve which is constructed using LIBOR fixings,
Eurodollar futures, and swap rates, which are observable in the market.  Both the fixed and floating legs’ cash flows are discounted at market discount
factors.  For purposes of adjusting its derivative valuations, the Company incorporates the nonperformance risk for both itself and its counterparties to these
contracts based upon management’s estimates of credit spreads, credit default swap spreads (if available) or Moody’s KMV ratings in order to derive a curve
that considers the term structure of credit.
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As a corporation that has elected to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, commencing with its taxable year ended December 31, 2010,
ROIC’s future income, cash flows and fair values relevant to financial instruments are dependent upon prevailing market interest rates.  Market risk refers to
the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices and interest rates.  The Company will be exposed to interest rate changes primarily as a result of long-
term debt used to acquire properties and make real estate-related debt investments.  The Company’s interest rate risk management objectives will be to limit
the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower overall borrowing costs.  To achieve these objectives, the Company expects to
borrow primarily at fixed rates or variable rates with the lowest margins available and, in some cases, with the ability to convert variable rates to fixed
rates.  In addition, the Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage interest rate risk.  The Company will not use derivatives for trading or
speculative purposes and will only enter into contracts with major financial institutions based on their credit rating and other factors.  Currently, the Company
uses two interest rate swaps to manage its interest rate risk.  See Note 9 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
 
Controls and Procedures (Retail Opportunity Investments Corp.)
 
ROIC’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, based on their evaluation of the ROIC’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) required by paragraph (b) of Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15, have concluded that as of the end of the period
covered by this report, the ROIC’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective to give reasonable assurances to the timely collection, evaluation and
disclosure of information relating to ROIC that would potentially be subject to disclosure under the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, there was no change in ROIC’s internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, ROIC’s internal control over financial reporting.

Controls and Procedures (Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP)

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, based on their evaluation of the Operating Partnership’s disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) required by paragraph (b) of Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15, have concluded
that as of the end of the period covered by this report, the Operating Partnership’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective to give reasonable
assurances to the timely collection, evaluation and disclosure of information relating to the Operating Partnership that would potentially be subject to
disclosure under the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, there was no change in the Operating Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Operating Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
 
We are not involved in any material litigation nor, to our knowledge, is any material litigation pending or threatened against us, other than routine litigation
arising out of the ordinary course of business or which is expected to be covered by insurance and not expected to harm our business, financial condition or
results of operations.
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors
 
See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. There have been no significant changes to our risk factors during the nine
months ended September 30, 2016.
 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

During the three months ended September 30, 2016, ROIC purchased the following:
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Total Number

of Shares
Purchased (1)  

Average Price
Paid per Share  

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced
Plans or Programs  

Maximum Number of
Shares That May Yet be

Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs

July 1, 2016 to July 31, 2016  790  $ 21.86  —  —
August 1, 2016 to August 31, 2016  —  —  —  —
September 1, 2016 to September 30, 2016  —  —  —  —

Total  790  $ 21.86  —  —

______________________
(1) Represents shares repurchased by the Company in connection with the net share settlement to cover the minimum taxes on vesting of restricted stock

issued under the Company's 2009 Equity Incentive Plan that vested.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
 

Not applicable.
 

Item 5. Other Information
 

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

2.1 Articles of Merger between Retail Opportunity Investments Corp., a Delaware corporation, and Retail Opportunity Investments Corp., a
Maryland corporation, as survivor .(1)

3.2 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Retail Opportunity Investments Corp.(1)

3.3 Bylaws of Retail Opportunity Investments Corp.(1)

3.4 Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP by and among Retail
Opportunity Investments GP, LLC as general partner, Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. and the other limited partners thereto, dated as of
September 27, 2013 (2)

10.1 * Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 22, 2016, by and among Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership,
LP, Retail Opportunity Investments Corp and the purchasers named therein. (3)

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
_________________________________
(1)    Incorporated by reference to the Company’s current report on Form 8-K filed on June 3, 2011.
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(2)    Incorporated by reference to the Company’s current report on Form 8-K filed on October 2, 2013.
*    Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS CORP.
 

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS PARTNERSHIP, LP,
by Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC, its sole general partner

   
   
Registrant  Registrant
   
/s/ Stuart A. Tanz  /s/ Stuart A. Tanz
Name: Stuart A. Tanz  Name: Stuart A. Tanz
Title: Chief Executive Officer  Title: Chief Executive Officer
   
Date: October 26, 2016  Date: October 26, 2016
   
   
/s/ Michael B. Haines  /s/ Michael B. Haines
Name: Michael B. Haines  Name: Michael B. Haines
Title: Chief Financial Officer  Title: Chief Financial Officer
   
Date: October 26, 2016  Date: October 26, 2016
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Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS PARTNERSHIP, LP
8905 TOWNE CENTRE DRIVE, SUITE 108

SAN DIEGO, CA 92122

$200,000,000 3.95% Senior Notes due September 22, 2026

as of September 22, 2016

TO EACH OF THE PURCHASERS LISTED IN
THE PURCHASER SCHEDULE HERETO:

Ladies and Gentlemen:

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS PARTNERSHIP, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Company”), and RETAIL OPPORTUNITY
INVESTMENTS CORP., a Maryland corporation (the “Parent Guarantor”) agree with each of the Purchasers as follows:

WHEREAS, the Company and the Parent Guarantor executed that certain Note Purchase Agreement dated July 26, 2016 (the “Original Note
Agreement”) and now desires to enter into this Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement to provide for certain changes to the terms of the Original
Note Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows:



SECTION 1. AMENDED AND RESTATED AUTHORIZATION OF NOTES.

(a) The Original Note Agreement (including the Schedules and Exhibits thereto) is hereby amended and restated in its entirety and is superseded by
this Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement as herein provided. As used herein, the term “this Agreement” and references thereto shall mean this
Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement as it may from time to time hereafter be amended or supplemented. Certain capitalized and other terms
used in this Agreement are defined in Schedule B; and references to a “Schedule” or an “Exhibit” are, unless otherwise specified, references to a Schedule or
an Exhibit attached to this Agreement.

(b) The Company will authorize the issue and sale of 200,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its 3.95% Senior Notes due September 22, 2026
(the “Notes”). The Notes shall be substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1. Certain capitalized and other terms used in this Agreement are defined in
Schedule A and, for purposes of this Agreement, the rules of construction set forth in Section 22.4 shall govern.



SECTION 2. SALE AND PURCHASE OF NOTES.

Section 2.1. Purchase and Sale of Notes. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Company will issue and sell to each Purchaser
and each Purchaser will purchase from the Company, at the Closing provided for in Section 3, Notes in the principal amount specified opposite such
Purchaser’s name in the Purchaser Schedule at the purchase price of 100% of the principal amount thereof. The Purchasers’ obligations hereunder are several
and not joint obligations and no Purchaser shall have any liability to any Person for the performance or non-performance of any obligation by any other
Purchaser hereunder.

Section 2.2. Guaranty. The payment by the Company of all amounts due with respect to the Notes and the performance by the Company of its
obligations under this Agreement will be absolutely and unconditionally guaranteed by the Parent Guarantor and Subsidiary Guarantors pursuant to the
guaranty agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit 2.2 attached hereto and made a part hereof (as the same may be amended, modified, extended or
renewed, the “Guaranty”).

SECTION 3. CLOSING.

The sale and purchase of the Notes to be purchased by each Purchaser shall occur at the offices of Chapman and Cutler LLP, 111 West Monroe
Street, Chicago, IL 60603, at 10:00 a.m., Chicago time, at a closing (the “Closing”) on September 22, 2016 or on such other Business Day thereafter on or
prior to September 23, 2016 as may be agreed upon by the Company and the Purchasers. At the Closing the Company will deliver to each Purchaser the Notes
to be purchased by such Purchaser in the form of a single Note (or such greater number of Notes in denominations of at least $100,000 as such Purchaser may
request) dated the date of the Closing and registered in such Purchaser’s name (or in the name of its nominee), against delivery by such Purchaser to the
Company or its order of immediately available funds in the amount of the purchase price therefor by wire transfer of immediately available funds for the
account of the Company as set forth on Schedule 3. If at the Closing the Company shall fail to tender such Notes to any Purchaser as provided above in this
Section 3, or any of the conditions specified in Section 4 shall not have been fulfilled to such Purchaser’s satisfaction, such Purchaser shall, at its election, be
relieved of all further obligations under this Agreement, without thereby waiving any rights such Purchaser may have by reason of such failure by the
Company to tender such Notes or any of the conditions specified in Section 4 not having been fulfilled to such Purchaser’s satisfaction.

SECTION 4. CONDITIONS TO CLOSING.

Each Purchaser’s obligation to purchase and pay for the Notes to be sold to such Purchaser at the Closing is subject to the fulfillment to such
Purchaser’s satisfaction, prior to or at the Closing, of the following conditions:

Section 4.1. Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Company and each Guarantor in this Agreement and the
Guaranty shall be correct when made and at the Closing.
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Section 4.2. Performance; No Default. The Company and each Guarantor shall have performed and complied with all agreements and conditions
contained in this Agreement and the Guaranty required to be performed or complied with by it prior to or at the Closing and from the date of this Agreement
to the Closing assuming that Sections 9 and 10 are applicable from the date of this Agreement. From the date of this Agreement until the Closing, before and
after giving effect to the issue and sale of the Notes (and the application of the proceeds thereof as contemplated by Section 5.14), no Default or Event of
Default shall have occurred and be continuing. None of the Parent Guarantor, the Company nor any of their Subsidiaries shall have entered into any
transaction since March 31, 2016 that would have been prohibited by Section 10 had such Section applied since such date.

Section 4.3. Compliance Certificates.

(a) Officer’s Certificate. The Company and each Guarantor shall have delivered to such Purchaser an Officer’s Certificate, dated the date of the
Closing, certifying that the conditions specified in Sections 4.1, 4.2 and 4.9 have been fulfilled.

(b) Secretary’s Certificate. The Company shall have delivered to such Purchaser a certificate of its general partner, dated the date of the Closing,
certifying as to (i) the resolutions attached thereto and other corporate proceedings relating to the authorization, execution and delivery of the Notes and this
Agreement and (ii) the Company’s organizational documents as then in effect.

(c) Guarantor Secretary’s Certificate. Each Guarantor shall have delivered to such Purchaser a certificate of an authorized officer, dated the date of
the Closing, certifying as to the resolutions attached thereto and other legal proceedings relating to the authorization, execution and delivery of this
Agreement (in the case of the Parent Guarantor) and the Guaranty.

(d) Certificates. The certificates provided under this Section 4.3 may be combined and delivered as one or more certificates.

Section 4.4. Opinions of Counsel. Such Purchaser shall have received opinions in form and substance satisfactory to such Purchaser, dated the date
of the Closing (a) from Clifford Chance, counsel for the Company, covering the matters set forth in Schedule 4.4(a) and covering such other matters incident
to the transactions contemplated hereby as such Purchaser or its counsel may reasonably request (and the Company hereby instructs its counsel to deliver such
opinion to the Purchasers) and (b) from Chapman and Cutler LLP, the Purchasers’ special counsel in connection with such transactions, substantially in the
form set forth in Schedule 4.4(b) and covering such other matters incident to such transactions as such Purchaser may reasonably request.

Section 4.5. Purchase Permitted By Applicable Law, Etc. On the date of the Closing such Purchaser’s purchase of Notes shall (a) be permitted by
the laws and regulations of each jurisdiction to which such Purchaser is subject, without recourse to provisions (such as section 1405(a)(8) of the New York
Insurance Law) permitting limited investments by insurance companies without restriction as to the character of the particular investment, (b) not violate any
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applicable law or regulation (including Regulation T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System) and (c) not subject such Purchaser to
any tax, penalty or liability under or pursuant to any applicable law or regulation, which law or regulation was not in effect on the date hereof. If requested by
such Purchaser, such Purchaser shall have received an Officer’s Certificate certifying as to such matters of fact as such Purchaser may reasonably specify to
enable such Purchaser to determine whether such purchase is so permitted.

Section 4.6. Sale of Other Notes. Contemporaneously with the Closing the Company shall sell to each other Purchaser and each other Purchaser
shall purchase the Notes to be purchased by it at the Closing as specified in the Purchaser Schedule.

Section 4.7. Payment of Special Counsel Fees. Without limiting Section 15.1, the Company shall have paid on or before the Closing the reasonable
and documented fees, charges and disbursements of the Purchasers’ special counsel referred to in Section 4.4 to the extent reflected in a statement of such
counsel rendered to the Company at least one Business Day prior to the Closing.

Section 4.8. Private Placement Number. A Private Placement Number issued by Standard & Poor’s CUSIP Service Bureau (in cooperation with
the SVO) shall have been obtained for the Notes.

Section 4.9. Changes in Corporate Structure. The Obligors shall not have changed their respective jurisdiction of incorporation or organization, as
applicable, or been a party to any merger or consolidation or succeeded to all or any substantial part of the liabilities of any other entity, at any time following
the date of the most recent financial statements referred to in Schedule 5.5.

Section 4.10. Guaranty. The Guaranty shall have been executed and delivered by the Guarantors and shall be in full force and effect.

Section 4.11. Funding Instructions. At least three Business Days prior to the date of the Closing, each Purchaser shall have received written
instructions signed by a Responsible Officer on letterhead of the Company or the Parent Guarantor confirming the information specified in Section 3
including (i) the name and address of the transferee bank, (ii) such transferee bank’s ABA number and (iii) the account name and number into which the
purchase price for the Notes is to be deposited.

Section 4.12. Existing Credit Agreement. Such Purchaser shall have received executed copies of the amendments to the Primary Credit Facilities.

Section 4.13. Delivery of Tax Forms. The Company shall have received the completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 or W-8BEN from each
Purchaser prior to Closing.

Section 4.14. Proceedings and Documents. All corporate and other proceedings in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and all documents and instruments incident to such transactions shall be satisfactory to such Purchaser and its special counsel, and such Purchaser
and its special counsel shall have received all such counterpart originals or certified or other copies of such documents as such Purchaser or such special
counsel may reasonably request.
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SECTION 5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY.

The Company and the Parent Guarantor, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to each Purchaser that:

Section 5.1. Organization; Power and Authority. Each Obligor is an entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of
its jurisdiction of organization, except as noted in Schedule 5.4, and is duly qualified as a foreign entity and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which
such qualification is required by law, other than those jurisdictions as to which the failure to be so qualified or in good standing could not, individually or in
the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Each Obligor has the legal power and authority to own or hold under lease the
properties it purports to own or hold under lease, to transact the business it transacts and proposes to transact, to execute and deliver this Agreement or the
Guaranty, and the Notes, as applicable, and to perform the provisions hereof and thereof. The Parent Guarantor has taken such action as is necessary to elect
to be (and qualify as) a real estate investment trust under Section 856 through 860 (or other applicable provisions) of the Code commencing with its taxable
year ended December 31, 2010.

Section 5.2. Authorization, Etc. This Agreement, the Guaranty and the Notes have been duly authorized by all necessary legal action on the part of
the Obligors party thereto, and this Agreement and the Guaranty constitute, and upon execution and delivery thereof each Note will constitute, a legal, valid
and binding obligation of each Obligor party thereto enforceable against the Obligor party thereto in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability
may be limited by (a) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights
generally and (b) general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

Section 5.3. Disclosure. This Agreement, the financial statements listed in Schedule 5.5 and the documents, certificates or other writings delivered
to the Purchasers by or on behalf of the Company and the Parent Guarantor prior to June 3, 2016 in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and
identified in Schedule 5.3 (this Agreement and such documents, certificates or other writings and such financial statements delivered to each Purchaser being
referred to, collectively, as the “Disclosure Documents”), taken as a whole, do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any
material fact necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in light of the circumstances under which they were made. Except as disclosed in the
Disclosure Documents, since December 31, 2015, there has been no change in the financial condition, operations, business, properties or prospects of the
Obligors or their respective Subsidiaries except changes that could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect. There is no fact known to the Company or the Parent Guarantor that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect that has not been
set forth herein or in the Disclosure Documents.
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Section 5.4. Organization and Ownership of Shares of Subsidiaries. (a) Schedule 5.4 contains (except as noted therein) complete and correct lists
of (i) the Subsidiaries of the Parent Guarantor and the Company, showing, as to each Subsidiary, the name thereof, the jurisdiction of its organization, the
percentage of shares of each class of its capital stock or similar equity interests outstanding owned by the Parent Guarantor, the Company and each other
Subsidiary and whether such Subsidiary is a Subsidiary Guarantor and (ii) the Parent Guarantor’s directors and senior officers.

(b) All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or similar equity interests of each Subsidiary shown in Schedule 5.4 as being owned by the Parent
Guarantor or the Company and their respective Subsidiaries have been validly issued, are fully paid and non-assessable and are owned by the Parent
Guarantor or another Subsidiary free and clear of any Lien that is prohibited by this Agreement.

(c) Each Subsidiary is a corporation or other legal entity duly organized, validly existing and, where applicable, in good standing under the laws of
its jurisdiction of organization, and is duly qualified as a foreign corporation or other legal entity and, where applicable, is in good standing in each
jurisdiction in which such qualification is required by law, other than those jurisdictions as to which the failure to be so qualified or in good standing could
not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Each such Subsidiary has the corporate or other power and
authority to own or hold under lease the properties it purports to own or hold under lease and to transact the business it transacts and proposes to transact.

(d) No Subsidiary is subject to any legal, regulatory, contractual or other restriction (other than the agreements listed on Schedule 5.4 and customary
limitations imposed by corporate law or similar statutes) restricting the ability of such Subsidiary to pay dividends out of profits or make any other similar
distributions of profits to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that owns outstanding shares of capital stock or similar equity interests of such Subsidiary.

Section 5.5. Financial Statements; Material Liabilities. The Company has delivered to each Purchaser copies of the financial statements of the
Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries listed on Schedule 5.5. All of such financial statements (including in each case the related schedules and notes) fairly
present in all material respects the consolidated financial position of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, the Company) as
of the respective dates specified in such Schedule and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the respective periods so specified and
have been prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied throughout the periods involved except as set forth in the notes thereto (subject, in the case
of any interim financial statements, to normal year-end adjustments). The Parent Guarantor, the Company and their Subsidiaries do not have any Material
liabilities that are not disclosed in the Disclosure Documents.

Section 5.6. Compliance with Laws, Other Instruments, Etc. The execution, delivery and performance by the Obligors of this Agreement, the
Guaranty and the Notes, to the extent that they are a party thereto, will not (a) contravene, result in any breach of, or constitute a
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default under, or result in the creation of any Lien in respect of any property of any Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries under, any indenture, mortgage, deed of
trust, loan, purchase or credit agreement, lease, corporate charter, regulations or by-laws, partnership agreement, limited liability company agreement,
shareholders agreement or any other agreement or instrument to which any Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries is bound or by which any Obligor or any of its
Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties may be bound or affected, (b) conflict with or result in a breach of any of the terms, conditions or provisions
of any order, judgment, decree, or ruling of any court, arbitrator or Governmental Authority applicable to any Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries or (c) violate
any provision of any statute or other rule or regulation of any Governmental Authority applicable to any Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 5.7. Governmental Authorizations, Etc. No consent, approval or authorization of, or registration, filing or declaration with, any
Governmental Authority is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the Obligors of this Agreement, the Guarantor or the Notes,
as applicable.

Section 5.8. Litigation; Observance of Agreements, Statutes and Orders. (a) There are no actions, suits, investigations or proceedings pending
or, to the best knowledge of the Parent Guarantor or the Company, threatened against or affecting any Obligor or any of their Subsidiaries or any property of
the Obligors or any of their Subsidiaries in any court or before any arbitrator of any kind or before or by any Governmental Authority that could, individually
or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Neither the Parent Guarantor nor any of its Subsidiaries is (i) in default under any agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it is
bound, (ii) in violation of any order, judgment, decree or ruling of any court, any arbitrator of any kind or any Governmental Authority or (iii) in violation of
any applicable law, ordinance, rule or regulation of any Governmental Authority (including Environmental Laws, the USA PATRIOT Act or any of the other
laws and regulations that are referred to in Section 5.16), which default or violation could, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.9. Taxes. Each Obligor and their respective Subsidiaries have filed all tax returns that are required to have been filed in any jurisdiction,
and have paid all taxes shown to be due and payable on such returns and all other taxes and assessments levied upon them or their properties, assets, income
or franchises, to the extent such taxes and assessments have become due and payable and before they have become delinquent, except for any taxes and
assessments (i) the amount of which, individually or in the aggregate, is not Material or (ii) the amount, applicability or validity of which is currently being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and with respect to which the Company or a Subsidiary, as the case may be, has established adequate
reserves in accordance with GAAP. Neither the Parent Guarantor nor the Company knows of any basis for any other tax or assessment that could, individually
or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The charges, accruals and reserves on the books of the Parent Guarantor, the
Company and their respective Subsidiaries in respect of U.S. federal, state or other taxes for all fiscal periods are adequate. The U.S. federal income tax
liabilities of the Obligors and their respective Subsidiaries have been finally
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determined (whether by reason of completed audits or the statute of limitations having run) for all fiscal years up to and including the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2011.

Section 5.10. Title to Property; Leases. The Obligors and their respective Subsidiaries have good and sufficient title to their respective properties
that individually or in the aggregate are Material, including all such properties reflected in the most recent audited balance sheet referred to in Section 5.5 or
purported to have been acquired by the Obligors or any Subsidiary after such date (except as sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business),
in each case free and clear of Liens prohibited by this Agreement. All leases that individually or in the aggregate are Material are valid and subsisting and are
in full force and effect in all material respects.

Section 5.11. Licenses, Permits, Etc. (a) The Obligors and their respective Subsidiaries own or possess all licenses, permits, franchises,
authorizations, patents, copyrights, proprietary software, service marks, trademarks and trade names, or rights thereto, that individually or in the aggregate are
Material, without known conflict with the rights of others.

(b) To the best knowledge of the Parent Guarantor and the Company, no product or service of the Obligors or any of their respective Subsidiaries
infringes in any material respect any license, permit, franchise, authorization, patent, copyright, proprietary software, service mark, trademark, trade name or
other right owned by any other Person.

(c) To the best knowledge of the Parent Guarantor and the Company, there is no Material violation by any Person of any right of the Obligors or any
of its Subsidiaries with respect to any license, permit, franchise, authorization, patent, copyright, proprietary software, service mark, trademark, trade name or
other right owned or used by the Obligors or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 5.12. Compliance with Employee Benefit Plans. (a) Each Obligor and each ERISA Affiliate have operated and administered each Plan in
compliance with all applicable laws except for such instances of noncompliance as have not resulted in and could not, individually or in the aggregate,
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. No Obligor nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred any liability pursuant to Title I or IV of
ERISA or the penalty or excise tax provisions of the Code relating to any Plan, and no event, transaction or condition has occurred or exists that could,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in the incurrence of any such liability by the Obligors or any ERISA Affiliate, or in the
imposition of any Lien on any of the rights, properties or assets of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate, in either case pursuant to Title I or IV of ERISA or
to section 430(k) of the Code or to any such penalty or excise tax provisions under the Code or federal law or section 4068 of ERISA or by the granting of a
security interest in connection with the amendment of a Plan, other than such liabilities or Liens as could not individually or in the aggregate be reasonably
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
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(b) The present value of the aggregate benefit liabilities under each of the Plans (other than Multiemployer Plans), determined as of the end of such
Plan’s most recently ended plan year on the basis of the actuarial assumptions specified for funding purposes in such Plan’s most recent actuarial valuation
report, did not exceed the aggregate current value of the assets of such Plan allocable to such benefit liabilities by a Material Amount. The term “benefit
liabilities” has the meaning specified in section 4001 of ERISA and the terms “current value” and “present value” have the meaning specified in section 3 of
ERISA and shall be determined in accordance with the assumptions used for funding the Plan pursuant to Section 412 of the Code for the applicable Plan
year.

(c) Each Obligor and their ERISA Affiliates have not incurred withdrawal liabilities (and are not subject to contingent withdrawal liabilities) under
section 4201 or 4204 of ERISA in respect of Multiemployer Plans that individually or in the aggregate that could reasonably be expected to give rise to a
Material Adverse Effect.

(d) The expected postretirement benefit obligation (determined as of the last day of the Parent Guarantor’s most recently ended fiscal year in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 715-60, without regard to liabilities attributable to
continuation coverage mandated by section 4980B of the Code) of the Parent Guarantor, the Company and their Subsidiaries could not reasonably be
expected to give rise to a Material Adverse Effect.

(e) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Guaranty and the issuance and sale of the Notes hereunder will not involve any transaction that
is subject to the prohibitions of section 406 of ERISA or in connection with which a tax could be imposed pursuant to section 4975(c)(1)(A)-(D) of the Code.
The representation by the Parent Guarantor and the Company to each Purchaser in the first sentence of this Section 5.12(e) is made in reliance upon and
subject to the accuracy of such Purchaser’s representation in Section 6.2 as to the sources of the funds to be used to pay the purchase price of the Notes to be
purchased by such Purchaser.

(f) The Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries do not have any Non-U.S. Plans.

Section 5.13. Private Offering. Neither the Parent Guarantor, the Company nor anyone acting on its or their behalf has offered the Notes, the
Guaranty or any similar Securities for sale to, or solicited any offer to buy the Notes or any similar Securities from, or otherwise approached or negotiated in
respect thereof with, any Person other than the Purchasers, each of which has been offered the Notes and the Guaranty at a private sale for investment. Neither
the Parent Guarantor, the Company nor anyone acting on its behalf has taken, or will take, any action that would subject the issuance or sale of the Notes to
the registration requirements of section 5 of the Securities Act or to the registration requirements of any Securities or blue sky laws of any applicable
jurisdiction.

Section 5.14. Use of Proceeds; Margin Regulations. The Company will apply the proceeds of the sale of the Notes hereunder to refinance existing
debt (including the refinancing of revolving debt without reduction of commitment therefore) and/or for general corporate purposes. No part of the proceeds
from the sale of the Notes hereunder will be used, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of buying or carrying any margin stock within the meaning of
Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 CFR 221), or for the purpose of buying or carrying or trading in any Securities
under such circumstances as to involve
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the Company in a violation of Regulation X of said Board (12 CFR 224) or to involve any broker or dealer in a violation of Regulation T of said Board (12
CFR 220). Margin stock does not constitute more than 5% of the value of the consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries and the Company does
not have any present intention that margin stock will constitute more than 5% of the value of such assets. As used in this Section, the terms “margin stock”
and “purpose of buying or carrying” shall have the meanings assigned to them in said Regulation U.

Section 5.15. Existing Indebtedness; Future Liens. (a) Except as described therein, Schedule 5.15 sets forth a complete and correct list of all
outstanding Indebtedness of the Parent Guarantor, the Company and their respective Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2016 (including descriptions of the principal
amounts outstanding, any collateral therefor and any Guaranty thereof), since which date there has been no Material change in the amounts, interest rates,
sinking funds, installment payments or maturities of the Indebtedness of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or their respective Subsidiaries. Neither the
Parent Guarantor, the Company nor any of their respective Subsidiaries is in default and no waiver of default is currently in effect, in the payment of any
principal or interest on any Indebtedness of the Company or such Subsidiary and no event or condition exists with respect to any Indebtedness of the Parent
Guarantor, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries that would permit (or that with notice or the lapse of time, or both, would permit) one or more
Persons to cause such Indebtedness to become due and payable before its stated maturity or before its regularly scheduled dates of payment.

(b) Except as disclosed in Schedule 5.15, neither the Parent Guarantor, the Company nor any of their respective Subsidiaries has agreed or consented
to cause or permit any of its property, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, to be subject to a Lien that secures Indebtedness or to cause or permit in the
future (upon the happening of a contingency or otherwise) any of its property, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, to be subject to a Lien that secures
Indebtedness.

(c) Neither the Parent Guarantor, the Company nor any of their respective Subsidiaries is a party to, or otherwise subject to any provision contained
in, any instrument evidencing Indebtedness of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or such Subsidiary, any agreement relating thereto or any other agreement
(including its charter or any other organizational document) which limits the amount of, or otherwise imposes restrictions on the incurring of, Indebtedness of
the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries, except as disclosed in Schedule 5.15.

Section 5.16. Foreign Assets Control Regulations, Etc. (a) None of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any Controlled Entity (i) is a Blocked
Person, (ii) has been notified that its name appears or may in the future appear on a State Sanctions List or (iii) is a target of sanctions that have been imposed
by the United Nations or the European Union.

(b) None of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any Controlled Entity (i) has violated, been found in violation of, or been charged or convicted
under, any applicable U.S. Economic Sanctions Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws or Anti-Corruption Laws or (ii) to the Parent Guarantor or the
Company’s knowledge, is under investigation by any Governmental Authority for possible violation of any U.S. Economic Sanctions Laws, Anti-Money
Laundering Laws or Anti-Corruption Laws.
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(c) No part of the proceeds from the sale of the Notes hereunder:

(i) constitutes or will constitute funds obtained on behalf of any Blocked Person or will otherwise be used by the Parent Guarantor, the
Company or any Controlled Entity, directly or indirectly, (A) in connection with any investment in, or any transactions or dealings with, any Blocked
Person, (B) for any purpose that would cause any Purchaser to be in violation of any U.S. Economic Sanctions Laws or (C) otherwise in violation of
any U.S. Economic Sanctions Laws;

(ii) will be used, directly or indirectly, in violation of, or cause any Purchaser to be in violation of, any applicable Anti-Money
Laundering Laws; or

(iii) will be used, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of making any improper payments, including bribes, to any Governmental
Official or commercial counterparty in order to obtain, retain or direct business or obtain any improper advantage, in each case which would be in
violation of, or cause any Purchaser to be in violation of, any applicable Anti-Corruption Laws.

(d) The Parent Guarantor and the Company have established procedures and controls which it reasonably believes are adequate (and otherwise
comply with applicable law) to ensure that each Obligor and each Controlled Entity is and will continue to be in compliance with all applicable U.S.
Economic Sanctions Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Anti-Corruption Laws.

Section 5.17. Status under Certain Statutes. No Obligor nor any of their respective Subsidiaries is subject to regulation under the Investment
Company Act of 1940, the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005, the ICC Termination Act of 1995, or the Federal Power Act.

Section 5.18. Environmental Matters. (a) Neither any Obligor nor any of their respective Subsidiaries has knowledge of any claim or has received
any notice of any claim, and no proceeding has been instituted asserting any claim against the Obligors or any of their respective Subsidiaries or any of their
respective real properties now or formerly owned, leased or operated by any of them or other assets, alleging any damage to the environment or violation of
any Environmental Laws, except, in each case, such as could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Neither any Obligor nor any of their respective Subsidiaries has knowledge of any facts which would give rise to any claim, public or private, of
violation of Environmental Laws or damage to the environment emanating from, occurring on or in any way related to real properties now or formerly owned,
leased or operated by any of them or to other assets or their use, except, in each case, such as could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
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(c) Neither any Obligor nor any of their respective Subsidiaries has stored any Hazardous Materials on real properties now or formerly owned, leased
or operated by any of them in a manner which is contrary to any Environmental Law that could, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to
result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(d) Neither any Obligor nor any Subsidiary has disposed of any Hazardous Materials in a manner which is contrary to any Environmental Law that
could, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(e) All buildings on all real properties now owned, leased or operated by the Obligors or any of their respective Subsidiaries are in compliance with
applicable Environmental Laws, except where failure to comply could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect.

Section 5.19. REIT Status. The Parent Guarantor has taken all action necessary to qualify as a real estate investment trust under the Code for the
taxable years of the Parent Guarantor ended December 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015 and has not taken any action which would prevent it from maintaining such
qualification at all times during the term of this Agreement. Each Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor that is treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income
tax purposes is either (i) a “qualified REIT subsidiary” within the meaning of section 856(i)(2) of the Code or (ii) a “taxable REIT subsidiary” within the
meaning of section 856(l) of the Code.

Section 5.20. Amendment of Primary Credit Facilities. Prior to Closing, the Company and the Parent Guarantor have amended the Primary Credit
Facilities to conform as to comparable provisions thereunder to Sections 10.5(n), 10.6(b), 10.6(c), 10.8(d) and Section 10.9 hereunder and in connection with
such amendments, no fee or other form of consideration was paid to the holders of Indebtedness thereunder solely in connection with their consent to such
amendment.

SECTION 6. REPRESENTATIONS OF THE PURCHASERS.

Section 6.1. Purchase for Investment. Each Purchaser severally represents that it is purchasing the Notes for its own account or for one or more
separate accounts maintained by such Purchaser or for the account of one or more pension or trust funds and not with a view to the distribution thereof,
provided that the disposition of such Purchaser’s or their property shall at all times be within such Purchaser’s or their control. Each Purchaser understands
that the Notes have not been registered under the Securities Act and may be resold only if registered pursuant to the provisions of the Securities Act or if an
exemption from registration is available, except under circumstances where neither such registration nor such an exemption is required by law, and that the
Company is not required to register the Notes.

Section 6.2. Source of Funds. Each Purchaser severally represents that at least one of the following statements is an accurate representation as to
each source of funds (a “Source”) to be used by such Purchaser to pay the purchase price of the Notes to be purchased by such Purchaser hereunder:
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(a) the Source is an “insurance company general account” (as the term is defined in the United States Department of Labor’s Prohibited
Transaction Exemption (“PTE”) 95-60) in respect of which the reserves and liabilities (as defined by the annual statement for life insurance
companies approved by the NAIC (the “NAIC Annual Statement”)) for the general account contract(s) held by or on behalf of any employee benefit
plan together with the amount of the reserves and liabilities for the general account contract(s) held by or on behalf of any other employee benefit
plans maintained by the same employer (or affiliate thereof as defined in PTE 95-60) or by the same employee organization in the general account do
not exceed 10% of the total reserves and liabilities of the general account (exclusive of separate account liabilities) plus surplus as set forth in the
NAIC Annual Statement filed with such Purchaser’s state of domicile; or

(b) the Source is a separate account that is maintained solely in connection with such Purchaser’s fixed contractual obligations under which
the amounts payable, or credited, to any employee benefit plan (or its related trust) that has any interest in such separate account (or to any
participant or beneficiary of such plan (including any annuitant)) are not affected in any manner by the investment performance of the separate
account; or

(c) the Source is either (i) an insurance company pooled separate account, within the meaning of PTE 90-1 or (ii) a bank collective
investment fund, within the meaning of the PTE 91-38 and, except as disclosed by such Purchaser to the Company in writing pursuant to this clause
(c), no employee benefit plan or group of plans maintained by the same employer or employee organization beneficially owns more than 10% of all
assets allocated to such pooled separate account or collective investment fund; or

(d) the Source constitutes assets of an “investment fund” (within the meaning of Part VI of PTE 84-14 (the “QPAM Exemption”)) managed
by a “qualified professional asset manager” or “QPAM” (within the meaning of Part VI of the QPAM Exemption), no employee benefit plan’s assets
that are managed by the QPAM in such investment fund, when combined with the assets of all other employee benefit plans established or
maintained by the same employer or by an affiliate (within the meaning of Part VI(c)(1) of the QPAM Exemption) of such employer or by the same
employee organization and managed by such QPAM, represent more than 20% of the total client assets managed by such QPAM, the conditions of
Part I(c) and (g) of the QPAM Exemption are satisfied, neither the QPAM nor a person controlling or controlled by the QPAM maintains an
ownership interest in the Company that would cause the QPAM and the Company to be “related” within the meaning of Part VI(h) of the QPAM
Exemption and (i) the identity of such QPAM and (ii) the names of any employee benefit plans whose assets in the investment fund, when combined
with the assets of all other employee benefit plans established or maintained by the same employer or by an affiliate (within the meaning of Part
VI(c)(1) of the QPAM Exemption) of such employer or by the same employee organization, represent 10% or more of the assets of such investment
fund, have been disclosed to the Company in writing pursuant to this clause (d); or

-13-



(e) the Source constitutes assets of a “plan(s)” (within the meaning of Part IV(h) of PTE 96-23 (the “INHAM Exemption”)) managed by an
“in-house asset manager” or “INHAM” (within the meaning of Part IV(a) of the INHAM Exemption), the conditions of Part I(a), (g) and (h) of the
INHAM Exemption are satisfied, neither the INHAM nor a person controlling or controlled by the INHAM (applying the definition of “control” in
Part IV(d)(3) of the INHAM Exemption) owns a 10% or more interest in the Company and (i) the identity of such INHAM and (ii) the name(s) of
the employee benefit plan(s) whose assets constitute the Source have been disclosed to the Company in writing pursuant to this clause (e); or

(f) the Source is a governmental plan; or

(g) the Source is one or more employee benefit plans, or a separate account or trust fund comprised of one or more employee benefit plans,
each of which has been identified to the Company in writing pursuant to this clause (g); or

(h) the Source does not include assets of any employee benefit plan, other than a plan exempt from the coverage of ERISA.

As used in this Section 6.2, the terms “employee benefit plan,” “governmental plan,” and “separate account” shall have the respective meanings assigned
to such terms in section 3 of ERISA.

SECTION 7. INFORMATION AS TO THE PARENT GUARANTOR AND THE COMPANY.

Section 7.1. Financial and Business Information. The Parent Guarantor shall deliver to each Purchaser and each holder of a Note that is an
Institutional Investor:

(a) Quarterly Statements - within 45 days (or such shorter period as is the earlier of (x) 15 days greater than the period applicable to the
filing of the Parent Guarantor’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the “Form 10-Q”) with the SEC regardless of whether the Parent Guarantor is
subject to the filing requirements thereof and (y) the date by which such financial statements are required to be delivered under any Material Credit
Facility or the date on which such corresponding financial statements are delivered under any Material Credit Facility if such delivery occurs earlier
than such required delivery date) after the end of each quarterly fiscal period in each fiscal year of the Parent Guarantor (other than the last quarterly
fiscal period of each such fiscal year), duplicate copies of,

(i) a consolidated balance sheet of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such quarter, and

(ii) consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries,
for such quarter and (in the case of the second and third quarters) for the portion of the fiscal year ending with such quarter,
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setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding periods in the previous fiscal year, all in reasonable detail, prepared
in accordance with GAAP applicable to quarterly financial statements generally, and certified by a Senior Financial Officer as fairly presenting, in all
material respects, the financial position of the companies being reported on and their results of operations and cash flows, subject to changes
resulting from year-end adjustments;

(b) Annual Statements - within 90 days (or such shorter period as is the earlier of (x) 15 days greater than the period applicable to the filing
of the Parent Guarantor’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Form 10-K”) with the SEC regardless of whether the Parent Guarantor is subject to
the filing requirements thereof and (y) the date by which such financial statements are required to be delivered under any Material Credit Facility or
the date on which such corresponding financial statements are delivered under any Material Credit Facility if such delivery occurs earlier than such
required delivery date) after the end of each fiscal year of the Parent Guarantor, duplicate copies of

(i) a consolidated balance sheet of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such year, and

(ii) consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries
for such year,

setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all in reasonable detail, prepared in accordance with GAAP,
and accompanied by an opinion thereon (without a “going concern” or similar qualification or exception and without any qualification or exception
as to the scope of the audit on which such opinion is based) of independent public accountants of recognized national standing, which opinion shall
state that such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the companies being reported upon and their
results of operations and cash flows and have been prepared in conformity with GAAP, and that the examination of such accountants in connection
with such financial statements has been made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, and that such audit provides a reasonable
basis for such opinion in the circumstances;

(c) SEC and Other Reports - promptly upon their becoming available, one copy of (i) each financial statement, report, notice, proxy
statement or similar document sent by the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries (x) to its creditors under any
Material Credit Facility (excluding information sent to such creditors in the ordinary course of administration of a credit facility, such as information
relating to pricing and borrowing availability) or (y) to its public Securities holders generally, and (ii) each regular or periodic report, each
registration statement (without exhibits except as expressly requested by such Purchaser or holder), and each prospectus and all amendments thereto
filed by the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries with the SEC and of all press releases and other statements made
available generally by the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries to the public concerning developments that are
Material;
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(d) Notice of Default or Event of Default - promptly, and in any event within 5 days after a Responsible Officer of the Parent Guarantor, the
Company becoming aware of the existence of any Default or Event of Default or that any Person has given any notice or taken any action with
respect to a claimed default hereunder or that any Person has given any notice or taken any action with respect to a claimed default of the type
referred to in Section 11(f), a written notice specifying the nature and period of existence thereof and what action the Company is taking or proposes
to take with respect thereto;

(e) Employee Benefits Matters - promptly, and in any event within 5 days after a Responsible Officer becoming aware of any of the
following, a written notice setting forth the nature thereof and the action, if any, that the Parent Guarantor, the Company or an ERISA Affiliate
proposes to take with respect thereto:

(i) with respect to any Plan, any reportable event, as defined in section 4043(c) of ERISA and the regulations thereunder, for which
notice thereof has not been waived pursuant to such regulations as in effect on the date hereof;

(ii) the taking by the PBGC of steps to institute, or the threatening by the PBGC of the institution of, proceedings under section
4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Plan, or the receipt by the Company or any
ERISA Affiliate of a notice from a Multiemployer Plan that such action has been taken by the PBGC with respect to such Multiemployer
Plan; or

(iii) any event, transaction or condition that could result in the incurrence of any liability by the Parent Guarantor, the Company or
any ERISA Affiliate pursuant to Title I or IV of ERISA or the penalty or excise tax provisions of the Code relating to a Plan, or in the
imposition of any Lien on any of the rights, properties or assets of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any ERISA Affiliate pursuant to
Title I or IV of ERISA or such penalty or excise tax provisions relating to a Plan, if such liability or Lien, taken together with any other
such liabilities or Liens then existing, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(f) Notices from Governmental Authority - promptly, and in any event within 30 days of receipt thereof, copies of any notice to the Parent
Guarantor, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries from any federal or state Governmental Authority relating to any order, ruling, statute
or other law or regulation that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(g) Resignation or Replacement of Auditors - within 10 days following the date on which the Parent Guarantor’s auditors resign or the
Parent Guarantor elects to
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change auditors, as the case may be, notification thereof, together with such further information as the Required Holders may request; and

(h) Requested Information - with reasonable promptness, such other data and information relating to the business, operations, affairs,
financial condition, assets or properties of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries (including actual copies of the
Parent Guarantor’s Form 10-Q and Form 10-K) or relating to the ability of the Company to perform its obligations hereunder and under the Notes or
relating to the ability of the Parent Guarantor to perform its obligations hereunder and under the Guaranty or the ability of any Subsidiary Guarantor
to perform its obligations under the Guaranty, in each such case as from time to time may be reasonably requested by any such Purchaser or holder
of a Note.

Section 7.2. Officer’s Certificate. Each set of financial statements delivered to a Purchaser or a holder of a Note pursuant to Section 7.1(a) or Section
7.1(b) shall be accompanied by a certificate of a Senior Financial Officer delivered within 45 days after the end of each quarterly fiscal period in each fiscal
year of the Parent Guarantor other than the last quarterly fiscal period of each such fiscal year (or, if sooner, the date by which comparable information is
delivered to the lenders under any Material Credit Facility) and within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Parent Guarantor (or, if sooner, the date
by which comparable information is delivered to the lenders under any Material Credit Facility), as the case may be:

(a) Covenant Compliance - setting forth the information from such financial statements that is required in order to establish whether the
Company was in compliance with the requirements of Section 10 during the quarterly or annual period covered by the financial statements then
being furnished (including with respect to each such provision that involves mathematical calculations, the information from such financial
statements that is required to perform such calculations) and detailed calculations of the maximum or minimum amount, ratio or percentage, as the
case may be, permissible under the terms of such Section, and the calculation of the amount, ratio or percentage then in existence. In the event that
the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any Subsidiary has made an election to measure any financial liability using fair value (which election is being
disregarded for purposes of determining compliance with this Agreement pursuant to Section 22.2) as to the period covered by any such financial
statement, such Senior Financial Officer’s certificate as to such period shall include a reconciliation from GAAP with respect to such election;

(b) Event of Default - certifying that such Senior Financial Officer has reviewed the relevant terms hereof and has made, or caused to be
made, under his or her supervision, a review of the transactions and conditions of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or their respective Subsidiaries
from the beginning of the quarterly or annual period covered by the statements then being furnished to the date of the certificate and that such review
shall not have disclosed the existence during such period of any condition or event that constitutes a Default or an Event of Default or, if any such
condition or event existed or exists (including, any such event or condition resulting from the failure of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any of
their respective Subsidiaries
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to comply with any Environmental Law), specifying the nature and period of existence thereof and what action the Parent Guarantor or the Company
shall have taken or proposes to take with respect thereto; and

(c) Subsidiary Guarantors - setting forth a list of all Subsidiaries that are Subsidiary Guarantors and certifying that each Subsidiary that is
required to be a Subsidiary Guarantor pursuant to Section 9.7 is a Subsidiary Guarantor, in each case, as of the date of such certificate of Senior
Financial Officer.

Section 7.3. Visitation. The Parent Guarantor and the Company shall permit the representatives of each Purchaser and each holder of a Note that is an
Institutional Investor:

(a) No Default - if no Default or Event of Default then exists, at the expense of such Purchaser or such holder and upon reasonable prior
notice to the Parent Guarantor and the Company, to visit the principal executive office of the Parent Guarantor or the Company, to discuss the affairs,
finances and accounts of the Parent Guarantor, the Company and their respective Subsidiaries with the Parent Guarantor’s and the Company’s
officers, and (with the consent of the Parent Guarantor and the Company, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld) their independent public
accountants, and (with the consent of the Parent Guarantor and the Company, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld) to visit the other
offices and properties of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or each of their respective Subsidiaries, all at such reasonable times and as often as may
be reasonably requested in writing; and

(b) Default - if a Default an Event of Default then exists, at the expense of the Parent Guarantor and the Company, to visit and inspect any
of the offices or properties of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries, to examine all their respective books of
account, records, reports and other papers, to make copies and extracts therefrom, and to discuss their respective affairs, finances and accounts with
their respective officers and independent public accountants (and by this provision each of the Parent Guarantor and the Company authorize said
accountants to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Parent Guarantor, the Company and their respective Subsidiaries), all at such times
and as often as may be requested.

Section 7.4. Electronic Delivery. Financial statements, opinions of independent certified public accountants, other information and Officer’s Certificates
that are required to be delivered by the Parent Guarantor pursuant to Sections 7.1(a), (b) or (c) and Section 7.2 shall be deemed to have been delivered if the
Parent Guarantor satisfies any of the following requirements with respect thereto:

(a) such financial statements satisfying the requirements of Section 7.1(a) or (b) and related Officer’s Certificate satisfying the requirements
of Section 7.2 and any other information required under Section 7.1(c) are delivered to each Purchaser or holder of a Note by e-mail at the e-mail
address set forth in such holder’s Purchaser Schedule or as communicated from time to time in a separate writing delivered to the Company;
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(b) the Parent Guarantor shall have timely filed such Form 10-Q or Form 10- K, satisfying the requirements of Section 7.1(a) or Section
7.1(b), as the case may be, with the SEC on EDGAR and shall have made such form and the related Officer’s Certificate satisfying the requirements
of Section 7.2 available on its home page on the internet, which is located at http://www.roireit.net as of the date of this Agreement;

(c) such financial statements satisfying the requirements of Section 7.1(a) or Section 7.1(b) and related Officer’s Certificate(s) satisfying the
requirements of Section 7.2 and any other information required under Section 7.1(c) are timely posted by or on behalf of the Parent Guarantor on
IntraLinks or on any other similar website to which each holder of Notes has free access; or

(d) the Parent Guarantor shall have timely filed any of the items referred to in Section 7.1(c) with the SEC on EDGAR and shall have made
such items available on its home page on the internet or on IntraLinks or on any other similar website to which each holder of Notes has free access;

provided however, that in no case shall access to such financial statements, other information and Officer’s Certificates be conditioned upon any waiver or
other agreement or consent (other than confidentiality provisions consistent with Section 20 of this Agreement); provided further, that in the case of any of
clauses (b), (c) or (d), the Parent Guarantor shall have given each holder of a Note prior written notice, which may be by e-mail or in accordance with Section
18, of such posting or filing in connection with each delivery, provided further, that upon request of any holder to receive paper copies of such forms,
financial statements, other information and Officer’s Certificates or to receive them by e-mail, the Parent Guarantor will promptly e-mail them or deliver such
paper copies, as the case may be, to such holder.

SECTION 8. PAYMENT AND PREPAYMENT OF THE NOTES.

Section 8.1. Maturity. As provided therein, the entire unpaid principal balance of each Note shall be due and payable on the Maturity Date thereof.

Section 8.2. Optional Prepayments with Make-Whole Amount. The Company may, at its option, upon notice as provided below, prepay at any
time all, or from time to time any part of, the Notes, in an amount not less than 5% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding in the case
of a partial prepayment, at 100% of the principal amount so prepaid, and the Make-Whole Amount determined for the prepayment date with respect to such
principal amount. The Company will give each holder of Notes written notice of each optional prepayment under this Section 8.2 not less than 10 days and
not more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for such prepayment unless the Company and the Required Holders agree to another time period pursuant to
Section 17. Each such notice shall specify such date (which shall be a Business Day), the aggregate principal amount of the Notes to be prepaid on such date,
the principal amount of each Note held by such holder to be prepaid (determined in accordance with Section 8.4), and the interest to be paid on the
prepayment date with respect to such principal amount being prepaid, and shall be accompanied by a certificate of a Senior Financial Officer as to the
estimated Make-Whole Amount due in connection with such prepayment (calculated as if
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the date of such notice were the date of the prepayment), setting forth the details of such computation. Two Business Days prior to such prepayment, the
Company shall deliver to each holder of Notes a certificate of a Senior Financial Officer specifying the calculation of such Make-Whole Amount as of the
specified prepayment date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Make-Whole Amount shall be due if the Notes are prepaid during the last thirty (30) days of
the term of such Notes.

Section 8.3. Change in Control.

(a) Notice of Change in Control. The Company will, within five (5) days after the occurrence of any Change in Control, or, at the Company’s option,
prior to any Change in Control but after public announcement of the Change in Control, give written notice (the “Change in Control Notice”) of such Change
in Control to each holder of Notes. Such Change in Control Notice shall contain and constitute an offer to prepay the Notes as described in Section 8.3(b)
hereof and shall be accompanied by the certificate described in Section 8.3(e).

(b) Offer to Prepay Notes. The offer to prepay Notes shall be an offer to prepay, in accordance with and subject to this Section 8.3, all, but not less
than all, the Notes held by each holder on a date specified in such offer (the “Proposed Prepayment Date”). Such Proposed Prepayment Date shall be not less
than 15 days and not more than 30 days after the date of such offer. The offer to prepay Notes, if sent prior to consummation of the Change in Control, will
state that the Change in Control offer is conditioned on the Change in Control occurring on or prior to the Proposed Prepayment Date.

(c) Acceptance/Rejection. A holder of Notes may accept the offer to prepay made pursuant to this Section 8.3 by causing a notice of such acceptance
to be delivered to the Company not later than 15 days after receipt by such holder of the most recent offer of prepayment. A failure by a holder of Notes to
respond to an offer to prepay made pursuant to this Section 8.3 shall be deemed to constitute a rejection of such offer by such holder.

(d) Prepayment. Prepayment of the Notes to be prepaid pursuant to this Section 8.3 shall be at 100% of the principal amount of such Notes, together
with interest on such Notes accrued to the date of prepayment, but without Make-Whole Amount or other premium. The prepayment shall be made on the
Proposed Prepayment Date.

(e) Officer’s Certificate. Each offer to prepay the Notes pursuant to this Section 8.3 shall be accompanied by a certificate, executed by a Senior
Financial Officer and dated the date of such offer, specifying: (i) the Proposed Prepayment Date; (ii) that such offer is made pursuant to this Section 8.3; (iii)
the principal amount of each Note offered to be prepaid; (iv) the interest that would be due on each Note offered to be prepaid, accrued to the Proposed
Prepayment Date; (v) that the conditions of this Section 8.3 have been fulfilled; and (vi) in reasonable detail, the nature and date or proposed date of the
Change in Control.
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(f) Certain Definitions. “Change in Control” means an event or series of events by which:

(a) the Parent Guarantor fails to own at least 80% of the Voting Stock of the Company;

(b) any “person” or “group” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, but excluding
any employee benefit plan of such person or its subsidiaries, and any person or entity acting in its capacity as trustee, agent or other fiduciary or
administrator of any such plan) becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
except that a person or group shall be deemed to have “beneficial ownership” of all Equity Interests that such person or group has the right to
acquire, whether such right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time (such right, an “option right”)), directly or indirectly, of 30%
or more of the Equity Interests of the Parent Guarantor entitled to vote for members of the board of directors or equivalent governing body of the
Parent Guarantor on a fully-diluted basis (and taking into account all such securities that such person or group has the right to acquire pursuant to
any option right); provided that, notwithstanding the above, unexercised warrants with respect to Equity Interests of the Parent Guarantor shall not be
deemed to be ownership of Equity Interests of the Parent Guarantor unless and until such warrants are exercised; or

(c) during any period of 12 consecutive months, a majority of the members of the board of directors or other equivalent governing body
of the Company cease to be composed of individuals (i) who were members of that board or equivalent governing body on the first day of such
period, (ii) whose election or nomination to that board or equivalent governing body was approved by individuals referred to in clause (i) above
constituting at the time of such election or nomination at least a majority of that board or equivalent governing body or (iii) whose election or
nomination to that board or other equivalent governing body was approved by individuals referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) above constituting at the
time of such election or nomination at least a majority of that board or equivalent governing body (excluding, in the case of both clause (ii) and
clause (iii), any individual whose initial nomination for, or assumption of office as, a member of that board or equivalent governing body occurs as a
result of an actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents for the election or removal of one or more directors by any person or group other
than a solicitation for the election of one or more directors by or on behalf of the board of directors).

Section 8.4. Allocation of Partial Prepayments. In the case of each partial prepayment of the Notes pursuant to Section 8.2, the principal amount
of the Notes to be prepaid shall be allocated among all of the Notes at the time outstanding in proportion, as nearly as practicable, to the respective unpaid
principal amounts thereof not theretofore called for prepayment. All partial prepayments made pursuant to Section 8.3 shall be applied only to the Notes of
the holders who have elected to participate in such prepayment.
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Section 8.5. Maturity; Surrender, Etc. In the case of each prepayment of Notes pursuant to this Section 8, the principal amount of each Note to be
prepaid shall mature and become due and payable on the date fixed for such prepayment, together with interest on such principal amount accrued to such date
and the applicable Make-Whole Amount, if any. From and after such date, unless the Company shall fail to pay such principal amount when so due and
payable, together with the interest and Make-Whole Amount, if any, as aforesaid, interest on such principal amount shall cease to accrue. Any Note paid or
prepaid in full shall be surrendered to the Company and cancelled and shall not be reissued, and no Note shall be issued in lieu of any prepaid principal
amount of any Note.

Section 8.6. Purchase of Notes. Neither the Parent Guarantor nor the Company will and nor will either of them permit any Affiliate to purchase,
redeem, prepay or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any of the outstanding Notes except (a) upon the payment or prepayment of the Notes in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Notes or (b) pursuant to an offer to purchase made by the Parent Guarantor, the Company or an Affiliate
pro rata to the holders of all Notes at the time outstanding upon the same terms and conditions. Any such offer shall provide each holder with sufficient
information to enable it to make an informed decision with respect to such offer, and shall remain open for at least 15 Business Days. If the holders of more
than 15% of the principal amount of the Notes then outstanding accept such offer, the Company shall promptly notify the remaining holders of such fact and
the expiration date for the acceptance by holders of Notes of such offer shall be extended by the number of days necessary to give each such remaining holder
at least 10 Business Days from its receipt of such notice to accept such offer. The Company will promptly cancel all Notes acquired by it, the Parent
Guarantor or any Affiliate pursuant to any payment, prepayment or purchase of Notes pursuant to this Agreement and no Notes may be issued in substitution
or exchange for any such Notes.

Section 8.7. Make-Whole Amount.

The term “Make-Whole Amount” means, with respect to any Note, an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the Discounted Value of the Remaining
Scheduled Payments with respect to the Called Principal of such Note over the amount of such Called Principal, provided that the Make-Whole Amount may
in no event be less than zero. For the purposes of determining the Make-Whole Amount, the following terms have the following meanings: “Called Principal”
means, with respect to any Note, the principal of such Note that is to be prepaid pursuant to Section 8.2 or has become or is declared to be immediately due
and payable pursuant to Section 12.1, as the context requires.

“Discounted Value” means, with respect to the Called Principal of any Note, the amount obtained by discounting all Remaining Scheduled
Payments with respect to such Called Principal from their respective scheduled due dates to the Settlement Date with respect to such Called Principal, in
accordance with accepted financial practice and at a discount factor (applied on the same periodic basis as that on which interest on the Notes is payable)
equal to the Reinvestment Yield with respect to such Called Principal.
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“Reinvestment Yield” means, with respect to the Called Principal of any Note, the sum of (a) .50% plus (b) the yield to maturity implied by the
“Ask Yield(s)” reported as of 10:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the second Business Day preceding the Settlement Date with respect to such Called
Principal, on the display designated as “Page PX1” (or such other display as may replace Page PX1) on Bloomberg Financial Markets for the most recently
issued actively traded on-the-run U.S. Treasury securities (“Reported”) having a maturity equal to the Remaining Average Life of such Called Principal as of
such Settlement Date. If there are no such U.S. Treasury securities Reported having a maturity equal to such Remaining Average Life, then such implied yield
to maturity will be determined by (i) converting U.S. Treasury bill quotations to bond equivalent yields in accordance with accepted financial practice and (ii)
interpolating linearly between the “Ask Yields” Reported for the applicable most recently issued actively traded on-the-run U.S. Treasury securities with the
maturities (1) closest to and greater than such Remaining Average Life and (2) closest to and less than such Remaining Average Life. The Reinvestment Yield
shall be rounded to the number of decimal places as appears in the interest rate of the applicable Note.

If such yields are not Reported or the yields Reported as of such time are not ascertainable (including by way of interpolation), then “Reinvestment
Yield” means, with respect to the Called Principal of any Note, the sum of (x) .50% plus (y) the yield to maturity implied by the U.S. Treasury constant
maturity yields reported, for the latest day for which such yields have been so reported as of the second Business Day preceding the Settlement Date with
respect to such Called Principal, in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (or any comparable successor publication) for the U.S. Treasury constant
maturity having a term equal to the Remaining Average Life of such Called Principal as of such Settlement Date. If there is no such U.S. Treasury constant
maturity having a term equal to such Remaining Average Life, such implied yield to maturity will be determined by interpolating linearly between (1) the
U.S. Treasury constant maturity so reported with the term closest to and greater than such Remaining Average Life and (2) the U.S. Treasury constant
maturity so reported with the term closest to and less than such Remaining Average Life. The Reinvestment Yield shall be rounded to the number of decimal
places as appears in the interest rate of the applicable Note.

“Remaining Average Life” means, with respect to any Called Principal, the number of years obtained by dividing (i) such Called Principal into (ii)
the sum of the products obtained by multiplying (a) the principal component of each Remaining Scheduled Payment with respect to such Called Principal by
(b) the number of years, computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months and calculated to two decimal places, that will elapse
between the Settlement Date with respect to such Called Principal and the scheduled due date of such Remaining Scheduled Payment.

“Remaining Scheduled Payments” means, with respect to the Called Principal of any Note, all payments of such Called Principal and interest
thereon that would be due after the Settlement Date with respect to such Called Principal if no payment of such Called Principal were made prior to its
scheduled due date, provided that if such Settlement Date is not a date on which interest payments are due to be made under the Notes, then the amount of the
next succeeding scheduled interest payment will be reduced by the amount of interest accrued to such
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Settlement Date and required to be paid on such Settlement Date pursuant to Section 8.2 or Section 12.1.

“Settlement Date” means, with respect to the Called Principal of any Note, the date on which such Called Principal is to be prepaid pursuant to
Section 8.2 or has become or is declared to be immediately due and payable pursuant to Section 12.1, as the context requires.

Section 8.8. Payments Due on Non-Business Days. Anything in this Agreement or the Notes to the contrary notwithstanding, (x) except as set forth
in clause (y), any payment of interest on any Note that is due on a date that is not a Business Day shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day without
including the additional days elapsed in the computation of the interest payable on such next succeeding Business Day; and (y) any payment of principal of or
Make-Whole Amount on any Note (including principal due on the Maturity Date of such Note) that is due on a date that is not a Business Day shall be made
on the next succeeding Business Day and shall include the additional days elapsed in the computation of interest payable on such next succeeding Business
Day.

SECTION 9. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS.

The Company and the Parent Guarantor, jointly and severally, covenant that, from the date of this Agreement until the Closing, and thereafter so long
as any of the Notes are outstanding:

Section 9.1. Compliance with Laws. Without limiting Section 10.4, the Company and the Parent Guarantor will, and will cause each of their
respective Subsidiaries to, comply with all laws, ordinances or governmental rules or regulations to which each of them is subject (including ERISA,
Environmental Laws, the USA PATRIOT Act and the other laws and regulations that are referred to in Section 5.16) and will obtain and maintain in effect all
licenses, certificates, permits, franchises and other governmental authorizations necessary to the ownership of their respective properties or to the conduct of
their respective businesses, in each case to the extent necessary to ensure that non-compliance with such laws, ordinances or governmental rules or
regulations or failures to obtain or maintain in effect such licenses, certificates, permits, franchises and other governmental authorizations could not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 9.2. Insurance. The Company and the Parent Guarantor will, and will cause each of their respective Subsidiaries to, maintain, with
financially sound and reputable insurers, insurance with respect to their respective properties and businesses against such casualties and contingencies, of
such types, on such terms and in such amounts (including deductibles, co-insurance and self-insurance, if adequate reserves are maintained with respect
thereto) as is customary in the case of entities of established reputations engaged in the same or a similar business and similarly situated.

Section 9.3. Maintenance of Properties. The Company and the Parent Guarantor will, and will cause each of their respective Subsidiaries to,
maintain and keep, or cause to be maintained and kept, their respective properties in good repair, working order and condition
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(other than ordinary wear and tear), so that the business carried on in connection therewith may be properly conducted at all times, provided that this Section
9.3 shall not prevent either the Company, the Parent Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries from discontinuing the operation and the maintenance of
any of its properties if such discontinuance is desirable in the conduct of its business and the Company and the Parent Guarantor have concluded that such
discontinuance could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 9.4. Payment of Taxes and Claims. The Company and the Parent Guarantor will, and will cause each of their respective Subsidiaries to, file
all tax returns required to be filed in any jurisdiction and to pay and discharge all taxes shown to be due and payable on such returns and all other taxes,
assessments, governmental charges, or levies imposed on them or any of their properties, assets, income or franchises, to the extent the same have become
due and payable and before they have become delinquent and all claims for which sums have become due and payable that have or might become a Lien on
properties or assets of the Company, the Parent Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries; provided that neither the Company, the Parent Guarantor nor
any of their respective Subsidiaries need pay any such tax, assessment, charge, levy or claim if (i) the amount, applicability or validity thereof is contested by
the Company, the Parent Guarantor or such Subsidiary on a timely basis in good faith and in appropriate proceedings, and the Company, the Parent Guarantor
or such Subsidiary has established adequate reserves therefor in accordance with GAAP on the books of the Company, the Parent Guarantor or such
Subsidiary or (ii) the nonpayment of all such taxes, assessments, charges, levies and claims could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected
to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 9.5. Corporate Existence, Etc. Subject to Section 10.2, the Company and the Parent Guarantor will at all times preserve and keep in full
force and effect their respective legal existence. Subject to Sections 10.2, the Company and the Parent Guarantor will at all times preserve and keep in full
force and effect the legal existence of each of their respective Subsidiaries (unless merged into an Obligor or a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary) and all rights and
franchises of the Obligors and their respective Subsidiaries unless, in the good faith judgment of the Company and the Parent Guarantor, the termination of or
failure to preserve and keep in full force and effect such legal existence, right or franchise could not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse
Effect.

Section 9.6. Books and Records. Each of the Company and the Parent Guarantor will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, maintain proper
books of record and account in conformity with GAAP and all applicable requirements of any Governmental Authority having legal or regulatory jurisdiction
over the Obligors or such Subsidiary, as the case may be. Each of the Company and the Parent Guarantor will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, keep
books, records and accounts which, in reasonable detail, accurately reflect all transactions and dispositions of assets. The Obligors and their Subsidiaries have
devised a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that their respective books, records, and accounts accurately
reflect all transactions and dispositions of assets and the Obligors will, and will cause each of their Subsidiaries to, continue to maintain such system.
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Section 9.7. Subsidiary Guarantors. (a) Each of the Parent Guarantor and the Company will cause each Material Subsidiary and each other
Subsidiary that guarantees or otherwise becomes liable at any time, whether as a borrower or an additional or co-borrower or otherwise, for or in respect of
any Indebtedness under any Material Credit Facility to concurrently therewith:

(i) enter into a joinder agreement to the Guaranty in form and substance satisfactory to the Required Holders providing for the guaranty
by such Subsidiary, on a joint and several basis with all other such Subsidiaries and the Parent Guarantor, of (x) the prompt payment in full when due
of all amounts payable by the Company pursuant to the Notes (whether for principal, interest, Make-Whole Amount or otherwise) and this
Agreement, including all indemnities, fees and expenses payable by the Company thereunder and (y) the prompt, full and faithful performance,
observance and discharge by the Company of each and every covenant, agreement, undertaking and provision required pursuant to the Notes or this
Agreement to be performed, observed or discharged by it (a “Joinder to the Guaranty”); and

(ii) deliver the following to each holder of a Note:

(A) an executed joinder to the Guaranty;

(B) a certificate signed by an authorized responsible officer of such Subsidiary containing representations and warranties on behalf
of such Subsidiary to the same effect, mutatis mutandis, as those contained in Sections 5.1, 5.2, 5.6, 5.7, 5.16 of this Agreement (but
with respect to such Subsidiary and such joinder to the Guaranty rather than the Company);

(C) all documents as may be reasonably requested by the Required Holders to evidence the due organization, continuing existence
and, where applicable, good standing of such Subsidiary and the due authorization by all requisite action on the part of such Subsidiary
of the execution and delivery of such joinder to the Guaranty and the performance by such Subsidiary of its obligations thereunder; and

(D) an opinion of counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Required Holders covering such matters relating to such Subsidiary and
such joinder to the Guaranty as the Required Holders may reasonably request.

(b) At the election of the Company and by written notice to each holder of Notes, any Subsidiary Guarantor may be discharged from all of its
obligations and liabilities under its Guaranty and shall be automatically released from its obligations thereunder without the need for the execution or delivery
of any other document by the holders, provided that (i) such Subsidiary is no longer a Material Subsidiary, (ii) if such Subsidiary Guarantor is a guarantor or
is otherwise liable for or in respect of any Material Credit Facility, then such Subsidiary Guarantor has been released and discharged (or will be released and
discharged concurrently with the release of such Subsidiary Guarantor under its Guaranty) under such Material Credit Facility, (iii) at the time of,
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and after giving effect to, such release and discharge, no Default or Event of Default shall be existing, (iv) no amount is then due and payable under such
Guaranty, (v) if in connection with such Subsidiary Guarantor being released and discharged under any Material Credit Facility, any fee or other form of
consideration is given to any holder of Indebtedness under such Material Credit Facility for such release, the holders of the Notes shall receive equivalent
consideration substantially concurrently therewith and (vi) each holder shall have received a certificate of a Responsible Officer certifying as to the matters
set forth in clauses (i) through (v).

Section 9.8. Most Favored Lender Status. (a)(i) If at any time after the date of this Agreement a Material Credit Facility contains a financial
covenant relating to the matters addressed in Section 10.10(b) (Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio ), 10.10(c) (Consolidated Leverage Ratio),
10.10(e) (Consolidated Unencumbered Leverage Ratio) or 10.10(f) (Consolidated Secured Indebtedness) (regardless of whether such provision is labeled or
otherwise characterized as a covenant, a definition or a default) by the Company or the Parent Guarantor that is more favorable to the lenders under such
Material Credit Facility than the covenants, definitions and/or defaults contained in Sections 10.10(b), 10.10(c) 10.10(e) or 10.10(f), as the case may be, of
this Agreement (any such provision (including any necessary definition), a “More Favorable Covenant”), then the Company shall provide a Most Favored
Lender Notice in respect of such More Favorable Covenant. Unless waived in writing by the Required Holders within 15 days after each holder’s receipt of
such notice, such More Favorable Covenant shall be deemed automatically incorporated by reference into Section 10 of this Agreement, mutatis mutandis, as
if set forth in full herein, effective as of the date when such More Favorable Covenant shall have become effective under such Material Credit Facility.

(ii) If at any time after the date of this Agreement (A) any Material Credit Facility shall contain (I) a financial covenant relating to the matters
addressed in Section 10.10(a) (Consolidated Tangible Net Worth), 10.10(d) (Distribution Limitation), 10.10(g) (Consolidated Unencumbered Interest
Coverage Ratio), or 10.10(h) (Consolidated Secured Recourse Indebtedness) or (II) a financial covenant not substantively expressly provided for in this
Agreement (regardless of whether such provision is labeled or otherwise characterized as a covenant, a definition or a default) (any such provision described
in the preceding clauses (I) and (II) (including any necessary definition), a “Floating Financial Covenant”) or (B) all Material Credit Facilities shall cease to
contain one or more of the Floating Financial Covenants, then the Company shall provide a Floating Financial Covenant Notice in respect of such Floating
Financial Covenant. Upon each holder’s receipt of such notice, the Floating Financial Covenant most favorable to the lenders as among all Material Credit
Facilities shall be deemed automatically to replace the corresponding Floating Financial Covenant contained in Section 10 of this Agreement, mutatis
mutandis, as if set forth in full herein or to be incorporated herein, as the case may be, or, alternatively, if all Material Credit Facilities shall cease to have a
particular Floating Financial Covenant, the corresponding Floating Financial Covenant contained in Section 10 or otherwise deemed to be a part of this
Agreement shall be deemed automatically removed and of no further force and effect, in each case effective as of the date when such Floating Financial
Covenant shall have become more favorable to the Company or the Parent Guarantor or shall have ceased to be in effect under all Material Credit Facilities.
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(b) Any More Favorable Covenant or Floating Financial Covenant incorporated into this Agreement (herein referred to as an “Incorporated
Covenant”) pursuant to this Section 9.8 (i) shall be deemed automatically amended herein to reflect any subsequent amendments made such that the
Incorporated Covenant most favorable to the lenders as among the Material Credit Facilities shall apply for the purposes of this Agreement; provided that, if a
Default or an Event of Default then exists and the amendment of such More Favorable Covenant or Floating Financial Covenant would make such covenant
less restrictive on the Company or the Parent Guarantor, such Incorporated Covenant shall only be deemed automatically amended at such time, if it should
occur, when such Default or Event of Default no longer exists and (ii) any Incorporated Covenant that constitutes a Floating Financial Covenant shall be
deemed automatically deleted from this Agreement at such time as such Incorporated Covenant is deleted from or otherwise not a part of all Material Credit
Facilities by means of amendment, modification, termination or by virtue of any applicable Material Credit Facility ceasing to be a Material Credit Facility;
provided that, if a Default or an Event of Default then exists, such Incorporated Covenant shall only be deemed automatically deleted from this Agreement at
such time, if it should occur, when such Default or Event of Default no longer exists; provided further, however, that if any fee or other consideration shall be
given to the lenders under one or more such Material Credit Facilities solely in consideration for such amendment or deletion, the equivalent of the most
favorable (to the lenders) of such fees or other consideration shall be given, pro rata, to the holders of the Notes.

(c) (i) “Most Favored Lender Notice” means, in respect of any More Favorable Covenant, a written notice to each of the holders of the Notes
delivered promptly, and in any event within twenty (20) Business Days after the inclusion of such More Favorable Covenant in any Material Credit Facility
(including by way of amendment or other modification of any existing provision thereof) from a Responsible Officer referring to the provisions of this
Section 9.9 and setting forth a reasonably detailed description of such More Favorable Covenant (including any defined terms used therein) and related
explanatory calculations, as applicable.

(ii) “Floating Financial Covenant Notice” means, in respect of any Floating Financial Covenant, a written notice to each of the holders of the Notes
delivered promptly, and in any event within twenty (20) Business Days after the effectiveness of such Floating Financial Covenant as among all Material
Credit Facilities (including by way of amendment or other modification of any existing provisions thereof, termination of one or more such Material Credit
Facilities or cessation of one or more such Material Credit Facilities to be a Material Credit Facility) from a Responsible Officer referring to the provisions of
this Section 9.8 and setting forth a reasonably detailed description of such Floating Financial Covenant (including any defined terms used therein) and related
explanatory calculations, as applicable.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the covenants and related definitions in Sections 10.10(b), (c), (e) and (f) as of the date of this Agreement shall
never be made less restrictive on the Company or Parent Guarantor than such covenants and such definitions are as of the date of this Agreement.

Section 9.9. REIT Status. For the year ended December 31, 2016 and all times thereafter, the Parent Guarantor will, and will cause each of its
Subsidiaries to, operate its
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business at all times so as to satisfy all requirements necessary for the Parent Guarantor to qualify and maintain its qualification as a real estate investment
trust under Sections 856 through 860 (or other applicable provisions) of the Code.

Section 9.10. Compliance with Material Contracts. Each Obligor shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, perform and observe all the
terms and provisions of each Material Contract to be performed or observed by it, maintain each such Material Contract in full force and effect, enforce each
such Material Contract in accordance with its terms, take all such action to such end as may be from time to time requested by the Required Holders and,
upon request of the Required Holders, make to each other party to each such Material Contract such demands and requests for information and reports or for
action as any Obligor is entitled to make under such Material Contract.

Section 9.11. Designation as Senior Debt. Each Obligor shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, ensure that all Note Obligations are
designated as “Senior Indebtedness” of and are at least pari passu with all unsecured debt of such Obligor and each Subsidiary.

Section 9.12. Public Company Status. Unless in connection with a Change in Control, the Parent Guarantor shall take such action as is necessary to
(a) remain a public company subject to regulation by the SEC and (b) be listed on the NASDAQ or other national stock exchange.

If the Company fails to comply with any provision of Section 9 on or after the date of this Agreement and prior to the Closing, then any of the Purchasers
may elect not to purchase the Notes on the date of Closing that is specified in Section 3.

SECTION 10. NEGATIVE COVENANTS.

The Company and the Parent Guarantor, jointly and severally, covenant that, from the date of this Agreement until the Closing and thereafter so long as any
of the Notes are outstanding:

Section 10.1. Transactions with Affiliates. Each of the Company and the Parent Guarantor will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, enter
into directly or indirectly any transaction or group of related transactions (including the purchase, lease, sale or exchange of properties of any kind or the
rendering of any service) with any Affiliate (other than the Obligor or another Subsidiary), except (i) in the ordinary course and pursuant to the reasonable
requirements of the Company’s, the Parent Guarantor’s or such Subsidiary’s business and (ii) upon fair and reasonable terms no less favorable to the Parent
Guarantor, the Company or such Subsidiary than would be obtainable in a comparable arm’s-length transaction with a Person not an Affiliate.

Section 10.2. Fundamental Changes. No Obligor shall, nor shall they permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, merge, dissolve, liquidate or
consolidate with or into another Person, except that so long as no Default exists or would result therefrom, (a) the Company may merge or consolidate with
any of its Subsidiaries provided that the Company is the continuing or
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surviving Person, (b) the Parent Guarantor may merge or consolidate with any of its Subsidiaries (other than the Company); provided that the Parent
Guarantor is the continuing or surviving Person, (c) any Subsidiary may merge or consolidate with any other Subsidiary; provided that such merger or
consolidation shall not cause a Default or Event of Default and provided further that if an Obligor is a party to such transaction, such Obligor is the surviving
Person (provided that if the Company is one of such Obligors, the Company shall be the surviving Person) and (d) any Subsidiary that is not an Obligor or
UAP Subsidiary may dissolve, liquidate or wind up its affairs at any time provided that such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, as applicable, could not
have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 10.3. Line of Business. The Parent Guarantor and the Company will not, and will not permit any of their respective Subsidiaries to engage
in any business if, as a result, the general nature of the business in which the Parent Guarantor and the Company and each of their respective Subsidiaries,
taken as a whole, would then be engaged would be substantially changed from the general nature of the business in which the Parent Guarantor, the Company
and each of their respective Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are engaged on the date of this Agreement as described in the Memorandum and any extensions
thereof.

Section 10.4. Economic Sanctions, Etc. The Company and the Parent Guarantor will not and will not permit any Controlled Entity to (a) become
(including by virtue of being owned or controlled by a Blocked Person), own or control a Blocked Person or (b) directly or indirectly have any investment in
or engage in any dealing or transaction (including any investment, dealing or transaction involving the proceeds of the Notes) with any Person if such
investment, dealing or transaction (i) would cause any Purchaser or holder or any affiliate of such Purchaser or holder to be in violation of, or subject to
sanctions under, any law or regulation applicable to such holder, or (ii) is prohibited by or subject to sanctions under any U.S. Economic Sanctions Laws.

Section 10.5. Liens. From and after the date of Closing, no Obligor shall, nor shall they permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, create, incur,
assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon any of its property, assets or revenues, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, other than the following:

(a) Liens pursuant to any Note Document;

(b) Liens (other than Liens imposed under ERISA) for taxes, assessments or governmental charges or levies not yet due and payable or
which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained
on the books of the applicable Person in accordance with GAAP;

(c) statutory Liens of landlords and Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen and suppliers and other Liens imposed
by law or pursuant to customary reservations or retentions of title arising in the ordinary course of business, provided that such Liens secure only
amounts not overdue for more than 30 days or are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves determined
in accordance with GAAP have been established;
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(d) pledges or deposits in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance and
other social security legislation, other than any Lien imposed by ERISA;

(e) deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts and leases (other than Indebtedness not otherwise permitted pursuant to
Section 10.7), statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary
course of business;

(f) easements, rights-of-way, restrictions, restrictive covenants, encroachments, protrusions and other similar encumbrances affecting
real property which, in the aggregate, are not substantial in amount, and which do not in any case materially detract from the value of the property
subject thereto or materially interfere with the ordinary conduct of the business of the applicable Person;

(g) Liens securing judgments for the payment of money (or appeal or other surety bonds relating to such judgments) not constituting an
Event of Default under Section 11(j);

(h) leases or subleases (and the rights of the tenants thereunder) granted to others not interfering in any material respect with the
business of any Obligor or any Subsidiary;

(i) any interest of title of a lessor under, and Liens arising from UCC financing statements (or equivalent filings, registrations or
agreements in foreign jurisdictions) relating to, leases permitted by this Agreement;

(j) Liens deemed to exist in connection with Investments in repurchase agreements permitted under Section 10.6(a);

(k) normal and customary rights of setoff upon deposits of cash in favor of banks or other depository institutions;

(l) Liens of a collection bank arising under Section 4-210 of the Uniform Commercial Code on items in the course of collection;

(m) Liens existing on the date hereof and listed on Schedule 10.5 and any renewals or extensions thereof, provided that the property
covered thereby is not materially changed; and

(n) other Liens incurred in connection with Consolidated Funded Indebtedness, including the Indebtedness evidenced by a Primary
Credit Facility, as long as, after giving effect thereto, the Obligors are in compliance with the financial covenants in Section 10.10, on a pro forma
basis as if such Lien had been incurred as of the last day of the most recent fiscal quarter for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant
to Section 7.1 (or if such Lien exists as of the date of Closing, as of June 30, 2016); provided that (i) the Obligors and UAP Subsidiaries may not
grant a Lien on any UAP Property or the Equity Interests in any Subsidiary except in favor of the holders of the Notes and, subject to clause (ii) of
this proviso, the lenders under the Primary Credit Facilities to secure the obligations thereunder and (ii) no Obligor or UAP Subsidiary may grant
any Lien on any of its property, assets or revenues in favor of the lenders under the Primary Credit Facilities without effectively providing that all
obligations of the Company and the Guarantors hereunder, under the Guaranty and under the Notes, shall be secured equally and ratably with such
Primary Credit Facilities pursuant to agreements in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Required Holders.
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Section 10.6. Investments. No Obligor shall, nor shall they permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, make any Investments, except:

(a) Investments held in the form of cash or Cash Equivalents;

(b) Investments in any Person that is a Subsidiary after giving effect to such Investment;

(c) Reserved;

(d) Investments consisting of (i) extensions of credit in the nature of the performance of bids, (ii) accounts receivable or notes
receivable arising from the grant of trade contracts and leases (other than credit) in the ordinary course of business, and (iii) Investments received in
satisfaction or partial satisfaction thereof from financially troubled account debtors to the extent reasonably necessary in order to prevent or limit
loss;

(e) Guarantees permitted by Section 10.7;

(f) Investments existing as of the date of Closing and set forth in Schedule 10.6; and

(g) other Investments; provided that, when included with Investments set forth on Schedule 10.6, (i) Investments in unimproved land,
in the aggregate at any one time outstanding, shall not exceed 5% of Total Asset Value and (ii) Investments in all unimproved land holdings, non-
income producing Real Property Assets, construction in progress, partnerships or joint ventures and mortgage loans, in the aggregate at any one time
outstanding, shall not exceed 25% of Total Asset Value.

Notwithstanding anything in this Section 10.6 to the contrary, no Obligor shall permit a UAP Subsidiary to have any Investment, other than its UAP Property
and cash or Cash Equivalents produced from the ownership of such UAP Property.
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Section 10.7. Indebtedness. No Obligor shall, nor shall they permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist
any Indebtedness, except:

(a) Indebtedness under the Note Documents;

(b) intercompany Indebtedness permitted under Section 10.6;

(c) obligations (contingent or otherwise) existing or arising under any Swap Contract, provided that (i) such obligations are (or were)
entered into by such Person in the ordinary course of business for the purpose of directly mitigating risks associated with liabilities, commitments,
investments, assets, or property held or reasonably anticipated by such Person, or changes in the value of securities issued by such Person, and not
for purposes of speculation or taking a “market view”; and (ii) such Swap Contract does not contain any provision exonerating the non-defaulting
party from its obligation to make payments on outstanding transactions to the defaulting party;

(d) without duplication, Guarantees by an Obligor or any Subsidiary in respect of any Indebtedness otherwise permitted hereunder;

(e) Indebtedness set forth in Schedule 10.7 (and renewals, refinancing and extensions thereof), provided that the amount of such
Indebtedness is not increased at the time of such refinancing, renewal or extension except by an amount equal to a reasonable premium or other
reasonable amount paid, and fees and expenses reasonably incurred, in connection with such refinancing and by an amount equal to any existing
commitments utilized thereunder (for purposes of clarity, it is understood that Funded Indebtedness on Schedule 10.7 is included in calculating the
financial covenants in Section 10.10); and

(f) other Funded Indebtedness (including (i) any portion of any renewal, financing, or extension of Indebtedness set forth in Schedule
10.7 to the extent such portion does not meet the criteria set forth the in the proviso of clause (e) above and (ii) Indebtedness evidenced by the
Primary Credit Facilities) as long as, after giving effect thereto, the Obligors are in compliance with the financial covenants in Section 10.10, on a
pro forma basis as if such Indebtedness had been incurred as of the last day of the most recent fiscal quarter for which financial statements have been
delivered pursuant to Section 7.1 (or if such Indebtedness exists as of the date of Closing, as of June 30, 2016).

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no Obligor shall permit a UAP Subsidiary to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any
Indebtedness except, subject to compliance with Section 9.7, Indebtedness which would be included in Consolidated Unsecured Indebtedness.
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Section 10.8. Dispositions. No Obligor shall, nor shall they permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, make any Disposition or enter into any
agreement to make any Disposition, except:

(a) Dispositions of obsolete or worn out property, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, in the ordinary course of business;

(b) Dispositions of inventory in the ordinary course of business;

(c) Dispositions of equipment or property to the extent that (i) such property is exchanged for credit against the purchase price of similar
replacement property or (ii) the proceeds of such Disposition are reasonably promptly applied to the purchase price of such replacement property;
provided that if the property disposed of is a UAP Property it is removed from the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value;

(d) Dispositions of property by any Subsidiary to an Obligor or to a Subsidiary; provided that at the time of such Disposition, no Default or
Event of Default shall exist or would result from such Disposition;

(e) Dispositions permitted by Section 10.2;

(f) Dispositions by the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries not otherwise permitted under this Section 10.8; provided that (i) at the time of
such Disposition, no Default or Event of Default shall exist or would result from such Disposition, (ii) after giving effect thereto, the Obligors are in
compliance with the financial covenants in Section 10.10, on a pro forma basis as if such Disposition had been incurred as of the last day of the most
recent fiscal quarter for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 7.1 and (iii) the aggregate book value of all property
Disposed of in reliance on this clause (f), shall not exceed fifteen percent (15%) of Consolidated Total Asset Value for each fiscal year;

(g) Dispositions by the Parent Guarantor of any partnership interest in the Company that does not constitute Voting Stock (i) to a Person upon
the contribution by such Person of assets to the Company, or (ii) to employees of the Company pursuant to equity compensation programs in the
ordinary course of business; and

(h) real estate leases entered into in the ordinary course of business.

Notwithstanding anything above, any Disposition pursuant to clauses (a) through (f) shall be for fair market value.

Section 10.9. Burdensome Agreements. No Obligor shall, nor shall they permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, enter into any Contractual
Obligation (other than this Agreement or any other Note Document) that (a) limits the ability (i) of any Subsidiary to make dividend or distribution payments
to the Company or any Guarantor or to otherwise transfer property to the Company or any Guarantor, (ii) of the Parent Guarantor or any Subsidiary to
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Guarantee the Indebtedness of the Company or (iii) of the Parent Guarantor or any Subsidiary to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist Liens on property of
such Person; provided, however, that (x) this clause (a) shall not prohibit any such restrictions incurred or provided in favor of any holder of Indebtedness that
is permitted under Section 10.7(e) or 10.7(f) and secured by a Lien on Real Property Assets (and/or the proceeds thereof) that is permitted under Section
10.5(n) solely to the extent any such restriction relates to such Real Property Assets (and/or the proceeds thereof), the entity owning such Real Property Asset
or the direct or indirect Equity Interests in such entity and (y) this clause (a) shall not prohibit (1) any such restrictions with respect to Liens on any UAP
Property or the Equity Interests in any Subsidiary in the Primary Credit Facilities that are substantially similar to, or less restrictive than, the restrictions set
forth in this clause (a) and Section 10.5(n) or (2) any restrictions contained in the Primary Credit Facilities of the type described in subclauses (ii) and/or (iii)
of this clause (a) that are substantially similar to, or less restrictive than, the restrictions set forth in Sections 10.5 and 10.7 of this Agreement; or (b) except to
the extent contemplated by Section 10.5(n), requires the grant of a Lien to secure an obligation of such Person if a Lien is granted to secure another obligation
of such Person.

Section 10.10. Financial Covenants. The Parent Guarantor shall not:

(a) Consolidated Tangible Net Worth. Permit Consolidated Tangible Net Worth, as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of the Parent
Guarantor, to be less than the sum of (i) $850,000,000 plus (ii) an amount equal to 80% of the aggregate net cash proceeds from the issuance and
sale of Equity Interests of the Parent Guarantor after September 30, 2014.

(b) Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio. Permit the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, as of the last day of any fiscal
quarter of the Parent Guarantor, to be less than 1.50 to 1.00.

(c) Consolidated Leverage Ratio. Permit the Consolidated Leverage Ratio (expressed as a percentage), as of the last day of any fiscal
quarter of the Parent Guarantor, to be greater than 60%; provided, however, that the Company may make a one-time election by delivering
written notice thereof to the holders of Notes upon which the Company may permit such ratio to be as high as 65% for a period of up to two (2)
consecutive fiscal quarters immediately following a Material Acquisition.

(d) Distribution Limitation. Permit the cash distributions made by the Parent Guarantor, as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of the
Parent Guarantor, for the four fiscal quarter period ending on such date, to exceed ninety-five percent (95%) of Funds From Operations for such
four fiscal quarter period (unless the Parent Guarantor provides evidence that a greater amount is required for the Parent Guarantor to maintain
real estate investment trust status).

(e) Consolidated Unencumbered Leverage Ratio. Permit the Consolidated Unencumbered Leverage Ratio (expressed as a percentage),
as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of the Parent Guarantor, to be greater than 60%; provided, however, that the Company may make a one-
time election by delivering written notice thereof to the holders of Notes upon which the Company may permit such ratio to be as high as 65%
for a period of up to two (2) consecutive fiscal quarters immediately following a Material Acquisition.
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(f) Consolidated Secured Indebtedness. Permit the Consolidated Secured Indebtedness Ratio (expressed as a percentage), as of the last
day of any fiscal quarter of the Parent Guarantor, to be greater than 40%.

(g) Consolidated Unencumbered Interest Coverage Ratio. Permit the Consolidated Unencumbered Interest Coverage Ratio, as of the
last day of any fiscal quarter of the Parent Guarantor, to be less than 1.75 to 1.00.

(h) Consolidated Secured Recourse Indebtedness. Permit the Consolidated Secured Recourse Indebtedness Ratio (expressed as a
percentage), as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of the Parent Guarantor, to be greater than 10%.

Section 10.11. Organization Documents; Fiscal Year; Legal Name, State of Formation and Form of Entity. No Obligor shall, nor shall they
permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly:

(a) Amend, modify or change its Organization Documents in a manner materially adverse to the Lenders; provided that, for
avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that any change to the Organization Documents of the Parent Guarantor permitted by Section 10.2 shall be
deemed not materially adverse to the Lenders.

(b) Make any material change in (i) accounting policies or reporting practices, except as required by GAAP, FASB, the SEC or any
other regulatory body, or (ii) its fiscal year.

(c) Without providing ten days prior written notice to the Required Holders, change its name, state of formation or form of
organization.

Section 10.12. Prepayments of Indebtedness. No Obligor shall, nor shall they permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, if a Default or Event
of Default exists and is continuing or would be caused thereby, prepay, redeem, purchase, defease or otherwise satisfy prior to the scheduled maturity thereof
in any manner, or make any payment in violation of any subordination terms of, any Indebtedness, except the prepayment of the Notes in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement.

Section 10.13. Stock Repurchases. The Parent Guarantor shall not make any payment (whether in cash, securities or other property), including any
sinking fund or similar deposit, for the purchase, redemption, retirement, defeasance, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any of its Equity Interests or
any option, warrant or other right to acquire any such Equity Interest other than the repurchase or redemption of warrants (including in connection with the
exchange or redemption of warrants for common Equity Interests in the Parent Guarantor as contemplated
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by clause (v) of the definition of “Consolidated EBITDA”) or stock in an aggregate amount not to exceed $100,000,000 during the term of this Agreement.

If the Company fails to comply with any provision of Section 10 (except for Section 10.5) on or after the date of this Agreement and prior to the Closing, then
any of the Purchasers may elect not to purchase the Notes on the date of Closing that is specified in Section 3.

SECTION 11. EVENTS OF DEFAULT.

An “Event of Default” shall exist if any of the following conditions or events shall occur and be continuing:

(a) the Company defaults in the payment of any principal or Make-Whole Amount, if any, on any Note when the same becomes due
and payable, whether at maturity or at a date fixed for prepayment or by declaration or otherwise; or

(b) the Company defaults in the payment of any interest on any Note for more than five Business Days after the same becomes due and
payable; or

(c) the Company or the Parent Guarantor default in the performance of or compliance with any term contained in Section 7.1(d),
Section 7.3, Section 9.5, Section 9.7, Section 9.8, Section 10 or with any Incorporated Covenant; or

(d) any Obligor defaults in the performance of or compliance with any term contained herein (other than those referred to in Sections
11(a), (b) and (c)) or in any Guaranty and such default is not remedied within 30 days after the earlier of (i) a Responsible Officer obtaining actual
knowledge of such default and (ii) the Obligor receiving written notice of such default from any holder of a Note (any such written notice to be
identified as a “notice of default” and to refer specifically to this Section 11(d)); or

(e) (i) any representation or warranty made in writing by or on behalf of the any Obligor or by any officer of any Obligor in this
Agreement or any writing furnished in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby proves to have been false or incorrect in any material
respect on the date as of which made, or (ii) any representation or warranty made in writing by or on behalf of any Guarantor or by any officer of
such Guarantor in any Guaranty or any writing furnished in connection with such Guaranty proves to have been false or incorrect in any material
respect on the date as of which made; or

(f) (i) the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any Subsidiary is in default (as principal or as guarantor or other surety) in the payment of
any principal of or premium or make-whole amount or interest on any Indebtedness that is outstanding in an aggregate principal amount of more
than the Threshold Amount (or its equivalent in the relevant currency of payment) beyond any period of grace provided with respect thereto, or (ii)
the Company or any Subsidiary is in default in the performance of or compliance with
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any term of any evidence of any Indebtedness in an aggregate outstanding principal amount of more than the Threshold Amount (or its equivalent in
the relevant currency of payment) or of any mortgage, indenture or other agreement relating thereto or any other condition exists, and as a
consequence of such default or condition such Indebtedness has become, or has been declared (or one or more Persons are entitled to declare such
Indebtedness to be), due and payable before its stated maturity or before its regularly scheduled dates of payment, or (iii) as a consequence of the
occurrence or continuation of any event or condition (other than the passage of time or the right of the holder of Indebtedness to convert such
Indebtedness into equity interests), (x) the Company or any Subsidiary has become obligated to purchase or repay Indebtedness before its regular
maturity or before its regularly scheduled dates of payment in an aggregate outstanding principal amount of more than the Threshold Amount (or its
equivalent in the relevant currency of payment), or (y) one or more Persons have the right to require the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any
Subsidiary so to purchase or repay such Indebtedness, (iv) there occurs under any Swap Contract an Early Termination Date (as defined in such
Swap Contract) resulting from (A) any event of default under such Swap Contract as to which the Parent Guarantor or any Subsidiary is the
Defaulting Party (as defined in such Swap Contract) or (B) any Termination Event (as so defined) under such Swap Contract as to which the Parent
Guarantor or any Subsidiary is an Affected Party (as so defined) and, in either event, the Swap Termination Value owed by the Parent Guarantor or
such Subsidiary as a result thereof is greater than the Threshold Amount, or (v) there occurs an “Event of Default” under and as defined in any
Primary Credit Facility; or

(g) any Obligor (i) is generally not paying, or admits in writing its inability to pay, its debts as they become due, (ii) files, or consents
by answer or otherwise to the filing against it of a petition for relief or reorganization or arrangement or any other petition in bankruptcy, for
liquidation or to take advantage of any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar law of any jurisdiction, (iii) makes an
assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (iv) consents to the appointment of a custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers with
respect to it or with respect to any substantial part of its property, (v) is adjudicated as insolvent or to be liquidated, or (vi) takes corporate action for
the purpose of any of the foregoing; or

(h) a court or other Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction enters an order appointing, without consent by an Obligor, a
custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers with respect to it or with respect to any substantial part of its property, or constituting
an order for relief or approving a petition for relief or reorganization or any other petition in bankruptcy or for liquidation or to take advantage of any
bankruptcy or insolvency law of any jurisdiction, or ordering the dissolution, winding-up or liquidation of an Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries, or
any such petition shall be filed against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and such petition shall not be dismissed within 60 days; or

(i) any event occurs with respect to the Company or any Subsidiary which under the laws of any jurisdiction is analogous to any of the
events described in Section 11(g) or Section 11(h), provided that the applicable grace period, if any, which
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shall apply shall be the one applicable to the relevant proceeding which most closely corresponds to the proceeding described in Section 11(g) or
Section 11(h); or

(j) one or more final judgments or orders for the payment of money aggregating in excess of the Threshold Amount (or its equivalent in
the relevant currency of payment), including any such final order enforcing a binding arbitration decision, are rendered against one or more of the
Obligors or any of their respective Subsidiaries and which judgments are not, within 60 days after entry thereof, bonded, discharged or stayed
pending appeal, or are not discharged within 60 days after the expiration of such stay; or

(k) if (i) any Plan shall fail to satisfy the minimum funding standards of ERISA or the Code for any plan year or part thereof or a
waiver of such standards or extension of any amortization period is sought or granted under section 412 of the Code, (ii) a notice of intent to
terminate any Plan shall have been or is reasonably expected to be filed with the PBGC or the PBGC shall have instituted proceedings under ERISA
section 4042 to terminate or appoint a trustee to administer any Plan or the PBGC shall have notified the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any
ERISA Affiliate that a Plan may become a subject of any such proceedings, (iii) there is any “amount of unfunded benefit liabilities” (within the
meaning of section 4001(a)(18) of ERISA) under one or more Plans, determined in accordance with Title IV of ERISA, (iv) the Parent Guarantor,
the Company or any ERISA Affiliate shall have incurred or is reasonably expected to incur any liability related to any Plan pursuant to Title I or IV
of ERISA or the penalty or excise tax provisions of the Code relating to employee benefit plans, (v) the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any
ERISA Affiliate withdraws from any Multiemployer Plan, (vi) the Company or any Subsidiary establishes or amends any employee welfare benefit
plan that provides post-employment welfare benefits in a manner that would increase the liability of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any
Subsidiary thereunder, (vii) the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any Subsidiary fails to administer or maintain a Non-U.S. Plan in compliance with
the requirements of any and all applicable laws, statutes, rules, regulations or court orders or any Non-U.S. Plan is involuntarily terminated or wound
up, and any such event or events described in clauses (i) through (vii) above, either individually or together with any other such event or events,
could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. As used in this Section 11(k), the terms “employee benefit plan” and “employee
welfare benefit plan” shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in section 3 of ERISA; or

(l) any Guaranty shall cease to be in full force and effect, any Guarantor or any Person acting on behalf of any Guarantor shall contest
in any manner the validity, binding nature or enforceability of any Guaranty, or the obligations of any Guarantor under any Guaranty are not or cease
to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with the terms of such Guaranty.

SECTION 12. REMEDIES ON DEFAULT, ETC.

Section 12.1. Acceleration. (a) If an Event of Default with respect to the Parent Guarantor or the Company described in Section 11(g), (h) or (i)
(other than an Event of Default described in clause (i) of Section 11(g) or described in clause (vi) of Section 11(g) by virtue of the fact that such clause
encompasses clause (i) of Section 11(g)) has occurred, all the Notes then outstanding shall automatically become immediately due and payable.
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(b) If any other Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Required Holders may at any time at its or their option, by notice or notices to
the Company, declare all the Notes then outstanding to be immediately due and payable.

(c) If any Event of Default described in Section 11(a) or (b) has occurred and is continuing, any holder or holders of Notes at the time outstanding
affected by such Event of Default may at any time, at its or their option, by notice or notices to the Company, declare all the Notes held by it or them to be
immediately due and payable.

Upon any Notes becoming due and payable under this Section 12.1, whether automatically or by declaration, such Notes will forthwith mature and
the entire unpaid principal amount of such Notes, plus (x) all accrued and unpaid interest thereon (including interest accrued thereon at the Default Rate) and
(y) the Make-Whole Amount determined in respect of such principal amount, shall all be immediately due and payable, in each and every case without
presentment, demand, protest or further notice, all of which are hereby waived. The Company acknowledges, and the parties hereto agree, that each holder of
a Note has the right to maintain its investment in the Notes free from repayment by the Company (except as herein specifically provided for) and that the
provision for payment of a Make-Whole Amount by the Company in the event that the Notes are prepaid or are accelerated as a result of an Event of Default,
is intended to provide compensation for the deprivation of such right under such circumstances.

Section 12.2. Other Remedies. If any Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, and irrespective of whether any Notes have
become or have been declared immediately due and payable under Section 12.1, the holder of any Note at the time outstanding may proceed to protect and
enforce the rights of such holder by an action at law, suit in equity or other appropriate proceeding, whether for the specific performance of any agreement
contained herein or in any Note or Guaranty, or for an injunction against a violation of any of the terms hereof or thereof, or in aid of the exercise of any
power granted hereby or thereby or by law or otherwise.

Section 12.3. Rescission. At any time after any Notes have been declared due and payable pursuant to Section 12.1(b) or (c), the Required Holders,
by written notice to the Company, may rescind and annul any such declaration and its consequences if (a) the Company has paid all overdue interest on the
Notes, all principal of and Make-Whole Amount, if any, on any Notes that are due and payable and are unpaid other than by reason of such declaration, and
all interest on such overdue principal and Make-Whole Amount, if any, and (to the extent permitted by applicable law) any overdue interest in respect of the
Notes, at the Default Rate, (b) neither the Company nor any other Person shall have paid any amounts which have become due solely by reason of such
declaration, (c) all Events of Default and Defaults, other than non-payment of amounts that have become due solely by reason of such declaration, have been
cured or have been waived pursuant to Section 17, and (d) no judgment or decree has been entered for the payment of any monies due pursuant hereto or to
the Notes. No rescission and annulment under this Section 12.3 will extend to or affect any subsequent Event of Default or
Default or impair any right consequent thereon.
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Section 12.4. No Waivers or Election of Remedies, Expenses, Etc. No course of dealing and no delay on the part of any holder of any Note in
exercising any right, power or remedy shall operate as a waiver thereof or otherwise prejudice such holder’s rights, powers or remedies. No right, power or
remedy conferred by this Agreement, any Guaranty or any Note upon any holder thereof shall be exclusive of any other right, power or remedy referred to
herein or therein or now or hereafter available at law, in equity, by statute or otherwise. Without limiting the obligations of the Parent Guarantor and the
Company under Section 15, the Parent Guarantor and the Company will pay to the holder of each Note on demand such further amount as shall be sufficient
to cover all costs and expenses of such holder incurred in any enforcement or collection under this Section 12, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses
and disbursements.

SECTION 13. REGISTRATION; EXCHANGE; SUBSTITUTION OF NOTES.

Section 13.1. Registration of Notes. The Company shall keep at its principal executive office a register for the registration and registration of
transfers of Notes. The name and address of each holder of one or more Notes, each transfer thereof and the name and address of each transferee of one or
more Notes shall be registered in such register. If any holder of one or more Notes is a nominee, then (a) the name and address of the beneficial owner of such
Note or Notes shall also be registered in such register as an owner and holder thereof and (b) at any such beneficial owner’s option, either such beneficial
owner or its nominee may execute any amendment, waiver or consent pursuant to this Agreement. Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer, the
Person in whose name any Note shall be registered shall be deemed and treated as the owner and holder thereof for all purposes hereof, and the Company
shall not be affected by any notice or knowledge to the contrary. The Company shall give to any holder of a Note that is an Institutional Investor promptly
upon request therefor, a complete and correct copy of the names and addresses of all registered holders of Notes.

Section 13.2. Transfer and Exchange of Notes. Upon surrender of any Note to the Company at the address and to the attention of the designated
officer (all as specified in Section 18(iii)), for registration of transfer or exchange (and in the case of a surrender for registration of transfer accompanied by a
written instrument of transfer duly executed by the registered holder of such Note or such holder’s attorney duly authorized in writing and accompanied by
the relevant name, address and other information for notices of each transferee of such Note or part thereof), within 10 Business Days thereafter, the
Company shall execute and deliver, at the Company’s expense (except as provided below), one or more new Notes (as requested by the holder thereof) in
exchange therefor, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unpaid principal amount of the surrendered Note. Each such new Note shall be payable to
such Person as such holder may request and shall be substantially in the form of Schedule 1. Each such new Note shall be dated and bear interest from the
date to which interest shall have been paid on the surrendered Note or dated the date of the surrendered Note if no interest shall have been paid thereon. The
Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp tax or governmental charge imposed in respect of any such transfer of Notes. Notes
shall not be transferred in denominations of less than $100,000, provided that if necessary to enable the registration of transfer by a holder of its entire holding
of Notes, one Note may be in a denomination of less than $100,000. Any transferee, by its acceptance of a Note registered in its name (or the name of its
nominee), shall be deemed to have made the representation set forth in Section 6.2.
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Section 13.3. Replacement of Notes. Upon receipt by the Company at the address and to the attention of the designated officer (all as specified in
Section 18(iii)) of evidence reasonably satisfactory to it of the ownership of and the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of any Note (which evidence shall be,
in the case of an Institutional Investor, notice from such Institutional Investor of such ownership and such loss, theft, destruction or mutilation), and

(a) in the case of loss, theft or destruction, of indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it (provided that if the holder of such Note is, or is a
nominee for, an original Purchaser or another holder of a Note with a minimum net worth of at least $50,000,000 or a Qualified Institutional Buyer,
such Person’s own unsecured agreement of indemnity shall be deemed to be satisfactory), or

(b) in the case of mutilation, upon surrender and cancellation thereof,

within 10 Business Days thereafter, the Company at its own expense shall execute and deliver, in lieu thereof, a new Note, dated and bearing interest from the
date to which interest shall have been paid on such lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Note or dated the date of such lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Note
if no interest shall have been paid thereon.

SECTION 14. PAYMENTS ON NOTES.

Section 14.1. Place of Payment. Subject to Section 14.2, payments of principal, Make-Whole Amount, if any, and interest becoming due and
payable on the Notes shall be made at the principal office of the Company located at 8905 Towne Centre Drive, Suite 108, San Diego, CA 92122. The
Company may at any time, by notice to each holder of a Note, change the place of payment of the Notes so long as such place of payment shall be either the
principal office of the Company in such jurisdiction or the principal office of a bank or trust company in such jurisdiction.

Section 14.2. Payment by Wire Transfer. So long as any Purchaser or its nominee shall be the holder of any Note, and notwithstanding anything
contained in Section 14.1 or in such Note to the contrary, the Company will pay all sums becoming due on such Note for principal, Make-Whole Amount, if
any, interest and all other amounts becoming due hereunder by the method and at the address specified for such purpose below such Purchaser’s name in the
Purchaser Schedule, or by such other method or at such other address as such Purchaser shall have from time to time specified to the Company in writing for
such purpose, without the presentation or surrender of such Note or the making of any notation thereon, except that upon written request of the Company
made concurrently with or reasonably promptly after payment or prepayment in full of any Note, such Purchaser shall surrender such Note for cancellation,
reasonably promptly after any such request, to the Company at its principal executive office or at the place of payment most recently designated by the
Company pursuant to Section 14.1. Prior to any sale or other disposition of any Note held by a Purchaser or its nominee, such Purchaser will, at its election,
either endorse thereon the amount of principal paid thereon and the last date to which interest has been paid thereon or surrender such Note to the Company in
exchange for a new Note or Notes pursuant to Section 13.2. The Company will afford the benefits of this Section 14.2 to any Institutional Investor that is the
direct or indirect transferee of any Note purchased by a Purchaser under this Agreement and that has made the same agreement relating to such Note as the
Purchasers have made in this Section 14.2.
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Section 14.3. FATCA Information. By acceptance of any Note, the holder of such Note agrees that such holder will with reasonable promptness
duly complete and deliver to the Company, or to such other Person as may be reasonably requested by the Company, from time to time (a) in the case of any
such holder that is a United States Person, such holder’s United States tax identification number or other Forms reasonably requested by the Company
necessary to establish such holder’s status as a United States Person under FATCA and as may otherwise be necessary for the Company to comply with its
obligations under FATCA and (b) in the case of any such holder that is not a United States Person, such documentation prescribed by applicable law
(including as prescribed by section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation as may be necessary for the Company to comply with its
obligations under FATCA and to determine that such holder has complied with such holder’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount (if any) to
deduct and withhold from any such payment made to such holder. Nothing in this Section 14.3 shall require any holder to provide information that is
confidential or proprietary to such holder unless the Company is required to obtain such information under FATCA and, in such event, the Company shall
treat any such information it receives as confidential.

Section 14.4. Tax Withholding. The Company shall be permitted to withhold from any payment made pursuant to the Notes any amounts that are
required to be withheld under applicable law if the holder of a Note fails to provide to the Company a properly completed and valid Internal Revenue Service
Form W-9 or W8-BEN-E (or other applicable form) within 10 days of any written request by the Company and the Company shall not otherwise withhold
any U.S. federal or state income taxes from any payments made under the Notes.

SECTION 15. EXPENSES, ETC.

Section 15.1. Transaction Expenses. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, the Parent Guarantor and the
Company, jointly and severally, agree to pay all costs and expenses (including reasonable and documented attorneys’ fees of a special counsel and, if
reasonably required by the Required Holders, local or other counsel) incurred by the Purchasers and each other holder of a Note in connection with such
transactions and in connection with any amendments, waivers or consents under or in respect of this Agreement, any Guaranty or the Notes (whether or not
such amendment, waiver or consent becomes effective), including: (a) the costs and expenses incurred in enforcing or defending (or determining whether or
how to enforce or defend) any rights under this Agreement, any Guaranty or the Notes or in responding to any subpoena or other legal process or informal
investigative demand issued in connection with this Agreement, any Guaranty or the Notes, or by reason of being a holder of any Note, (b) the costs and
expenses, including financial advisors’ fees, incurred in connection with the insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company, the Parent Guarantor or any
Subsidiary or in connection with any work-out or restructuring of the transactions contemplated hereby and by the Notes and any Guaranty and (c) the costs
and expenses incurred in connection with the initial filing of this Agreement and all related documents and financial information with the SVO provided, that
such costs and expenses under this clause (c) shall not exceed $5,000. If required by the NAIC, the Company shall obtain and maintain at its own cost and
expense a Legal Entity Identifier (LEI).
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The Parent Guarantor and the Company, jointly and severally, agree to pay, and will save each Purchaser and each other holder of a Note harmless
from, (i) all claims in respect of any fees, costs or expenses, if any, of brokers and finders (other than those, if any, retained by a Purchaser or other holder in
connection with its purchase of the Notes), (ii) any and all wire transfer fees that any bank or other financial institution deducts from any payment under such
Note to such holder or otherwise charges to a holder of a Note with respect to a payment under such Note and (iii) any judgment, liability, claim, order,
decree, fine, penalty, cost, fee, expense (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) or obligation resulting from the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby, including the use of the proceeds of the Notes by the Company.

Section 15.2. Certain Taxes. The Parent Guarantor and the Company agree to pay all stamp, documentary or similar taxes or fees which may be
payable in respect of the execution and delivery or the enforcement of this Agreement or any Guaranty or the execution and delivery (but not the transfer) or
the enforcement of any of the Notes in the United States or any other jurisdiction where the Company or any Guarantor has assets or of any amendment of, or
waiver or consent under or with respect to, this Agreement or any Guaranty or of any of the Notes, and to pay any value added tax due and payable in respect
of reimbursement of costs and expenses by the Parent Guarantor and the Company pursuant to this Section 15, and will save each holder of a Note to the
extent permitted by applicable law harmless against any loss or liability resulting from nonpayment or delay in payment of any such tax or fee required to be
paid by the Parent Guarantor and the Company hereunder.

Section 15.3. Survival. The obligations of the Parent Guarantor and the the Company under this Section 15 will survive the payment or transfer of
any Note, the enforcement, amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement, any Guaranty or the Notes, and the termination of this Agreement.

SECTION 16. SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; ENTIRE AGREEMENT.

All representations and warranties contained herein or in the Guaranty shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Notes and the
Guaranty, the purchase or transfer by any Purchaser of any Note or portion thereof or interest therein and the payment of any Note, and may be relied upon by
any subsequent holder of a Note, regardless of any investigation made at any time by or on behalf of such Purchaser or any other holder of a Note. All
statements contained in any certificate or other instrument delivered by or on behalf of any Obligor pursuant to this Agreement or the Guaranty shall be
deemed representations and warranties of such Obligor under this Agreement or the Guaranty, as the case may be. Subject to the preceding sentence, this
Agreement, the Notes and the Guaranty embody the entire agreement and understanding between each Purchaser and the Obligors and supersede all prior
agreements and understandings relating to the subject matter hereof.
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SECTION 17. AMENDMENT AND WAIVER.

Section 17.1. Requirements. This Agreement and the Notes may be amended, and the observance of any term hereof or of the Notes may be waived
(either retroactively or prospectively), only with the written consent of the Company and the Required Holders, except that:

(a) no amendment or waiver of any of Sections 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 or 21 hereof, or any defined term (as it is used therein), will be effective
as to any Purchaser unless consented to by such Purchaser in writing;

(b) no amendment or waiver may, without the written consent of each Purchaser and the holder of each Note at the time outstanding, (i)
subject to Section 12 relating to acceleration or rescission, change the amount or time of any prepayment or payment of principal of, or reduce the
rate or change the time of payment or method of computation of (x) interest on the Notes or (y) the Make-Whole Amount, (ii) change the percentage
of the principal amount of the Notes the holders of which are required to consent to any amendment or waiver or the principal amount of the Notes
that the Purchasers are to purchase pursuant to Section 2 upon the satisfaction of the conditions to Closing that appear in Section 4, or (iii) amend
any of Sections 8 (except as set forth in the second sentence of Section 8.2 and Section 17.1(c)), 11(a), 11(b), 12, 17 or 20; and

(c) Section 8.6 may be amended or waived to permit offers to purchase made by the Company or an Affiliate pro rata to the holders of
all Notes at the time outstanding upon the same terms and conditions only with the written consent of the Company and the Super-Majority Holders.

Section 17.2. Solicitation of Holders of Notes.

(a) Solicitation. The Parent Guarantor and the Company will provide each Purchaser and each holder of a Note with sufficient information,
sufficiently far in advance of the date a decision is required, to enable such Purchasers and such holder to make an informed and considered decision with
respect to any proposed amendment, waiver or consent in respect of any of the provisions hereof or of the Notes or any Guaranty. The Company will deliver
executed or true and correct copies of each amendment, waiver or consent effected pursuant to this Section 17 or any Guaranty to each Purchaser and each
holder of a Note promptly following the date on which it is executed and delivered by, or receives the consent or approval of, the requisite Purchasers or
holders of Notes.

(b) Payment. Neither the Parent Guarantor nor the Company will directly or indirectly pay or cause to be paid any remuneration, whether by way of
supplemental or additional interest, fee or otherwise, or grant any security or provide other credit support, to any Purchaser or holder of a Note as
consideration for or as an inducement to the entering into by such Purchaser or holder of any waiver or amendment of any of the terms and provisions hereof
or of any Guaranty or any Note unless such remuneration is concurrently paid, or security is concurrently granted or other credit support concurrently
provided, on the same terms, ratably to each Purchaser and each holder of a Note even if such Purchaser or holder did not consent to such waiver or
amendment.
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(c) Consent in Contemplation of Transfer. Any consent given pursuant to this Section 17 or any Guaranty by a holder of a Note that has transferred
or has agreed to transfer its Note to (i) the Company, (ii) the Parent Guarantor, (iii) any Subsidiary of either or any other Affiliate or (iv) any other Person in
connection with, or in anticipation of, such other Person acquiring, making a tender offer for or merging with the Parent Guarantor, the Company and/or any
of its Affiliates (either pursuant to a waiver under Section 17.1(c) or subsequent to Section 8.5 having been amended pursuant to Section 17.1(c)), in each
case in connection with such consent, shall be void and of no force or effect except solely as to such holder, and any amendments effected or waivers granted
or to be effected or granted that would not have been or would not be so effected or granted but for such consent (and the consents of all other holders of
Notes that were acquired under the same or similar conditions) shall be void and of no force or effect except solely as to such holder.

Section 17.3. Binding Effect, Etc. Any amendment or waiver consented to as provided in this Section 17 or any Guaranty applies equally to all
Purchasers and holders of Notes and is binding upon them and upon each future holder of any Note and upon the Company without regard to whether such
Note has been marked to indicate such amendment or waiver. No such amendment or waiver will extend to or affect any obligation, covenant, agreement,
Default or Event of Default not expressly amended or waived or impair any right consequent thereon. No course of dealing between the Parent Guarantor, the
Company and any Purchaser or holder of a Note and no delay in exercising any rights hereunder or under any Note or Guaranty shall operate as a waiver of
any rights of any Purchaser or holder of such Note.

Section 17.4. Notes Held by Company, Etc. Solely for the purpose of determining whether the holders of the requisite percentage of the aggregate
principal amount of Notes then outstanding approved or consented to any amendment, waiver or consent to be given under this Agreement, any Guaranty or
the Notes, or have directed the taking of any action provided herein or in any Guaranty or the Notes to be taken upon the direction of the holders of a
specified percentage of the aggregate principal amount of Notes then outstanding, Notes directly or indirectly owned by the Parent Guarantor, the Company
or any of their respective Affiliates shall be deemed not to be outstanding.

SECTION 18. NOTICES.

Except to the extent otherwise provided in Section 7.4, all notices and communications provided for hereunder shall be in writing (a) delivered by
hand, (b) sent by overnight courier service, (c) mailed by certified or registered mail, (d) sent by telecopier, or (e) transmitted by any standard form of
telecommunication, including electronic mail, as follows, and all notices and other communications expressly permitted hereunder to be given by telephone
shall be made to the applicable telephone number, as follows:
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(i) if to any Purchaser or its nominee, to such Purchaser or nominee at the address specified for such communications in the Purchaser
Schedule, or at such other address as such Purchaser or nominee shall have specified to the Company in writing,

(ii) if to any other holder of any Note, to such holder at such address as such other holder shall have specified to the Company in
writing, or

(iii) if to the Parent Guarantor, to the Parent Guarantor at 8905 Towne Centre Drive, Suite 108, San Diego, CA 92122, Telephone: (858)
677-0900 attention of Stuart A. Tanz and Michael B. Haines, or at such other address as the Parent Guarantor shall have specified to the holder of
each Note in writing,

(iv) if to the Company, to the Company at its address set forth at the beginning hereof to the attention of 8905 Towne Centre Drive,
Suite 108, San Diego, CA 92122, Telephone: (858) 677-0900 attention of Stuart A. Tanz and Michael B. Haines, or at such other address as the
Company shall have specified to the holder of each Note in writing.

Notices under this Section 18 will be deemed given only when actually received.

SECTION 19. REPRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS.

This Agreement, the Guaranty and all documents relating thereto, including, without limitation, (a) consents, waivers and modifications that may
hereafter be executed, (b) documents received by any Purchaser at the Closing (except the Notes themselves), and (c) financial statements, certificates and
other information previously or hereafter furnished to any Purchaser, may be reproduced by such Purchaser by any photographic, photostatic, electronic,
digital or other similar process and such Purchaser may destroy any original document so reproduced. The Parent Guarantor and the Company agrees and
stipulates that, to the extent permitted by applicable law, any such reproduction shall be admissible in evidence as the original itself in any judicial or
administrative proceeding (whether or not the original is in existence and whether or not such reproduction was made by such Purchaser in the regular course
of business) and any enlargement, facsimile or further reproduction of such reproduction shall likewise be admissible in evidence. This Section 19 shall not
prohibit the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any other holder of Notes from contesting any such reproduction to the same extent that it could contest the
original, or from introducing evidence to demonstrate the inaccuracy of any such reproduction.

SECTION 20. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION.

For the purposes of this Section 20, “Confidential Information” means information delivered to any Purchaser by or on behalf of the Parent
Guarantor, the Company, or any Subsidiary in connection with the transactions contemplated by or otherwise pursuant to this Agreement that is proprietary in
nature and that was clearly marked or labeled or otherwise
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adequately identified when received by such Purchaser as being confidential information of the Parent Guarantor, the Company or such Subsidiary, as the
case may be; provided that such term does not include information that (a) was publicly known or otherwise known to such Purchaser prior to the time of
such disclosure, (b) subsequently becomes publicly known through no act or omission by such Purchaser or any Person acting on such Purchaser’s behalf, (c)
otherwise becomes known to such Purchaser other than through disclosure by the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries or (d)
constitutes financial statements delivered to such Purchaser under Section 7.1 that are otherwise publicly available. Each Purchaser will maintain the
confidentiality of such Confidential Information in accordance with procedures adopted by such Purchaser in good faith to protect confidential information of
third parties delivered to such Purchaser; provided that such Purchaser may deliver or disclose Confidential Information to (i) its directors, officers,
employees, agents, attorneys and affiliates (to the extent such disclosure reasonably relates to the administration of the investment represented by its Notes),
(ii) its auditors, financial advisors and other professional advisors who agree to hold confidential the Confidential Information substantially in accordance
with this Section 20, (iii) any other holder of any Note, (iv) any Institutional Investor to which it sells or offers to sell such Note or any part thereof or any
participation therein (if such Person has agreed in writing prior to its receipt of such Confidential Information to be bound by the provisions of this Section
20), (v) any Person from which it offers to purchase any security of the Parent Guarantor or the Company (if such Person has agreed in writing prior to its
receipt of such Confidential Information to be bound by the provisions of this Section 20) provided, in no event shall such Purchaser deliver or disclose any
material, non-public information in violation of securities laws, (vi) any federal or state regulatory authority having jurisdiction over such Purchaser, (vii) the
NAIC or the SVO or, in each case, any similar organization, or any nationally recognized rating agency that requires access to information about such
Purchaser’s investment portfolio or (viii) any other Person to which such delivery or disclosure may be necessary or appropriate (w) to effect compliance with
any law, rule, regulation or order applicable to such Purchaser, (x) in response to any subpoena or other legal process, (y) in connection with any litigation to
which such Purchaser is a party or (z) if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, to the extent such Purchaser may reasonably determine such
delivery and disclosure to be necessary or appropriate in the enforcement or for the protection of the rights and remedies under such Purchaser’s Notes, this
Agreement or any Guaranty. Each holder of a Note, by its acceptance of a Note, will be deemed to have agreed to be bound by and to be entitled to the
benefits of this Section 20 as though it were a party to this Agreement. On reasonable request by the Parent Guarantor and the Company in connection with
the delivery to any holder of a Note of information required to be delivered to such holder under this Agreement or requested by such holder (other than a
holder that is a party to this Agreement or its nominee), such holder will enter into an agreement with the Parent Guarantor and the Company embodying this
Section 20.

In the event that as a condition to receiving access to information relating to the Obligors or their Subsidiaries in connection with the transactions
contemplated by or otherwise pursuant to this Agreement, any Purchaser or holder of a Note is required to agree to a confidentiality undertaking (whether
through IntraLinks, another secure website, a secure virtual workspace or otherwise) which is different from this Section 20, this Section 20 shall not be
amended thereby and, as between such Purchaser or such holder and the Parent Guarantor and the Company, this Section 20 shall supersede any such other
confidentiality undertaking.
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SECTION 21. SUBSTITUTION OF PURCHASER.

Each Purchaser shall have the right to substitute any one of its Affiliates or another Purchaser or any one of such other Purchaser’s Affiliates (a
“Substitute Purchaser”) as the purchaser of the Notes that it has agreed to purchase hereunder, by written notice to the Company, which notice shall be
signed by both such Purchaser and such Substitute Purchaser, shall contain such Substitute Purchaser’s agreement to be bound by this Agreement and shall
contain a confirmation by such Substitute Purchaser of the accuracy with respect to it of the representations set forth in Section 6. Upon receipt of such notice,
any reference to such Purchaser in this Agreement (other than in this Section 21), shall be deemed to refer to such Substitute Purchaser in lieu of such original
Purchaser. In the event that such Substitute Purchaser is so substituted as a Purchaser hereunder and such Substitute Purchaser thereafter transfers to such
original Purchaser all of the Notes then held by such Substitute Purchaser, upon receipt by the Company of notice of such transfer, any reference to such
Substitute Purchaser as a “Purchaser” in this Agreement (other than in this Section 21), shall no longer be deemed to refer to such Substitute Purchaser, but
shall refer to such original Purchaser, and such original Purchaser shall again have all the rights of an original holder of the Notes under this Agreement.

SECTION 22. MISCELLANEOUS.

Section 22.1. Successors and Assigns. All covenants and other agreements contained in this Agreement by or on behalf of any of the parties hereto
bind and inure to the benefit of their respective successors and assigns (including any subsequent holder of a Note) whether so expressed or not, except that,
subject to Section 10.2, the Company may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder or under the Notes without the prior
written consent of each holder. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto
and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.

Section 22.2. Accounting Terms. All accounting terms used herein which are not expressly defined in this Agreement have the meanings
respectively given to them in accordance with GAAP. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, (i) all computations made pursuant to this Agreement
shall be made in accordance with GAAP, and (ii) all financial statements shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP. For purposes of determining
compliance with this Agreement (including Section 9, Section 10 and the definition of “Indebtedness”), any election by the Company to measure any
financial liability using fair value (as permitted by Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic No. 825-10-25 - Fair
Value Option, International Accounting Standard 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or any similar accounting standard) shall be
disregarded and such determination shall be made as if such election had not been made.

Section 22.3. Severability. Any provision of this Agreement that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be
ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or
unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall (to the full extent permitted by law)
not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.
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Section 22.4. Construction, Etc. Each covenant contained herein shall be construed (absent express provision to the contrary) as being independent
of each other covenant contained herein, so that compliance with any one covenant shall not (absent such an express contrary provision) be deemed to excuse
compliance with any other covenant. Where any provision herein refers to action to be taken by any Person, or which such Person is prohibited from taking,
such provision shall be applicable whether such action is taken directly or indirectly by such Person.

Defined terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall
include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words “include,” “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the
phrase “without limitation.” The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall.” Unless the context requires
otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement,
instrument or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments,
supplements or modifications set forth herein) and, for purposes of the Notes, shall also include any such notes issued in substitution therefor pursuant to
Section 13, (b) subject to Section 22.1, any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and assigns, (c) the words
“herein,” “hereof” and “hereunder,” and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular
provision hereof, (d) all references herein to Sections and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Sections of, and Schedules to, this Agreement, and (e) any
reference to any law or regulation herein shall, unless otherwise specified, refer to such law or regulation as amended, modified or supplemented from time to
time.

Section 22.5. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original but all of which
together shall constitute one instrument. Each counterpart may consist of a number of copies hereof, each signed by less than all, but together signed by all, of
the parties hereto.

Section 22.6. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights of the parties shall be governed
by, the law of the State of New York excluding choice-of-law principles of the law of such State that would permit the application of the laws of a jurisdiction
other than such State.

Section 22.7. Jurisdiction and Process; Waiver of Jury Trial. (a) The Parent Guarantor and the Company, each for itself, irrevocably submits to
the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any New York State or federal court sitting in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, over any suit, action or
proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the Guaranty or the Notes. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Parent Guarantor and
the Company, each for itself, irrevocably waives and agrees not to assert, by way of motion, as a defense or otherwise, any claim that it is not subject to the
jurisdiction of any such court, any
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objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court and any claim that any
such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

(b) The Parent Guaranty and the Company, each for itself, agree, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, that a final judgment in any suit,
action or proceeding of the nature referred to in Section 22.7(a) brought in any such court shall be conclusive and binding upon it subject to rights of appeal,
as the case may be, and may be enforced in the courts of the United States of America or the State of New York (or any other courts to the jurisdiction of
which it or any of its assets is or may be subject) by a suit upon such judgment.

(c) The Parent Guarantor and Company, each for itself, consent to process being served by or on behalf of any holder of Notes in any suit, action or
proceeding of the nature referred to in Section 22.7(a) by mailing a copy thereof by registered, certified, priority or express mail (or any substantially similar
form of mail), postage prepaid, return receipt or delivery confirmation requested, to it at its address specified in Section 18 or at such other address of which
such holder shall then have been notified pursuant to said Section. The Parent Guarantor and the Company, each for itself, agrees that such service upon
receipt (i) shall be deemed in every respect effective service of process upon it in any such suit, action or proceeding and (ii) shall, to the fullest extent
permitted by applicable law, be taken and held to be valid personal service upon and personal delivery to it. Notices hereunder shall be conclusively presumed
received as evidenced by a delivery receipt furnished by the United States Postal Service or any reputable commercial delivery service.

(d) Nothing in this Section 22.7 shall affect the right of any holder of a Note to serve process in any manner permitted by law, or limit any right that
the holders of any of the Notes may have to bring proceedings against the Parent Guarantor or the Company in the courts of any appropriate jurisdiction or to
enforce in any lawful manner a judgment obtained in one jurisdiction in any other jurisdiction.

(e) THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION BROUGHT ON OR WITH RESPECT TO THIS
AGREEMENT, THE NOTES OR ANY OTHER DOCUMENT EXECUTED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THEREWITH.

* * * * *
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If you are in agreement with the foregoing, please sign the form of agreement on a counterpart of this Agreement and return it to the Company,
whereupon this Agreement shall become a binding agreement between you and the Company.

Very truly yours,

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS
PARTNERSHIP, LP

By: Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC
Its General Partner

By         
Name: Michael B. Haines
Title: Chief Financial Officer

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS CORP.

By         
Name: Michael B. Haines
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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This Agreement is hereby
accepted and agreed to as
of the date hereof.

[ADD PURCHASER SIGNATURE BLOCKS]
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DEFINED TERMS

As used herein, the following terms have the respective meanings set forth below or set forth in the Section hereof following such term:

“Adjusted Net Operating Income” means, for any Real Property Asset for the most recently ended fiscal quarter, an amount equal to (a) the
aggregate gross revenues from the operations of such Real Property Asset during such period minus (b) the sum of (i) all expenses and other proper charges
incurred in connection with the operation of such Real Property Asset during such period (including real estate taxes, but excluding any actual management
fees, debt service charges, income taxes and depreciation, amortization and other non-cash expenses) plus (ii) a management fee equal to the greater of (A)
three percent (3%) of the aggregate gross revenues from the operations of such Real Property Asset during such period and (B) actual management fees paid
to third parties in connection with such Real Property Asset during such period plus (iii) a replacement reserve of $0.0375 per square foot with respect to such
Real Property Asset; provided that it is understood and agreed that for any Real Property Asset (x) acquired during the most recently ended fiscal quarter, the
revenues included in clause (a) above and the expenses included in clause (b) above shall be an amount equal to the revenues and expenses attributable to
such Real Property Asset during the days such Real Property Asset has been owned by the Parent Guarantor or a Subsidiary multiplied by a ratio equal to (I)
90 divided by (II) the number of days such Real Property Asset has been owned and (y) disposed of during the most recently ended fiscal quarter, the
revenues included in clause (a) above and the expenses included in clause (b) above shall be excluded.

“Affiliate” means, at any time, and with respect to any Person, any other Person that at such time directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries Controls, or is Controlled by, or is under common Control with, such first Person, and, with respect to the Parent Guarantor, shall include any
Person beneficially owning or holding, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of any class of voting or equity interests of the Parent Guarantor or any Subsidiary
or any Person of which the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries beneficially own or hold, in the aggregate, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of any class of
voting or equity interests. Unless the context otherwise clearly requires, any reference to an “Affiliate” is a reference to an Affiliate of the Company.

“Agreement” means this Note Purchase Agreement, including all Schedules attached to this Agreement.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means any law or regulation in a U.S. or any non-U.S. jurisdiction regarding bribery or any other corrupt activity,
including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010.

“Anti-Money Laundering Laws” means any law or regulation in a U.S. or any non-U.S. jurisdiction regarding money laundering, drug trafficking,
terrorist-related activities or other money laundering predicate crimes, including the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970 (otherwise
known as the Bank Secrecy Act) and the USA PATRIOT Act.

SCHEDULE A
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



“Attributable Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Person on any date, (a) in respect of any Capital Lease, the capitalized amount thereof that
would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP, (b) in respect of any Synthetic Lease Obligation, the
capitalized amount of the remaining lease payments under the relevant lease that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in
accordance with GAAP if such lease were accounted for as a Capital Lease, (c) in respect of any Securitization Transaction, the outstanding principal amount
of such financing, after taking into account reserve accounts and making appropriate adjustments, determined by the Required Holders in its reasonable
judgment and (d) in respect of any Sale and Leaseback Transaction, the present value (discounted in accordance with GAAP at the debt rate implied in the
applicable lease) of the obligations of the lessee for rental payments during the term of such lease.

“Blocked Person” means (a) a Person whose name appears on the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons published by OFAC,
(b) a Person, entity, organization, country or regime that is blocked or a target of sanctions that have been imposed under U.S. Economic Sanctions Laws or
(c) a Person that is an agent, department or instrumentality of, or is otherwise beneficially owned by, controlled by or acting on behalf of, directly or
indirectly, any Person, entity, organization, country or regime described in clause (a) or (b).

“Business Day” means (a) for the purposes of Section 8.7 only, any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which commercial banks in
New York, New York are required or authorized to be closed, and (b) for the purposes of any other provision of this Agreement, any day other than a
Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which commercial banks in New York, New York are required or authorized to be closed.

“Capitalization Rate” means 6.75%.

“Capital Lease” means, as applied to any Person, any lease of any property by that Person as lessee which, in accordance with GAAP, is required to
be accounted for as a capital lease on the balance sheet of that Person.

“Cash Equivalents” means, as at any date, (a) securities issued or directly and fully guaranteed or insured by the United States or any agency or
instrumentality thereof (provided that the full faith and credit of the United States is pledged in support thereof) having maturities of not more than twelve
months from the date of acquisition, (b) Dollar denominated time deposits and certificates of deposit of (i) any Lender, (ii) any domestic commercial bank of
recognized standing having capital and surplus in excess of $500,000,000 or (iii) any bank whose short term commercial paper rating from S&P is at least A-
1 or the equivalent thereof or from Moody’s is at least P-1 or the equivalent thereof (any such bank being an “Approved Bank”), in each case with maturities
of not more than 270 days from the date of acquisition, (c) commercial paper and variable or fixed rate notes issued by any Approved Bank (or by the parent
company thereof) or any variable rate notes issued by, or guaranteed by, any domestic corporation rated A-1 (or the equivalent thereof) or better by S&P or P-
1 (or the equivalent thereof) or better by Moody’s and maturing within six months of the date of acquisition, (d) repurchase agreements entered into by any
Person with a bank or trust company (including any of the Lenders) or

A-2



recognized securities dealer having capital and surplus in excess of $500,000,000 for direct obligations issued by or fully guaranteed by the United States in
which such Person shall have a perfected first priority security interest (subject to no other Liens) and having, on the date of purchase thereof, a fair market
value of at least 100% of the amount of the repurchase obligations and (e) investments, classified in accordance with GAAP as current assets, in money
market investment programs registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 which are administered by reputable financial institutions having capital
of at least $500,000,000 and the portfolios of which are limited to Investments of the character described in the foregoing subdivisions (a) through (d).

“Change in Control” is defined in Section 8.3(f).

“Closing” is defined in Section 3.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder from time to time.

“Company” is defined in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“Confidential Information” is defined in Section 20.

“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person,
whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; and the terms “Controlled” and “Controlling” shall have meanings correlative
to the foregoing.

“Controlled Entity” means (a) any of the Subsidiaries of the Company and any of their or the Company’s respective Controlled Affiliates and (b) if
the Company has a parent company, such parent company and its Controlled Affiliates.

“Consolidated EBITDA” means, for any period, for the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, an amount equal to
Consolidated Net Income for such period plus (a) the following to the extent deducted in calculating such Consolidated Net Income: (i) Consolidated Interest
Expense for such period (including amortization of deferred financing costs, to the extent included in the determination of Consolidated Interest Expense), (ii)
the provision for Federal, state, local and foreign income taxes payable by the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for such period, (iii) depreciation and
amortization expense for such period, (iv) other non-recurring non-cash expenses of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries and all non- recurring
extraordinary losses, in each case reducing such Consolidated Net Income for such period and (v) expenses of the Parent Guarantor incurred in connection
with the exercise by holders of warrants (existing on the date of this Agreement) in exchange for common Equity Interest in the Parent Guarantor so long as
the Parent Guarantor receives an amount of cash in excess of such expenses in connection with such exercise and minus (b) the following to the extent
included in calculating such Consolidated Net Income: (i) Federal, state, local and foreign income tax credits of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for
such period and (ii) all non-
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recurring non-cash items and all non-recurring extraordinary gains, in each case increasing Consolidated Net Income for such period.

“Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated EBITDA for the most recent
fiscal quarter period ending on such date multiplied times four (4) to (b) Consolidated Fixed Charges for the most recent fiscal quarter ending on such date
multiplied times four (4).

“Consolidated Fixed Charges” means, as of any date of determination, for the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the
sum of (a) Consolidated Interest Expense for such period plus (b) current scheduled principal payments of Consolidated Funded Indebtedness (excluding any
payment of principal under the Note Documents and any “balloon” payment or final payment at maturity that is significantly larger than the scheduled
payments that preceded it) for such period plus (c) dividends and distributions that were required to be paid on preferred stock, if any for such period, in each
case, as determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Funded Indebtedness” means, as of any date of determination, Funded Indebtedness of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries on
a consolidated basis plus, without duplication, the Parent Guarantor’s and Subsidiaries’ pro rata share of Funded Indebtedness of Unconsolidated Joint
Ventures.

“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, for any period, for the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the sum of all
interest expense (whether paid, accrued or capitalized) and letter of credit fee expense, as determined in accordance with GAAP; provided that it shall (a)
include the interest component under Capital Leases and Attributable Indebtedness under Securitization Transactions and (b) exclude the amortization of any
deferred financing fees.

“Consolidated Leverage Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Funded Indebtedness as of such date to (b)
Consolidated Total Asset Value as of such date.

“Consolidated Net Income” means, for any period, for the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the net income of the
Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for that period, as determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Secured Indebtedness” means, as of any date of determination, for the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated
basis, Consolidated Funded Indebtedness that is subject to a Lien other than Non-Consensual Liens.

“Consolidated Secured Indebtedness Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Secured Indebtedness on such
date to (b) Consolidated Total Asset Value on such date.

“Consolidated Secured Recourse Indebtedness” means, as of any date of determination, for the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis,
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Consolidated Funded Indebtedness that is subject to a Lien other than Non-Consensual Liens and that is recourse to the Parent Guarantor or any of its
Subsidiaries.

“Consolidated Secured Recourse Indebtedness Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Secured Recourse
Indebtedness on such date to (b) Consolidated Total Asset Value on such date.

“Consolidated Tangible Net Worth” means, as of any date of determination, for the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis,
an amount equal to (a) Shareholders’ Equity of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries on that date plus (b) accumulated depreciation and amortization
minus (c) Intangible Assets, plus (d) Intangible Liabilities all as determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Total Asset Value” means, as of any date of determination, with respect to the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis, the sum of (a) the quotient of (i) (x) an amount equal to (A) Adjusted Net Operating Income for the prior fiscal quarter minus (B) the
aggregate amount of Adjusted Net Operating Income attributable to each Real Property Asset sold or otherwise disposed of during such prior fiscal quarter
minus (C) the aggregate amount of Adjusted Net Operating Income for the prior fiscal quarter attributable to each Real Property Asset acquired during the
last four fiscal quarters multiplied by (y) four (4) divided by (ii) the Capitalization Rate, plus (b) with respect to each Real Property Asset acquired during
such prior four fiscal quarters, the book value of such Real Property Asset; provided that the Company may, at its discretion, make a one time irrevocable
election to value a Real Property Asset acquired during the prior four fiscal quarters in an amount equal to (i) the quotient of (A) an amount equal to (y) the
Adjusted Net Operating Income from such Real Property Asset multiplied by (z) four (4) divided by (B) the Capitalization Rate, plus (c) unrestricted Cash
Equivalents, plus (d) the book value of Real Property Assets that constitute unimproved land holdings, plus (e) the book value of Real Property Assets that
constitute construction in progress, plus (f) the carrying value of performing mortgage loans, plus (g) the Parent Guarantor’s and Subsidiaries’ pro rata share
of the forgoing items and components attributable to interests in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures.

“Consolidated Unencumbered Interest Coverage Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Adjusted Net Operating Income
of the UAP Properties for the most recent fiscal quarter period ending on such date multiplied times four (4) to (b) Consolidated Interest Expense associated
with Consolidated Unsecured Indebtedness for the most recent fiscal quarter ending on such date multiplied times four (4).

“Consolidated Unencumbered Leverage Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Unsecured Indebtedness as
of such date to (b) the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value.

“Consolidated Unsecured Indebtedness” means, as of any date of determination, for the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated
basis, Consolidated Funded Indebtedness that is not Consolidated Secured Indebtedness.
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“Default” means an event or condition the occurrence or existence of which would, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both, become an
Event of Default.

“Default Rate” means that rate of interest per annum that is the greater of (a) 2% above the rate of interest stated in clause (a) of the first paragraph
of the Notes or (b) 2% over the rate of interest publicly announced by KeyBank National Association in New York, New York as its “base” or “prime” rate.

“Disclosure Documents” is defined in Section 5.3.

“Disposition” or “Dispose” means the sale, transfer, license, lease or other disposition (including any sale and leaseback transaction) of any
property by any Person, including any sale, assignment, transfer or other disposal, with or without recourse, of any notes or accounts receivable or any rights
and claims associated therewith; it being understood that Disposition shall not include an arrangement that solely results in a Permitted Lien.

“Domestic Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of any political subdivision of the United States.

“EDGAR” means the SEC’s Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval System or any successor SEC electronic filing system for such
purposes.

“Eligible Ground Lease” means, at any time, a ground lease (a) under which an Obligor or a UAP Subsidiary is the lessee and is the fee owner of
(or leases) the structural improvements located thereon, (b) that has a remaining term of not less than thirty (30) years (including the initial term and any
additional extension options that are solely at the option of such Obligor or such UAP Subsidiary), (c) where no party to such lease is subject to a then
continuing bankruptcy event, (d) such ground lease (or a related document executed by the applicable ground lessor) contains customary provisions protective
of a first mortgage lender to the lessee and (e) where such Obligor’s or UAP Subsidiary’s interest in the underlying Real Property Asset or the lease is not
subordinate to any Lien other than the Eligible Ground Lease itself, any fee mortgage (if such fee mortgage has non-disturbed such Loan Party or UAP
Subsidiary pursuant to a non-disturbance agreement reasonably satisfactory to the Required Holders), any Liens permitted by Section 10.5 and other
encumbrances reasonably acceptable to the Required Holders, in their discretion.

“Environmental Laws” means any and all federal, state, local, and foreign statutes, laws, regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees,
permits, concessions, grants, franchises, licenses, agreements or governmental restrictions relating to pollution and the protection of the environment or the
release of any materials into the environment, including those related to Hazardous Materials.

“Equity Interests” means, with respect to any Person, all of the shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person, all
of the warrants, options or other rights for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in)
such Person, all of the securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares
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of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person or warrants, rights or options for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of
such shares (or such other interests), and all of the other ownership or profit interests in such Person (including partnership, member or trust interests therein),
whether voting or nonvoting, and whether or not such shares, warrants, options, rights or other interests are outstanding on any date of determination.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder from time to time in
effect.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that is treated as a single employer together with the Company under
section 414 of the Code.

“Event of Default” is defined in Section 11.

“FATCA” means (a) sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is
substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), together with any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof,
(b) any treaty, law or regulation of any other jurisdiction, or relating to an intergovernmental agreement between the United States of America and any other
jurisdiction, which (in either case) facilitates the implementation of the foregoing clause (a), and (c) any agreements entered into pursuant to section 1471(b)
(1) of the Code.

“Form 10-K” is defined in Section 7.1(b).

“Form 10-Q” is defined in Section 7.1(a).

“Funded Indebtedness” means the sum of the following (whether or not included as indebtedness or liabilities in accordance with GAAP):

(a) all obligations for borrowed money, whether current or long term (including the obligations hereunder and under the Notes), and all
obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, loan agreements or other similar instruments;

(b) all purchase money indebtedness (including indebtedness and obligations in respect of conditional sales and title retention
arrangements, except for customary conditional sales and title retention arrangements with suppliers that are entered into in the ordinary course of
business) and all indebtedness and obligations in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than trade accounts payable
incurred in the ordinary course of business and payable on customary trade terms that are not overdue);

(c) all direct obligations under letters of credit (including standby and commercial), bankers’ acceptances and similar instruments
(including bank guaranties, surety bonds, comfort letters, keep well agreements and capital maintenance agreements) to the extent such instruments
or agreements support financial, rather than performance, obligations;
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(d) Attributable Indebtedness;

(e) all preferred stock and comparable equity interests providing for mandatory redemption, sinking fund or other like payments;

(f) without duplication, guarantees and other support obligations in respect of
Funded Indebtedness of another Person;

(g) Funded Indebtedness of any partnership or joint venture or other similar entity in which an Obligor or any Subsidiary is a general
partner or joint venturer, and, as such, has personal liability for such obligations, but only to the extent there is recourse to any Obligor or Subsidiary
for payment thereof; and

 
(h) Swap Termination Value under any Swap Contracts.

For purposes hereof, the amount of Funded Indebtedness shall be determined based on (A) in the case of borrowed money indebtedness under clause (a)
above and purchase money indebtedness and deferred purchase obligations under clause (b) above, the then outstanding principal amount, (B) in the case of
letter of credit obligations and the other obligations under clause (c) above, the maximum amount available to be drawn, and (C) in the case of support
obligations under clause (g) above, based on the amount of Funded Indebtedness that is the subject of the support obligations. For clarification purposes,
“Funded Indebtedness” shall not include intercompany indebtedness of the Obligors and their Subsidiaries, general accounts payable of the Obligors and their
Subsidiaries which arise in the ordinary course of business, accrued expenses of the Obligors and their Subsidiaries incurred in the ordinary course of
business or minority interests in joint ventures or limited partnerships (except to the extent set forth in clause (g) above).

“Funds From Operations” means, as of any date of determination, and for any relevant period with respect to the Parent Guarantor and its
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, an amount equal to (1) Consolidated Net Income for such period plus (2) depreciation and amortization for such period
plus (3) to the extent such amounts have reduced Consolidated Net Income, costs and expenses incurred in connection with any consummated acquisition
during such period in an amount not to exceed fifteen percent (15%) of Consolidated EBITDA for the most recently ended four fiscal quarter period and
subject to adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures as hereafter provided plus (4) to the extent such amounts have reduced Consolidated
Net Income, any expenses for such period incurred in connection with the exercise by holders of warrants (existing on the date of this Agreement) in
exchange for common Equity Interests in the Parent Guarantor so long as the Parent Guarantor receives an amount of cash in excess of such expenses in
connection with such exercise. Notwithstanding contrary treatment under GAAP, for purposes hereof, (a) “Funds From Operations” shall include, and be
adjusted to take into account, the Parent Guarantor’s interests in unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures, on the same basis as consolidated
partnerships and subsidiaries, as provided in the “white paper” issued in April 2002 by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts and (b)
Consolidated Net Income shall not include gains (or, if applicable, losses) resulting from or in connection with (i) restructuring of Funded Indebtedness, (ii)
sales of property, (iii) sales or redemptions of preferred stock or (iv) non cash asset impairment charges.
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“GAAP” means (a) generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from time to time in the United States of America and (b) for purposes of
Section 9.6, with respect to any Subsidiary, generally accepted accounting principles (including International Financial Reporting Standards, as applicable) as
in effect from time to time in the jurisdiction of organization of such Subsidiary.

“Governmental Authority” means

(a) the government of

(i) the United States of America or any state or other political subdivision thereof, or

(ii) any other jurisdiction in which the Company or any Subsidiary conducts all or any part of its business, or which asserts jurisdiction
over any properties of the Company or any Subsidiary, or

(b) any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of, or pertaining to, any such
government.

“Governmental Official” means any governmental official or employee, employee of any government-owned or government-controlled entity,
political party, any official of a political party, candidate for political office, official of any public international organization or anyone else acting in an
official capacity.

“Guaranty” is defined in Section 2.2.

“Guarantee” means, as to any Person, (a) any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person guaranteeing or having the economic effect of
guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation payable or performable by another Person (the “primary obligor”) in any manner, whether directly or
indirectly, and including any obligation of such Person, direct or indirect, (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of)
such Indebtedness or other obligation, (ii) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the obligee in respect of such
Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment or performance of such Indebtedness or other obligation, (iii) to maintain working capital, equity capital or
any other financial statement condition or liquidity or level of income or cash flow of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such
Indebtedness or other obligation, or (iv) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee in respect of such Indebtedness or other
obligation of the payment or performance thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part), or (b) any Lien on any assets
of such Person securing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person, whether or not such Indebtedness or other obligation is assumed by such
Person (or any right, contingent or otherwise, of any holder of such Indebtedness to obtain any such Lien). The amount of any Guarantee shall be deemed to
be the lesser of (x) an amount equal to the stated or determinable amount of the primary obligation in respect of which such Guarantee is made and (y) the
maximum amount for which such guaranteeing Person may be liable pursuant to the terms of the
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instrument embodying such Guarantee unless such primary obligation and the maximum amount for which such guaranteeing Person may be liable are not
stated or determinable, in which case the amount of such Guarantee shall be such guaranteeing Person’s maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect
thereof as determined by the Company in good faith. The term “Guarantee” as a verb has a corresponding meaning.

“Guarantors” means, collectively, (a) the Parent Guarantor and (b) each of the
Subsidiaries Guarantors.

In any computation of the indebtedness or other liabilities of the obligor under any Guaranty, the indebtedness or other obligations that are the subject of such
Guaranty shall be assumed to be direct obligations of such obligor.

“Hazardous Materials” means any and all pollutants, toxic or hazardous wastes or other substances that might pose a hazard to health and safety,
the removal of which may be required or the generation, manufacture, refining, production, processing, treatment, storage, handling, transportation, transfer,
use, disposal, release, discharge, spillage, seepage or filtration of which is or shall be restricted, prohibited or penalized by any applicable law, including
asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum, petroleum products, lead based paint, radon gas or similar restricted,
prohibited or penalized substances.

“holder” means, with respect to any Note, the Person in whose name such Note is registered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 13.1, provided, however, that if such Person is a nominee, then for the purposes of Sections 7, 12, 17.2 and 18 and any related definitions in this
Schedule A, “holder” shall mean the beneficial owner of such Note whose name and address appears in such register.

“Incorporated Covenant” is defined in Section 9.9(b).

“INHAM Exemption” is defined in Section 6.2(e).

“Indebtedness” means, as to any Person at a particular time, without duplication, all of the following:

(a) all Funded Indebtedness of such Person;

(b) all other obligations (other than Intangible Liabilities) that would constitute obligations on the balance sheet of such Person, as
determined in accordance with GAAP; and

(c) all Guarantees of such Person in respect of any of the foregoing.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any other Note Document, thecalculation of Indebtedness shall not include any fair
value adjustments to the carrying value of liabilities to record such liabilities at fair value pursuant to electing the fair value option election under
FASB ASC 825-10-25 (formerly known as FAS 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial
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Assets and Financial Liabilities) or other FASB standards allowing entities to elect fair value option for financial liabilities. Accordingly, the amount
of liabilities shall be the historical cost basis, which generally is the contractual amount owed adjusted for amortization or accretion of any premium
or discount.

“Institutional Investor” means (a) any Purchaser of a Note, (b) any holder of a Note holding (together with one or more of its affiliates) more than
5% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding, (c) any bank, trust company, savings and loan association or other financial institution,
any pension plan, any investment company, any insurance company, any broker or dealer, or any other similar financial institution or entity, regardless of
legal form, and (d) any Related Fund of any holder of any Note.

“Intangible Assets” means assets that are considered to be intangible assets under GAAP, including customer lists, goodwill, computer software,
copyrights, trade names, trademarks, patents, franchises, licenses, unamortized deferred charges, unamortized debt discount and capitalized research and
development costs.

“Intangible Liabilities” means liabilities that are considered to be intangible liabilities under GAAP.

“Investment” means, as to any Person, any direct or indirect acquisition or investment by such Person, whether by means of (a) the purchase or
other acquisition of capital stock or other securities of another Person, (b) a loan, advance or capital contribution to, Guarantee or assumption of debt of, or
purchase or other acquisition of any other debt or equity participation or interest in, another Person, including any partnership or joint venture interest in such
other Person and any arrangement pursuant to which the investor Guarantees Indebtedness of such other Person, or (c) the purchase or other acquisition (in
one transaction or a series of transactions) of assets of another Person that constitute a business unit. For purposes of covenant compliance, the amount of any
Investment shall be the amount actually invested, without adjustment for subsequent increases or decreases in the value of such Investment.

“Joinder to the Guaranty” is defined in Section 9.7(a).

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory or other), charge, or preference,
priority or other security interest or preferential arrangement in the nature of a security interest of any kind or nature whatsoever (including any conditional
sale or other title retention agreement, any easement, right of way or other encumbrance on title to real property, and any financing lease having substantially
the same economic effect as any of the foregoing).

“Make-Whole Amount” is defined in Section 8.7.

“Material” means material in relation to the business, operations, affairs, financial condition, assets, properties, or prospects of the Parent
Guarantor, the Company and their respective Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

A-11



“Material Acquisition” means a simultaneous acquisition by the Company or its Subsidiaries of one or more assets with a purchase price of ten
percent (10%) or more of Consolidated Total Asset Value immediately prior to such acquisition.

“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, operations, affairs, financial condition, assets or properties of the
Parent Guarantor, the Company and their respective Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this
Agreement and the Notes, (c) the ability of any Subsidiary Guarantor to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Guaranty, or (d) the validity or
enforceability of this Agreement, the Notes or any Guaranty.

“Material Contract” means, any agreement the breach, nonperformance or cancellation of which could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

“Material Credit Facility” means,

(a) the First Amended & Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 29, 2012, by and among the Company, the Parent Guarantor,
certain subsidiaries of the Parent Guarantor, Keybank National Association, as administrative agent, and the other lenders party thereto, including
any renewals, extensions, amendments, supplements, restatements, replacements or refinancing thereof;

(b) The Term Loan Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2015, by and among the Company, the Parent Guarantor, certain subsidiaries
of the Parent Guarantor, Keybank National Association, as administrative agent and the other lenders party thereto, including any renewals,
extensions, amendments supplements, restatements, replacements or refinancings thereof; and

(c) any other agreement(s) creating or evidencing indebtedness for borrowed money entered into on or after the date of Closing by the
Company or any Subsidiary, or in respect of which the Company or any Subsidiary is an obligor or otherwise provides a guarantee or other credit
support, in a principal amount outstanding or available for borrowing equal to or greater than the Threshold Amount (or the equivalent of such
amount in the relevant currency of payment, determined as of the date of the closing of such facility based on the exchange rate of such other
currency); and if no Credit Facility or Credit Facilities equal or exceed such amounts, then the largest Credit Facility shall be deemed to be a
Material Credit Facility.

“Material Subsidiary” means any Domestic Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor that either (a) owns (or ground leases, as applicable) a UAP
Property or other assets the value of which is included in the determination of Unencumbered Asset Pool Value and which at any time (whether when such
Real Property Asset becomes a UAP Property or thereafter) has incurred, acquired, suffered to exist, or incurs, acquires or suffers to exist, or otherwise is
liable with respect to any Indebtedness that is not Non-Recourse Indebtedness (whether as a borrower, co-borrower, guarantor, or otherwise), or (b) is the
borrower or co-borrower under, guarantees, or otherwise is or becomes obligated in respect of, any Indebtedness that is not Non-Recourse
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Indebtedness; provided that, in lieu of causing such Subsidiary to become a Guarantor as provided in Section 9.7, the Company may elect by delivery of
written notice to holders of the Notes to exclude such Subsidiary as a Guarantor provided any Indebtedness of such Subsidiary which is not Non-Recourse
Indebtedness is recourse only to the Subsidiary and not recourse to any other Person, and provided further that all assets owned directly or indirectly by the
Subsidiary are excluded from the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value.

“Maturity Date” is defined in the first paragraph of each Note.

“More Favorable Covenant” is defined in Section 9.9(a).

“More Favorable Lender Notice” is defined in Section 9.9(c).

“Multiemployer Plan” means any Plan that is a “multiemployer plan” (as such term is defined in section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA).

“NAIC” means the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.

“Non-Consensual Liens” are Liens permitted by Sections 10.05(b) - 10.5(l), inclusive.

“Non-Recourse Indebtedness” means Indebtedness of a Person in respect of which recourse for payment (except for normal and customary
exclusions from non-recourse indebtedness, such as fraud, intentional misrepresentation, misapplication of funds, waste, Environmental Liabilities and
voluntary bankruptcy until a claim is made with respect thereto, and then such Indebtedness shall not constitute “Non-Recourse Indebtedness” to the extent of
the amount of such claim) is contractually and solely limited to specific assets of such Person encumbered by a Lien securing such Indebtedness and is not a
general obligation of such Person.

“Non-U.S. Plan” means any plan, fund or other similar program that (a) is established or maintained outside the United States of America by the
Parent Guarantor, the Company or any Subsidiary primarily for the benefit of employees of the Company or one or more Subsidiaries residing outside the
United States of America, which plan, fund or other similar program provides, or results in, retirement income, a deferral of income in contemplation of
retirement or payments to be made upon termination of employment, and (b) is not subject to ERISA or the Code.

“Note Documents” means this Agreement, the Guaranty and the Notes.

“Notes” is defined in Section 1.

“Obligors” means, collectively, the Company and each Guarantor.

“OFAC” means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the Treasury.
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“OFAC Sanctions Program” means any economic or trade sanction that OFAC is responsible for administering and enforcing. A list of OFAC
Sanctions Programs may be found at http://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/Programs/Pages/Programs.aspx.

“Officer’s Certificate” means a certificate of a Senior Financial Officer or of any other officer of the Company whose responsibilities extend to the
subject matter of such certificate.

“Organization Documents” means, (a) with respect to any corporation, the certificate or articles of incorporation and the bylaws (or equivalent or
comparable constitutive documents with respect to any non-U.S. jurisdiction); (b) with respect to any limited liability company, the certificate or articles of
formation or organization and operating agreement; and (c) with respect to any partnership, joint venture, trust or other form of business entity, the
partnership, joint venture or other applicable agreement of formation or organization and any agreement, instrument, filing or notice with respect thereto filed
in connection with its formation or organization with the applicable Governmental Authority in the jurisdiction of its formation or organization and, if
applicable, any certificate or articles of formation or organization of such entity.

“Parent Guarantor” is defined in the introduction to this Agreement.

“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA.

“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, association, trust, unincorporated organization, business entity or
Governmental Authority.

“Plan” means an “employee benefit plan” (as defined in section 3(3) of ERISA) subject to Title I of ERISA that is or, within the preceding five
years, has been established or maintained, or to which contributions are or, within the preceding five years, have been made or required to be made, by the
Company or any ERISA Affiliate or with respect to which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may have any liability.

“Primary Credit Facility” means the agreements listed in (a) and (b) of the definition of Material Credit Facility.

“property” or “properties” means, unless otherwise specifically limited, real or personal property of any kind, tangible or intangible, choate or
inchoate.

“Proposed Prepayment Date” is defined in Section 8.3(b).

“PTE” is defined in Section 6.2(a).

“Purchaser” or “Purchasers” means each of the purchasers that has executed and delivered this Agreement to the Company and such Purchaser’s
successors and assigns (so long as any such assignment complies with Section 13.2), provided, however, that any Purchaser of a Note that ceases to be the
registered holder or a beneficial owner (through a nominee) of such
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Note as the result of a transfer thereof pursuant to Section 13.2 shall cease to be included within the meaning of “Purchaser” of such Note for the purposes of
this Agreement upon such transfer.

“Purchaser Schedule” means the Purchaser Schedule to this Agreement listing the
Purchasers of the Notes and including their notice and payment information.

“Qualified Institutional Buyer” means any Person who is a “qualified institutional buyer” within the meaning of such term as set forth in Rule
144A(a)(1) under the Securities Act.

“Qualified Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary of the Company that at all times during the term of this Agreement meets each of
the following criteria: (a) the Company or a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company is the sole managing member or general partner of such Subsidiary
and retains, without limitation or restriction, control of all decisions relating to the financing, sale, leasing and management of the UAP Property owned by
such Subsidiary, (b) no more than 5.0% of the Equity Interests in such Subsidiary are directly or indirectly owned by Persons other than the Company or a
Subsidiary of the Company and (c) the Organization Documents of such Subsidiary contain no restriction, condition or limitation on the ability of such
Subsidiary to become a Guarantor hereunder or pledge all or any part of its assets, including such UAP Property, as collateral security for the Note
Obligations.

“QPAM Exemption” is defined in Section 6.2(d).

“Real Property Asset” means, a parcel of real or leasehold property, together with all improvements (if any) thereon (including all tangible personal
property owned by the Person owning such real or leasehold property) owned in fee simple or leased pursuant to an Eligible Ground Lease by any Person.
“Real Property Assets” means a collective reference to each Real Property Asset.

“Related Fund” means, with respect to any holder of any Note, any fund or entity that (a) invests in Securities or bank loans, and (b) is advised or
managed by such holder, the same investment advisor as such holder or by an affiliate of such holder or such investment advisor.

“Required Holders” means at any time (i) prior to the Closing, the Purchasers and (ii) on or after the Closing, the holders of at least 51% in
principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding (exclusive of Notes then owned by the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any of its Affiliates.

“Responsible Officer” means any Senior Financial Officer and any other officer of the Parent Guarantor, the Subsidiary Guarantors or the Company
with responsibility for the administration of such matter.

“Sale and Leaseback Transaction” means, with respect to any Obligor or any Subsidiary, any arrangement, directly or indirectly, with any Person
whereby such Obligor or such Subsidiary shall sell or transfer any property used or useful in its business, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, and
thereafter rent or lease such property or other property that it
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intends to use for substantially the same purpose or purposes as the property being sold or transferred.

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission of the United States of America.

“Securities” or “Security” shall have the meaning specified in section 2(1) of the Securities Act.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder from time to time in effect.

“Securitization Transaction” means, with respect to any Person, any financing transaction or series of financing transactions (including factoring
arrangements) pursuant to which such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person may sell, convey or otherwise transfer, or grant a security interest in, accounts,
payments, receivables, rights to future lease payments or residuals or similar rights to payment to a special purpose subsidiary or affiliate of such Person.

“Senior Financial Officer” means the chief financial officer, principal accounting officer, treasurer or comptroller of the Parent Guarantor either
directly or in its capacity as the general partner of the Company.

“Shareholders’ Equity” means, as of any date of determination, consolidated shareholders’ equity of the Parent Guarantors and its Subsidiaries, as
determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Source” is defined in Section 6.2.

“State Sanctions List” means a list that is adopted by any state Governmental Authority within the United States of America pertaining to Persons
that engage in investment or other commercial activities in Iran or any other country that is a target of economic sanctions imposed under U.S. Economic
Sanctions Laws.

“Subsidiary” means, as to any Person, any other Person in which such first Person or one or more of its Subsidiaries or such first Person and one or
more of its Subsidiaries owns sufficient equity or voting interests to enable it or them (as a group) ordinarily, in the absence of contingencies, to elect a
majority of the directors (or Persons performing similar functions) of such second Person, and any partnership or joint venture if more than a 50% interest in
the profits or capital thereof is owned by such first Person or one or more of its Subsidiaries or such first Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries (unless
such partnership or joint venture can and does ordinarily take major business actions without the prior approval of such Person or one or more of its
Subsidiaries). Unless the context otherwise clearly requires, any reference to a “Subsidiary” is a reference to a Subsidiary of the Company.

“Subsidiary Guarantor” means each Subsidiary that has executed and delivered the Guaranty or has executed and delivered the Joinder to the
Guaranty.
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“Substitute Purchaser” is defined in Section 21.

“Super-Majority Holders” means at any time on or after the Closing, the holders of at least 66-2/3% in principal amount of the Notes at the time
outstanding (exclusive of Notes then owned by the Parent Guarantor, Company or any of its Affiliates).

“SVO” means the Securities Valuation Office of the NAIC.

“Swap Contract” means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative transactions, forward rate transactions, commodity
swaps, commodity options, forward commodity contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or
forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options, forward foreign exchange transactions, cap transactions, floor
transactions, collar transactions, currency swap transactions, cross-currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar
transactions or any combination of any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is
governed by or subject to any master agreement, and (b) any and all transactions of any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and
conditions of, or governed by, any form of master agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., any International
Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master agreement (any such master agreement, together with any related schedules, a “Master
Agreement”), including any such obligations or liabilities under any Master Agreement.

“Swap Termination Value” means, in respect of any one or more Swap Contracts, after taking into account the effect of any legally enforceable
netting agreement relating to such Swap Contracts, (a) for any date on or after the date such Swap Contracts have been closed out and termination value(s)
determined in accordance therewith, such termination value(s), and (b) for any date prior to the date referenced in clause (a), the amount(s) determined as the
mark-to- market value(s) for such Swap Contracts, as determined based upon one or more mid-market or other readily available quotations provided by any
recognized dealer in such Swap Contracts.

“Synthetic Lease Obligation” means the monetary obligation of a Person under (a) a so- called synthetic, off-balance sheet or tax retention lease, or
(b) an agreement for the use or possession of property creating obligations that do not appear on the balance sheet of such Person but which, upon the
insolvency or bankruptcy of such Person, would be characterized as the indebtedness of such Person (without regard to accounting treatment).

“Threshold Amount” means (a) with respect to Indebtedness that is recourse to an Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries, $35,000,000, (b) with respect
to Indebtedness that is not recourse to any Obligor or any of its Subsidiaries, $70,000,000 and (c) with respect to all other matters, $10,000,000.

“UAP Guarantor” means each Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor which owns (or ground leases, as applicable) a UAP Property and which is or
becomes a Guarantor pursuant to Section 9.7.
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“UAP Property” means a Real Property Asset that is (i) directly owned by the Company or a Guarantor that is a direct or indirect wholly-owned
Subsidiary of the Company or a Qualified Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiary, (ii) a multi-tenant retail property located in the United States and is not
unimproved land or assets under development, (iii) either owned in fee simple or subject to an Eligible Ground Lease interest approved by the Required
Holders, (iv) free of any environmental problems as represented in writing to the Required Holders (without the need for environmental reports or other
related information except upon reasonable request), (v) not subject to a Lien or other restriction other than Non-Consensual Liens (provided that a Real
Property Asset may not be considered to be a UAP Property as long as it is subject to a Non- Consensual Lien incurred pursuant to Section 10.5(g) if (x) the
amount of such Non-Consensual Lien, when aggregated with all other Non-Consensual Liens then existing that were incurred pursuant to Section 10.5(g),
exceeds $500,000 and (y) such Non-Consensual Lien has remained unsatisfied or undischarged for a period of greater than 90 days) and (vi) subject to
negative pledge in favor of the Required Holders.

“UAP Subsidiary” means each Subsidiary of the Company and each Qualified Non- Wholly Owned Subsidiary which owns (or ground leases, as
applicable) a UAP Property. Each UAP Guarantor shall be a UAP Subsidiary.

“Unconsolidated Joint Venture” means any Investment in a Person by the Parent Guarantor or a Subsidiary in which such Person is not
consolidated with the Parent Guarantor for GAAP purposes.

“Unencumbered Asset Pool Value” means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to the sum of (a) for all UAP Properties listed on Part
A of Schedule 10.10 attached hereto and all UAP Properties that have been owned for more than twelve months, the quotient of (i) an amount equal to (A) the
Adjusted Net Operating Income from such UAP Properties multiplied by (B) four (4) divided by (ii) the Capitalization Rate plus (b) for all UAP Properties
not owned on the date of Closing that have been owned for twelve months or less and for all UAP Properties listed on Part B of Schedule 10.10 attached
hereto that have been owned for twelve months or less, at the discretion of the Company, (i) the book value (as defined by GAAP) of any such UAP Property
or (ii) the value of any such UAP Property as determined by the calculation in clause (a) above; provided that when calculating the Unencumbered Asset Pool
Value, the following limitations shall apply:

(A) no more than 20% of the aggregate value of the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value can be contributed by any individual UAP
Property;

(B) no more than 15% of aggregate Adjusted Net Operating Income used in calculating the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value can be
contributed by any single tenant;

(C) no more than 10% of the aggregate value of the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value can be contributed by UAP Properties subject to
Eligible Ground Leases (rather than owned in fee simple);
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(D) no more than 15% of the aggregate value of the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value can be contributed by UAP Properties owned by
Qualified Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiaries;

(E) each UAP Property contributing to the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value shall have a minimum occupancy (leased and tenant
occupied and operating) of not less than 70% and the aggregate occupancy of all UAP Properties contributing to the Unencumbered Asset Pool
Value shall be not less than 85%; provided that up to 15% of the aggregate value of the UAP Properties contributing to the Unencumbered Asset
Pool Value can be comprised of Real Property Assets acquired in any preceding twelve month period that do not meet the individual UAP Property
requirement for occupancy so long as (i) any such Real Property Asset that does meet the 70% individual occupancy rate is not included as a UAP
Property in the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value for more than twelve months and (ii) the aggregate occupancy rate of 85% or more with respect to
all UAP Properties contributing to the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value remains satisfied; and

(F) a UAP Property will be excluded from the calculation of the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value to the extent it has tenants with
aggregate base rents of more than 10% of the total rents of such UAP Property that are delinquent 90 days or more.

Furthermore, in calculating the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value, to the extent any UAP Property is owned by a Qualified Non-Wholly Owned
Subsidiary, the Unencumbered Asset Pool Value otherwise attributable to such UAP Property shall be reduced based on the economic and distribution
interests of minority holders to account for the ownership, directly or indirectly, by Persons other than the Parent Guarantor or a Subsidiary of the Parent
Guarantor of Equity Interests in such Qualified Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiary.

“United States Person” has the meaning set forth in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code. “USA PATRIOT Act” means United States Public Law 107-
56, Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism (USA PATRIOT ACT) Act of 2001 and
the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder from time to time in effect.

“U.S. Economic Sanctions Laws” means those laws, executive orders, enabling legislation or regulations administered and enforced by the United
States pursuant to which economic sanctions have been imposed on any Person, entity, organization, country or regime, including the Trading with the Enemy
Act, the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, the Iran Sanctions Act, the Sudan Accountability and Divestment Act and any other OFAC
Sanctions Program.

“Voting Stock” means, with respect to any Person, Equity Interests issued by such Person the holders of which are ordinarily, in the absence of
contingencies, entitled to vote for
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the election of directors (or persons performing similar functions) of such Person, even though the right so to vote has been suspended by the happening of
such a contingency.

“Wholly-Owned Subsidiary” means, at any time, any Subsidiary all of the equity interests (except directors’ qualifying shares) and voting interests
of which are owned by any one or more of Parent Guarantor, the Company and the Company’s or the Parent Guarantor’s other Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries at
such time.
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[FORM OF NOTE]

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS PARTNERSHIP, LP

3.95% SENIOR NOTE DUE SEPTEMBER 22, 2026

No. RA-[ ] [Date]
$[ ] PPN 76132F A*8

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP (herein called the “Company”), a Delaware limited
partnership, hereby promises to pay to [ ], or registered assigns, the principal sum of [ ] DOLLARS (or so much thereof as shall not have been prepaid) on
September 22, 2026 (the “Maturity Date”), with interest (computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) (a) on the unpaid balance hereof
at the rate of 3.95% per annum from the date hereof, payable semiannually, on the twenty-second day of March and September in each year, commencing
with the March 22 or September 22 next succeeding the date hereof, and on the Maturity Date, until the principal hereof shall have become due and payable,
and (b) to the extent permitted by law, (x) on any overdue payment of interest and (y) during the continuance of an Event of Default, on such unpaid balance
and on any overdue payment of any Make-Whole Amount, at a rate per annum from time to time equal to the greater of (i) 5.95% or (ii) 2% over the rate of
interest publicly announced by KeyBank National Association from time to time in New York, New York as its “base” or “prime” rate, payable semiannually
as aforesaid (or, at the option of the registered holder hereof, on demand).

Payments of principal of, interest on and any Make-Whole Amount with respect to this Note are to be made in lawful money of the United States of
America at the offices of the Company or at such other place as the Company shall have designated by written notice to the holder of this Note as provided in
the Note Purchase Agreement referred to below.

This Note is one of a series of Senior Notes (herein called the “Notes”) issued pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, dated July 26, 2016, as
amended and restated by the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement dated as of September 22, 2016 (as from time to time amended, the “Note
Purchase Agreement”), between the Company, Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. (the “Parent Guarantor”) and the respective Purchasers named
therein and is entitled to the benefits thereof. Each holder of this Note will be deemed, by its acceptance hereof, to have (i) agreed to the confidentiality
provisions set forth in Section 20 of the Note Purchase Agreement and (ii) made the representation set forth in Section 6.2 of the Note Purchase Agreement.
Unless otherwise indicated, capitalized terms used in this Note shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Note Purchase Agreement.

This Note is a registered Note and, as provided in the Note Purchase Agreement, upon surrender of this Note for registration of transfer accompanied
by a written instrument of transfer

duly executed, by the registered holder hereof or such holder’s attorney duly authorized in writing, a new Note for a like principal amount will be issued to,
and registered in the name of, the transferee. Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer, the Company may treat the Person in whose name this Note
is registered as the owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment and for all other purposes, and the Company will not be affected by any notice to the
contrary.

Pursuant to a Guaranty dated as of September 22, 2016, the Parent Guarantor, operating as a real estate investment trust and certain subsidiaries,
have each absolutely and unconditionally guaranteed payment in full of the principal of, Make-Whole Amount, if any, and interest on this Note and
performance by the Company of all of its obligations contained in the Note Purchase Agreement all on the terms set forth in such Guaranty.

This Note is subject to optional prepayment, in whole or from time to time in part, at the times and on the terms specified in the Note Purchase
Agreement, but not otherwise.

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the principal of this Note may be declared or otherwise become due and payable in the manner, at the
price (including any applicable Make-Whole Amount) and with the effect provided in the Note Purchase Agreement.

SCHEDULE 1
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



This Note shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights of the Company and the holder of this Note shall be governed by, the
law of the State of New York excluding choice-of-law principles of the law of such State that would permit the application of the laws of a jurisdiction other
than such State.

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS
PARTNERSHIP, LP

By: Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC
Its General Partner

By         
Name: Michael B. Haines
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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SCHEDULE 3

WIRE TRANSFER INSTRUCTIONS

Account Name:

Account No.:

Bank Name:

Bank Address:

Bank Routing No.:

Schedule 3
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



FORM OF OPINION OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
FOR THE COMPANY

[To Be Provided on a Case by Case Basis]

SCHEDULE 4.4(a)
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



FORM OF OPINION OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
FOR THE PURCHASERS

[To Be Provided on a Case by Case Basis]

SCHEDULE 4.4(b)
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



SCHEDULE 5.3

DISCLOSURE MATERIALS

INFORMATION OBTAINED BY PURCHASER THROUGH PUBLIC FILINGS

1. Term Loan Agreement
2. Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
3. ROIC Supplemental Disclosure Quarterly Reports
4. ROIC Annual Proxy Statements
5. ROIC Annual Reports on Form 10-K
6. ROCI Quarterly Reports on Form 10-K

SCHEDULE 5.3
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



SCHEDULE 5.4

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY AND
OWNERSHIP OF SUBSIDIARY STOCK

(i) Subsidiaries:*

Retail Opportunity
Investments Corp. Schedule
of Entities July 19, 2016

Entity Jurisdiction of Org. Owner
  GP (% Interest) LP (% Interest)
Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. MD Shareholders
Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Corp.

Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP DE
Retail Opportunity

Investments GP, LLC (1%) Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. (88.3%)
ROIC Washington, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Oregon, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC California, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC STV, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Santa Ana, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Pinole Vista, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Hillsboro, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Paramount Plaza, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP

ROIC Phillips Ranch, LLC DE

Retail Opportunity
Investments Partnership, LP

(99.97%) MCC Realty III, LLC (.03%)

*     At Closing, no Subsidiaries will be a Subsidiary Guarantor.

SCHEDULE 5.4
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



Entity Jurisdiction of Org. Owner
  GP (% Interest) LP (% Interest)
ROIC Phillips Ranch, TRS DE ROIC Phillips Ranch, LLC
ROIC Cypress West, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Zephyr Cove, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Gateway III, LLC DE ROIC Gateway Holding III, LLC
ROIC Gateway Holding III, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Crossroads GP, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Crossroads LP, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP

Terranomics Crossroads Associates, LP CA
Terranomics Crossroads
Associates GP Interest

Terranomics Crossroads Associates LP
Interest

SARM Five Points Plaza, LLC WA Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC DBTC, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP

ROIC BHP, LLC DE
ROIC BHP Holding I, LLC
(50%) - Managing Member ROIC BHP Holding II, LLC (50%)

ROIC BHP Holding I, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC BHP Holding II, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Redondo Beach Plaza, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Robinwood, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Creekside Plaza, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Park Oaks, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
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Entity Jurisdiction of Org. Owner
  GP (% Interest) LP (% Interest)
ROIC Diamond Hills Plaza, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Warner Plaza, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Four Corner Square, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Casitas Plaza, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Magnolia Center, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Bouquet Center, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP
ROIC Monterey, LLC DE Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP

(ii)    Parent Guarantor’s Directors and Senior Officers:

Directors

Richard. A. Baker, Chairman
Michael J. Indiveri
Edward H. Meyer
Lee S. Neibart
Charles J. Persico
Laura H. Pomerantz
Eric S. Zorn

Senior Officers

Stuart A. Tanz, Chief Executive Officer
Michael B. Haines, Chief Financial Officer
Richard K. Schoebel, Chief Operating Officer
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SCHEDULE 5.5

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2013
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011

Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2016
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2015
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2015
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2015

SCHEDULE 5.5
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



SCHEDULE 5.15

EXISTING INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COMPANY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

OBLIGOR(S) CREDITOR CUSIP OR ISIN
(IF APPLICABLE)

DESCRIPTION OF
INDEBTEDNESS

INTEREST
RATES

COLLATERAL FINAL
MATURITY

OUTSTANDING
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT

Company
Bank
Syndicate N/A

Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement, as
Amended LIBOR + 1% None 1/31/2019 $ 333,500,000

Company
Bank
Syndicate N/A Term Loan Agreement

LIBOR +
1.1% None 1/31/2019 $ 300,000,000

Company Various
ISIN =

US76132FAA5 Senior Notes due 2023 5% Unsecured 12/15/2023 $ 250,000,000

Company Various
ISIN =

US76132FAB31 Senior Notes due 2024 4% Unsecured 12/15/2024 $ 250,000,000

ROIC BHP, LLC
Column
Financial N/A Property Level Loan 5.7%

Bernardo
Heights Plaza 7/11/2017 $ 8,312,000

ROIC STV, LLC
Lincoln
National Life N/A Property Level Loan 6.2%

Santa Teresa
Village 2/1/2018 $ 10,499,000

ROIC Magnolia
Center, LLC

Variable
Annuity Life N/A Property Level Loan 5.5%

Magnolia
Shopping
Center 10/1/2018 $ 9,223,000

ROIC Casitas Plaza,
LLC

Minnesota
Life N/A Property Level Loan 5.32% Casitas Plaza 6/1/2022 $ 7,517,000

ROIC Diamond
Hills Plaza, LLC PNC Bank N/A Property Level Loan 3.55%

Diamond Hills
Plaza 10/1/2025 $ 35,500,000

SCHEDULE 5.15
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



SCHEDULE 10.5
EXISTING LIENS

OBLIGOR(S) CREDITOR
DESCRIPTION OF
INDEBTEDNESS INTEREST RATE(S) COLLATERAL

ROIC BHP, LLC Column Financial Property Level Loan 5.70% Bernardo Heights Plaza
ROIC STV, LLC Lincoln National Life Property Level Loan 6.20% Santa Teresa Village

ROIC Magnolia
Center, LLC Variable Annuity Life Property Level Loan 5.50% Magnolia Shopping Center

ROIC Casitas
Plaza, LLC Minnesota Life Property Level Loan 5.32% Casitas Plaza

ROIC Diamond
Hills Plaza, LLC PNC Bank Property Level Loan 3.55% Diamond Hills Plaza

SCHEDULE 10.5
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



Schedule 10.6

EXISTING INVESTMENTS

1. Unimproved land holdings (The Village at Novato) - $3,800,000

SCHEDULE 10.6
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



SCHEDULE 10.7

EXISTING INDEBTEDNESS

OBLIGOR(S) CREDITOR
CUSIP OR ISIN (IF

APPLICABLE)
DESCRIPTION OF
INDEBTEDNESS

INTEREST
RATE COLLATERAL

FINAL
MATURITY

OUTSTANDING
PRINCIPAL

6/30/16

Company
Bank
Syndicate N/A

Amended and
Restated Credit
Agreement, as
Amended LIBOR + 1%

Unencumbered
Asset Pool 1/31/19 $333,500,000

Company
Bank
Syndicate N/A

Term Loan
Agreement LIBOR + 1.1%

Unencumbered
Asset Pool 1/31/19 $300,000,000

Company Various
ISIN =
US76132FAA5

Senior Notes due
2023 5.00% Unsecured 12/15/23 $250,000,000

Company Various
ISIN =
US76132FAB31

Senior Notes due
2024 4.00% Unsecured 12/15/24 $250,000,000

ROIC BHP, LLC
Column
Financial N/A Property Level Loan 5.70%

Bernardo Heights
Plaza 7/11/17 $8,312,000

ROIC STV, LLC
Lincoln
National Life N/A Property Level Loan 6.20%

Santa Teresa
Village 2/1/18 $10,499,000

ROIC Magnolia
Center, LLC

Variable
Annuity Life N/A Property Level Loan 5.50%

Magnolia
Shopping Center 10/1/18 $9,223,000

ROIC Casitas
Plaza, LLC

Minnesota
Life N/A Property Level Loan 5.32% Casitas Plaza 6/1/22 $7,517,000

ROIC Diamond
Hills Plaza, LLC PNC Bank N/A Property Level Loan 3.55%

Diamond Hills
Plaza 10/1/25 $35,500,000

SCHEDULE 10.7
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



SCHEDULE 10.10

CERTAIN UAP PROPERTIES

ROIC - UNENCUMBERED POOL 2016     

PROPERTY
Paramount Plaza
Santa Ana Downtown Plaza
Meridian Valley Plaza
The Market at Lake Stevens
Norwood Shopping Center
Happy Valley Town Center
Cascade Summit Town Square
Heritage Market Center
Claremont Center
Gateway Village I
Gateway Village II
Sycamore Creek
Pinole Vista
Division Crossing
Marketplace Del Rio
Desert Springs Marketplace
Morada Ranch
Renaissance Towne Center
Country Club Gate
Canyon Park
Hawks Prairie Shopping Center
The Kress Building
Round Hill Square
Hillsboro Market Center
Gateway Shopping Center
Euclid Plaza
Aurora Square
Marlin Cove Shopping Center
Seabridge Marketplace
Green Valley Station
The Village at Novato
Wilsonville Old Town Square
Glendora Shopping Center
Bay Plaza
Cypress Center West
Redondo Beach Plaza

SCHEDULE 10.10
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



ROIC - UNENCUMBERED POOL 2016
Harbor Place Center
Diamond Bar Town
Center Canyon Crossing
Granada Shopping Center
Hawthorne Crossings
Robinwood Shopping Center
Five Points Plaza
Crossroads Shopping Center
Peninsula Marketplace
Country Club Village-San Ramon
Plaza de la Canada
Creekside Plaza
Tigard Marketplace
Aurora Square II
Fallbrook Center
Wilsonville Town Center
Moorpark Shopping Center
Park Oaks Shopping Center
Ontario Plaza
Winston Manor
Gateway Centre
Iron Horse Plaza
Jackson Square
Tigard Promenade
Johnson Creek
Sternco Shopping Center
Four Corner Square
Warner Plaza
Bouquet Center
North Ranch Shopping Center
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EXHIBIT 2.2

FORM OF GUARANTY

Exhibit 2.2
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



 

GUARANTY AGREEMENT

Dated as of September 22, 2016
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GUARANTY AGREEMENT

THIS GUARANTY AGREEMENT, dated as of September 22, 2016 (this “Guaranty Agreement”), is made by Retail Opportunity Investments
Corp., a Maryland corporation (the “Parent Guarantor”; and, together with any other entities from time to time which become parties hereto pursuant to
Section 14.1 hereof, each a “Guarantor” and collectively, the “Guarantors”) in favor of the Purchasers (as defined below) and the other holders from time
to time of the Notes (as defined below). The Purchasers and such other holders are herein collectively called the “holders” and individually a “holder.”

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:

I. Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Company”), and the Parent Guarantor has entered into a
Note Purchase Agreement dated as of July 27, 2016 as amended and restated by the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement dated as of September
22, 2016 (as amended, modified, supplemented or restated from time to time, the “Note Agreement”) with the Persons listed on the signature pages thereto
(the “Purchasers”). Capitalized terms used herein have the meanings specified in the Note Agreement unless otherwise defined herein.

II. The Company has authorized the issuance, pursuant to the Note Agreement, of
3.95% Senior Notes due September 22, 2026 in the aggregate principal amount of $200,000,000 (the “Initial Notes”). The Initial Notes and any other Notes
that may from time to time be issued pursuant to the Note Agreement (including any notes issued in substitution for any of the Notes) are herein collectively
called the “Notes” and individually a “Note.”

III. Pursuant to the Note Agreement, the Company is required to cause each Guarantor to deliver this Guaranty Agreement to the holders.

IV. Each Guarantor will receive direct and indirect benefits from the financing arrangements contemplated by the Note Agreement. Each Guarantor
has determined that the incurrence of such obligations is in the best interests of such Guarantor.

NOW THEREFORE, in compliance with the Note Agreement, and in consideration of, the execution and delivery of the Note Agreement and the
purchase of the Notes by each of the Purchasers, each Guarantor hereby covenants and agrees with, and represents and warrants to each of the holders as
follows:

SECTION 1. GUARANTY.

Each Guarantor hereby irrevocably, unconditionally and jointly and severally with the other Guarantors guarantees to each holder, the due and
punctual payment in full of (a) the principal of, Make-Whole Amount, if any, and interest on (including, without limitation, interest accruing after the filing of
any petition in bankruptcy, or the commencement of any insolvency,



reorganization or like proceeding, whether or not a claim for post-filing or post-petition interest is allowed in such proceeding), and any other amounts due
under, the Notes when and as the same shall become due and payable (whether at stated maturity or by required or optional prepayment or by acceleration or
otherwise) and (b) any other sums which may become due under the terms and provisions of the Notes, the Note Agreement or any other instrument referred
to therein) all such obligations described in clauses (a) and (b) above are herein called the “Guaranteed Obligations”). The guaranty in the preceding
sentence is an absolute, present and continuing guaranty of payment and not of collectibility and is in no way conditional or contingent upon any attempt to
collect from the Company or any other guarantor of the Notes (including, without limitation, any other Guarantor hereunder) or upon any other action,
occurrence or circumstance whatsoever. In the event that the Company shall fail so to pay any of such Guaranteed Obligations, each Guarantor agrees to pay
the same when due to the holders entitled thereto, without demand, presentment, protest or notice of any kind, in lawful money of the United States of
America, pursuant to the requirements for payment specified in the Notes and the Note Agreement. Each default in payment of any of the Guaranteed
Obligations shall give rise to a separate cause of action hereunder and separate suits may be brought hereunder as each cause of action arises. Each Guarantor
agrees that the Notes issued in connection with the Note Agreement may (but need not) make reference to this Guaranty Agreement.

Each Guarantor agrees to pay and to indemnify and save each holder harmless from and against any damage, loss, cost or expense (including
attorneys’ fees) which such holder may incur or be subject to as a consequence, direct or indirect, of (x) any breach by such Guarantor, by any other
Guarantor or by the Company of any warranty, covenant, term or condition in, or the occurrence of any default under, this Guaranty Agreement, the Notes,
the Note Agreement or any other instrument referred to therein, together with all expenses resulting from the compromise or defense of any claims or
liabilities arising as a result of any such breach or default, (y) any legal action commenced to challenge the validity or enforceability of this Guaranty
Agreement, the Notes, the Note Agreement or any other instrument referred to therein and (z) enforcing or defending (or determining whether or how to
enforce or defend) the provisions of this Guaranty Agreement.

Each Guarantor hereby acknowledges and agrees that such Guarantor’s liability hereunder is joint and several with the other Guarantors and any
other Person(s) who may guarantee the obligations and Indebtedness under and in respect of the Notes and the Note Agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions or any other provision of this Guaranty Agreement, the Purchasers (on behalf of themselves and their
successors and assigns) and each Guarantor hereby agree that if at any time the Guaranteed Obligations exceed the Maximum Guaranteed Amount
determined as of such time with regard to such Guarantor, then this Guaranty Agreement shall be automatically amended to reduce the Guaranteed
Obligations to the Maximum Guaranteed Amount. Such amendment shall not require the written consent of any Guarantor or any holder and shall be deemed
to have been automatically consented to by each Guarantor and each holder. Each Guarantor agrees that the Guaranteed Obligations may at any time exceed
the Maximum Guaranteed Amount without affecting or impairing the obligation of such Guarantor. “Maximum Guaranteed Amount” means as of the date
of determination with
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respect to a Guarantor, the lesser of (a) the amount of the Guaranteed Obligations outstanding on such date and (b) the maximum amount that would not
render such Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty Agreement subject to avoidance under Section 548 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (or any
successor provision) or any comparable provision of applicable state law.

SECTION 2. OBLIGATIONS ABSOLUTE.

The obligations of each Guarantor hereunder shall be primary, absolute, irrevocable and unconditional, irrespective of the validity or enforceability
of the Notes, the Note Agreement or any other instrument referred to therein, shall not be subject to any counterclaim, setoff, deduction or defense based upon
any claim such Guarantor may have against the Company or any holder or otherwise, and shall remain in full force and effect without regard to, and shall not
be released, discharged or in any way affected by, any circumstance or condition whatsoever (whether or not such Guarantor shall have any knowledge or
notice thereof), including, without limitation: (a) any amendment to, modification of, supplement to or restatement of the Notes, the Note Agreement or any
other instrument referred to therein (it being agreed that the obligations of each Guarantor hereunder shall apply to the Notes, the Note Agreement or any such
other instrument as so amended, modified, supplemented or restated) or any assignment or transfer of any thereof or of any interest therein, or any furnishing,
acceptance or release of any security for the Notes or the addition, substitution or release of any other Guarantor or any other entity or other Person primarily
or secondarily liable in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations; (b) any waiver, consent, extension, indulgence or other action or inaction under or in respect of
the Notes, the Note Agreement or any other instrument referred to therein; (c) any bankruptcy, insolvency, arrangement, reorganization, readjustment,
composition, liquidation or similar proceeding with respect to the Company or its property; (d) any merger, amalgamation or consolidation of any Guarantor
or of the Company into or with any other Person or any sale, lease or transfer of any or all of the assets of any Guarantor or of the Company to any Person; (e)
any failure on the part of the Company for any reason to comply with or perform any of the terms of any other agreement with any Guarantor; (f) any failure
on the part of any holder to obtain, maintain, register or otherwise perfect any security; or (g) any other event or circumstance which might otherwise
constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a guarantor (whether or not similar to the foregoing), and in any event however material or prejudicial it
may be to any Guarantor or to any subrogation, contribution or reimbursement rights any Guarantor may otherwise have. Each Guarantor covenants that its
obligations hereunder will not be discharged except by indefeasible payment in full in cash of all of the Guaranteed Obligations and all other obligations
hereunder.

SECTION 3. WAIVER.

Each Guarantor unconditionally waives to the fullest extent permitted by law, (a) notice of acceptance hereof, of any action taken or omitted in
reliance hereon and of any default by the Company in the payment of any amounts due under the Notes, the Note Agreement or any other instrument referred
to therein, and of any of the matters referred to in Section 2 hereof, (b) all notices which may be required by statute, rule of law or otherwise to preserve any
of the rights of any holder against such Guarantor, including, without limitation, presentment to or demand for
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payment from the Company or any Guarantor with respect to any Note, notice to the Company or to any Guarantor of default or protest for nonpayment or
dishonor and the filing of claims with a court in the event of the bankruptcy of the Company, (c) any right to require any holder to enforce, assert or exercise
any right, power or remedy including, without limitation, any right, power or remedy conferred in the Note Agreement or the Notes, (d) any requirement for
diligence on the part of any holder and (e) any other act or omission or thing or delay in doing any other act or thing which might in any manner or to any
extent vary the risk of such Guarantor or otherwise operate as a discharge of such Guarantor or in any manner lessen the obligations of such Guarantor
hereunder.

SECTION 4. OBLIGATIONS UNIMPAIRED.

Each Guarantor authorizes the holders, without notice or demand to such Guarantor or any other Guarantor and without affecting its obligations
hereunder, from time to time: (a) to renew, compromise, extend, accelerate or otherwise change the time for payment of, all or any part of the Notes, the Note
Agreement or any other instrument referred to therein; (b) to change any of the representations, covenants, events of default or any other terms or conditions
of or pertaining to the Notes, the Note Agreement or any other instrument referred to therein, including, without limitation, decreases or increases in amounts
of principal, rates of interest, the Make-Whole Amount or any other obligation; (c) to take and hold security for the payment of the Notes, the Note
Agreement or any other instrument referred to therein, for the performance of this Guaranty Agreement or otherwise for the Indebtedness guaranteed hereby
and to exchange, enforce, waive, subordinate and release any such security; (d) to apply any such security and to direct the order or manner of sale thereof as
the holders in their sole discretion may determine; (e) to obtain additional or substitute endorsers or guarantors or release any other Guarantor or any other
Person or entity primarily or secondarily liable in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations; (f) to exercise or refrain from exercising any rights against the
Company, any Guarantor or any other Person; and (g) to apply any sums, by whomsoever paid or however realized, to the payment of the Guaranteed
Obligations and all other obligations owed hereunder. The holders shall have no obligation to proceed against any additional or substitute endorsers or
guarantors or to pursue or exhaust any security provided by the Company, such Guarantor or any other Guarantor or any other Person or to pursue any other
remedy available to the holders.

If an event permitting the acceleration of the maturity of the principal amount of any Notes shall exist and such acceleration shall at such time be
prevented or the right of any holder to receive any payment on account of the Guaranteed Obligations shall at such time be delayed or otherwise affected by
reason of the pendency against the Company, any Guarantor or any other guarantors of a case or proceeding under a bankruptcy or insolvency law, such
Guarantor agrees that, for purposes of this Guaranty Agreement and its obligations hereunder, the maturity of such principal amount shall be deemed to have
been accelerated with the same effect as if the holder thereof had accelerated the same in accordance with the terms of the Note Agreement, and such
Guarantor shall forthwith pay such accelerated Guaranteed Obligations.
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SECTION 5. SUBROGATION AND SUBORDINATION.

(a) Each Guarantor will not exercise any rights which it may have acquired by way of subrogation under this Guaranty Agreement, by any payment
made hereunder or otherwise, or accept any payment on account of such subrogation rights, or any rights of reimbursement, contribution or indemnity or any
rights or recourse to any security for the Notes or this Guaranty Agreement unless and until all of the Guaranteed Obligations shall have been indefeasibly
paid in full in cash.

(b) Each Guarantor hereby subordinates the payment of all Indebtedness and other obligations of the Company or any other guarantor of the
Guaranteed Obligations owing to such Guarantor, whether now existing or hereafter arising, including, without limitation, all rights and claims described in
clause (a) of this Section 5, to the indefeasible payment in full in cash of all of the Guaranteed Obligations. If the Required Holders so request, any such
Indebtedness or other obligations shall be enforced and performance received by such Guarantor as trustee for the holders and the proceeds thereof shall be
paid over to the holders promptly, in the form received (together with any necessary endorsements) to be applied to the Guaranteed Obligations, whether
matured or unmatured, as may be directed by the Required Holders, but without reducing or affecting in any manner the liability of any Guarantor under this
Guaranty Agreement.

(c) If any amount or other payment is made to or accepted by any Guarantor in violation of any of the preceding clauses (a) and (b) of this Section 5,
such amount shall be deemed to have been paid to such Guarantor for the benefit of, and held in trust for the benefit of, the holders and shall be paid over to
the holders promptly, in the form received (together with any necessary endorsements) to be applied to the Guaranteed Obligations, whether matured or
unmatured, as may be directed by the Required Holders, but without reducing or affecting in any manner the liability of such Guarantor under this Guaranty
Agreement.

(d) Each Guarantor acknowledges that it will receive direct and indirect benefits from the financing arrangements contemplated by the Note
Agreement and that its agreements set forth in this Guaranty Agreement (including this Section 5) are knowingly made in contemplation of such benefits.

(e) Each Guarantor hereby agrees that, to the extent that a Guarantor shall have paid an amount hereunder to any holder that is greater than the net
value of the benefits received, directly or indirectly, by such paying Guarantor as a result of the issuance and sale of the Notes (such net value, its
“Proportionate Share”), such paying Guarantor shall, subject to Section 5(a) and 5(b), be entitled to contribution from any Guarantor that has not paid its
Proportionate Share of the Guaranteed Obligations. Any amount payable as a contribution under this Section 5(e) shall be determined as of the date on which
the related payment is made by such Guarantor seeking contribution and each Guarantor acknowledges that the right to contribution hereunder shall constitute
an asset of such Guarantor to which such contribution is owed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions of this Section 5(e) shall in no respect limit the
obligations and liabilities of any Guarantor to the holders of the Notes hereunder or under the Notes, the Note Agreement or any other document, instrument
or agreement executed in connection therewith,
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and each Guarantor shall remain jointly and severally liable for the full payment and performance of the Guaranteed Obligations.

SECTION 6. REINSTATEMENT OF GUARANTY.

This Guaranty Agreement shall continue to be effective, or be reinstated, as the case may be, if and to the extent at any time payment, in whole or in
part, of any of the sums due to any holder on account of the Guaranteed Obligations is rescinded or must otherwise be restored or returned by a holder upon
the insolvency, bankruptcy, dissolution, liquidation or reorganization of the Company or any other guarantors, or upon or as a result of the appointment of a
custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers with respect to the Company or any other guarantors or any part of its or their property, or
otherwise, all as though such payments had not been made.

SECTION 7. RANK OF GUARANTY.

Each Guarantor will ensure that its payment obligations under this Guaranty Agreement will at all times rank at least pari passu, without preference
or priority, with all other unsecured and unsubordinated Indebtedness of such Guarantor now or hereafter existing.

SECTION 8. COVENANTS OF EACH GUARANTOR.

So long as any Notes are outstanding or the Note Agreement shall remain in effect, each Guarantor agrees to comply with the covenants applicable
to such Guarantor pursuant to the Note Agreement:

SECTION 9. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF EACH GUARANTOR.

Each Guarantor represents and warrants to each holder as follows that the representation and warranties of such Guarantor as set forth in Section 5
are true and correct as of the date hereof.

SECTION 10. TERM OF GUARANTY AGREEMENT.

This Guaranty Agreement and all guarantees, covenants and agreements of the Guarantors contained herein shall continue in full force and effect and
shall not be discharged until such time as all of the Guaranteed Obligations and all other obligations hereunder shall be indefeasibly paid in full in cash and
shall be subject to reinstatement pursuant to Section 6; provided that each Guarantor hereunder who is a Subsidiary of the Company may be released in
accordance with Section 9.7(b) of the Note Agreement.

SECTION 11. SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; ENTIRE AGREEMENT.

All representations and warranties contained herein shall survive the execution and delivery of this Guaranty Agreement and may be relied upon by
any subsequent holder,
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regardless of any investigation made at any time by or on behalf of any Purchaser or any other holder. All statements contained in any certificate or other
instrument delivered by or on behalf of a Guarantor pursuant to this Guaranty Agreement shall be deemed representations and warranties of such Guarantor
under this Guaranty Agreement. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Guaranty Agreement embodies the entire agreement and understanding between each
holder and the Guarantors and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings relating to the subject matter hereof.

SECTION 12. AMENDMENT AND WAIVER.

Section 12.1. Requirements. Except as otherwise provided in the fourth paragraph of Section 1 of this Guaranty Agreement, this Guaranty
Agreement may be amended, and the observance of any term hereof may be waived (either retroactively or prospectively), with (and only with) the written
consent of each Guarantor and the Required Holders, except that no amendment or waiver (a) of any of the first three paragraphs of Section 1 or any of the
provisions of Section 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 12 or 14.6 hereof, or any defined term (as it is used therein), or (b) which results in the limitation of the liability of
any Guarantor hereunder (except to the extent provided in the fourth paragraph of Section 1 of this Guaranty Agreement) will be effective as to any holder
unless consented to by such holder in writing.

Section 12.2. Solicitation of Holders of Notes.

(a) Solicitation. Each Guarantor will provide each holder of the Notes (irrespective of the amount of Notes then owned by it) with sufficient
information, sufficiently far in advance of the date a decision is required, to enable such holder to make an informed and considered decision with respect to
any proposed amendment, waiver or consent in respect of any of the provisions hereof. Each Guarantor will deliver executed or true and correct copies of
each amendment, waiver or consent effected pursuant to the provisions of this Section 12.2 to each holder promptly following the date on which it is executed
and delivered by, or receives the consent or approval of, the requisite holders of Notes.

(b) Payment. The Guarantors will not directly or indirectly pay or cause to be paid any remuneration, whether by way of supplemental or additional
interest, fee or otherwise, or grant any security or provide other credit support, to any holder as consideration for or as an inducement to the entering into by
any holder of any waiver or amendment of any of the terms and provisions hereof unless such remuneration is concurrently paid, or security is concurrently
granted or other credit support concurrently provided, on the same terms, ratably to each holder even if such holder did not consent to such waiver or
amendment.

(c) Consent in Contemplation of Transfer. Any consent made pursuant to this Section 12 by a holder that has transferred or has agreed to transfer its
Notes to the Company, any Subsidiary or any Affiliate (including any Guarantor) of the Company and has provided or has agreed to provide such written
consent as a condition to such transfer shall be void and of no force or effect except solely as to such holder, and any amendments effected or waivers granted
or to be effected or granted that would not have been or would not be so effected or granted but
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for such consent (and the consents of all other holders of Notes that were acquired under the same or similar conditions) shall be void and of no force or effect
except solely as to such holder.

Section 12.3. Binding Effect. Any amendment or waiver consented to as provided in this Section 12 applies equally to all holders and is binding
upon them and upon each future holder and upon each Guarantor without regard to whether any Note has been marked to indicate such amendment or waiver.
No such amendment or waiver will extend to or affect any obligation, covenant or agreement not expressly amended or waived or impair any right consequent
thereon. No course of dealing between a Guarantor and the holder nor any delay in exercising any rights hereunder or under any Note shall operate as a
waiver of any rights of any holder. As used herein, the term “this Guaranty Agreement” and references thereto shall mean this Guaranty Agreement as it may
be amended, modified, supplemented or restated from time to time.

Section 12.4. Notes Held by Company, Etc. Solely for the purpose of determining whether the holders of the requisite percentage of the aggregate
principal amount of Notes then outstanding approved or consented to any amendment, waiver or consent to be given under this Guaranty Agreement, or have
directed the taking of any action provided herein to be taken upon the direction of the holders of a specified percentage of the aggregate principal amount of
Notes then outstanding, Notes directly or indirectly owned by any Guarantor, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates shall be deemed not to be
outstanding.

SECTION 13. NOTICES.

All notices and communications provided for hereunder shall be in writing and sent (a) by telecopy if the sender on the same day sends a confirming
copy of such notice by a recognized overnight delivery service (charges prepaid), or (b) by registered or certified mail with return receipt requested (postage
prepaid), or (c) by a recognized overnight delivery service (with charges prepaid). Any such notice must be sent:

(a) if to any Guarantor, to 8905 Towne Centre Drive, Suite 108, San Diego, CA 92122, Telephone: (858) 677-0900 to the attention of
Stuart A. Tanz and Michael B. Haines, or such other address as such Guarantor shall have specified to the holders in writing, or

(b) if to any holder, to such holder at the addresses specified for such communications set forth in Purchaser Schedule to the Note
Agreement, or such other address as such holder shall have specified to the Guarantors in writing.

SECTION 14. MISCELLANEOUS.

Section 14.1. Successors and Assigns; Joinder. All covenants and other agreements contained in this Guaranty Agreement by or on behalf of any
of the parties hereto bind and inure to the benefit of their respective successors and assigns whether so expressed or not. It is agreed and understood that any
Person may become a Guarantor hereunder by executing a Guarantor Supplement substantially in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto and delivering the
same to the
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Holders. Any such Person shall thereafter be a “Guarantor” for all purposes under this Guaranty Agreement.

Section 14.2. Severability. Any provision of this Guaranty Agreement that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition
or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall (to the full extent permitted by law), not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other
jurisdiction.

Section 14.3. Construction. Each covenant contained herein shall be construed (absent express provision to the contrary) as being independent of
each other covenant contained herein, so that compliance with any one covenant shall not (absent such express contrary provision) be deemed to excuse
compliance with any other covenant. Whether any provision herein refers to action to be taken by any Person, or which such Person is prohibited from taking,
such provision shall be applicable whether such action is taken directly or indirectly by such Person.

The section and subsection headings in this Guaranty Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall neither be deemed to be a part of
this Guaranty Agreement nor modify, define, expand or limit any of the terms or provisions hereof. All references herein to numbered sections, unless
otherwise indicated, are to sections of this Guaranty Agreement. Words and definitions in the singular shall be read and construed as though in the plural and
vice versa, and words in the masculine, neuter or feminine gender shall be read and construed as though in either of the other genders where the context so
requires.

Section 14.4. Further Assurances. Each Guarantor agrees to execute and deliver all such instruments and take all such action as the Required
Holders may from time to time reasonably request in order to effectuate fully the purposes of this Guaranty Agreement.

Section 14.5. Governing Law. This Guaranty Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights of the parties shall be
governed by, the law of the State of New York, excluding choice-of-law principles of the law of such State that would permit the application of the laws of a
jurisdiction other than such State.

Section 14.6. Jurisdiction and Process; Waiver of Jury Trial. (a) Each Guarantor irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any
New York State or federal court sitting in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, over any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to
this Guaranty Agreement. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, each Guarantor irrevocably waives and agrees not to assert, by way of motion, as
a defense or otherwise, any claim that it is not subject to the jurisdiction of any such court, any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the
venue of any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court and any claim that any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court has
been brought in an inconvenient forum.

(b) Each Guarantor consents to process being served by or on behalf of any holder in any suit, action or proceeding of the nature referred to in
Section 14.6(a) by mailing a copy thereof by registered or certified mail (or any substantially similar form of mail), postage
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prepaid, return receipt requested, to it at its address specified in Section 13 or at such other address of which such holder shall then have been notified
pursuant to Section 13. Each Guarantor agrees that such service upon receipt (i) shall be deemed in every respect effective service of process upon it in any
such suit, action or proceeding and (ii) shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, be taken and held to be valid personal service upon and personal
delivery to it. Notices hereunder shall be conclusively presumed received as evidenced by a delivery receipt furnished by the United States Postal Service or
any reputable commercial delivery service.

(c) Nothing in this Section 14.6 shall affect the right of any holder to serve process in any manner permitted by law, or limit any right that the holders
may have to bring proceedings against any Guarantor in the courts of any appropriate jurisdiction or to enforce in any lawful manner a judgment obtained in
one jurisdiction in any other jurisdiction.

(d) THE GUARANTORS AND THE HOLDERS HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION BROUGHT ON OR WITH RESPECT
TO THIS GUARANTY AGREEMENT OR OTHER DOCUMENT EXECUTED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Guarantor has caused this Guaranty Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date and year first above
written.

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS CORP.

By:     
Name: Michael B. Haines
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT A

GUARANTOR SUPPLEMENT

THIS GUARANTOR SUPPLEMENT (the “Guarantor Supplement”), dated as of [ , 20 ] is made by [ ], a [ ] (the “Additional Guarantor”), in favor of the
holders from time to time of the Notes issued pursuant to the Note Agreement described below:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:

I. Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement dated as of July 27, 2016 as amended and restated by the Amended and Restated Note Purchase
Agreement dated as of September 22, 2016 (as amended, modified, supplemented or restated from time to time, the “Note Agreement”), by and among
Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Company”), and the Persons listed on the signature pages thereto (the
“Purchasers”), the Company has issued and sold $200,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its 3.95% Senior Notes due September 22, 2026 (the “Initial
Notes”). The Initial Notes and any other Notes that may from time to time be issued pursuant to the Note Agreement (including any notes issued in
substitution for any of the Notes) are herein collectively called the “Notes” and individually a “Note.”

II. The Company is required pursuant to Section 9.7 of the Note Agreement to cause the Additional Guarantor to deliver this Guarantor Supplement
in order to cause the Additional Guarantor to become a Guarantor under the Guaranty Agreement dated as of September 22, 2016 executed by Retail
Opportunity Investments Corp. (together with each entity that from time to time becomes a party thereto by executing a Guarantor Supplement pursuant to
Section 14.1 thereof, collectively, the “Guarantors”) in favor of each holder from time to time of any of the Notes (as the same may be amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Guaranty Agreement”).

III. The Additional Guarantor has received and will receive substantial direct and indirect benefits from the Company’s compliance with the terms
and conditions of the Note Agreement and the Notes issued thereunder.

IV. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the definitions set forth in the Note Agreement.

Now Therefore, in consideration of the funds advanced to the Company by the Purchasers under the Note Agreement and to enable the Company to comply
with the terms of the Note Agreement, the Additional Guarantor hereby covenants, represents and warrants to the holders as follows:

The Additional Guarantor hereby becomes a Guarantor (as defined in the Guaranty Agreement) for all purposes of the Guaranty
Agreement. Without limiting the



foregoing, the Additional Guarantor hereby (a) jointly and severally with the other Guarantors under the Guaranty Agreement, guarantees to the
holders from time to time of the Notes the prompt payment in full when due (whether at sated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) and the full and
prompt performance and observance of all Guaranteed Obligations (as defined in Section 1 of the Guaranty Agreement) in the same manner and to
the same extent as is provided in the Guaranty Agreement, (b) accepts and agrees to perform and observe all of the covenants set forth therein, (c)
waives the rights set forth in Section 3 of the Guaranty Agreement, (d) agrees to perform and observe the covenants contained in Section 8 of the
Guaranty Agreement, (e) makes the representations and warranties set forth in Section 9 of the Guaranty Agreement and (f) waives the rights,
submits to jurisdiction, and waives service of process as described in Section 14.6 of the Guaranty Agreement.

Notice of acceptance of this Guarantor Supplement and of the Guaranty Agreement, as supplemented hereby, is hereby waived by the
Additional Guarantor.

The address for notices and other communications to be delivered to the Additional Guarantor pursuant to Section 13 of the Guaranty
Agreement is set forth below.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Additional Guarantor has caused this Guarantor Supplement to be duly executed and delivered as of the
date and year first above written.

[NAME OF GUARANTOR]

By:
Name:
Title:

Notice Address for such Guarantor
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[NAME AND ADDRESS OF COMPANY]

INFORMATION RELATING TO PURCHASERS

  PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF
NAME AND ADDRESS OF PURCHASER  NOTES TO BE PURCHASED
   

[NAME OF PURCHASER]  $

(1) All payments by wire transfer of immediately available funds to:

with sufficient information to identify the source and application of such funds.

(2) All notices of payments and written confirmations of such wire transfers:

(3) E-mail address for Electronic Delivery:

(4) All other communications:

(5) U.S. Tax Identification Number:

PURCHASER SCHEDULE
(to Note Purchase Agreement)



EXHIBIT 31.1

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS CORP.
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Stuart A. Tanz, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Retail Opportunity Investments Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: October 26, 2016  By:  /s/ Stuart A. Tanz
   Name:  Stuart A. Tanz
   Title:  Chief Executive Officer



RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS PARTNERSHIP, LP
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

 
I, Stuart A. Tanz, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: October 26, 2016  By:  /s/ Stuart A. Tanz
   Name:  Stuart A. Tanz
   Title:  Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS CORP.
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

 
I, Michael B. Haines, certify that:
 
1.     I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Retail Opportunity Investments Corp.;
 
2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 4.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: October 26, 2016  By:  /s/ Michael B. Haines
   Name:  Michael B. Haines
   Title:  Chief Financial Officer



RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS PARTNERSHIP, LP
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

 
I, Michael B. Haines, certify that:
 
1.     I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP;

2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.

Date: October 26, 2016  By:  /s/ Michael B. Haines
   Name:  Michael B. Haines
   Title:  Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS CORP.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350
as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

The undersigned, the Chief Executive Officer of Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. (the “Company”), hereby certifies to the best of his knowledge on the
date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 (the “Form 10-Q”), filed concurrently herewith by the Company, fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: October 26, 2016  By:  /s/ Stuart A. Tanz
   Name:  Stuart A. Tanz
   Title:  Chief Executive Officer
   

The undersigned, the Chief Financial Officer of Retail Opportunity Investments Corp. (the “Company”), hereby certifies to the best of his knowledge on the
date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 (the “Form 10-Q”), filed concurrently herewith by the Company, fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: October 26, 2016  By:  /s/ Michael B. Haines
   Name:  Michael B. Haines
   Title:  Chief Financial Officer
   

Pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Commission Release 33-8238, dated June 5, 2003, this certification is being furnished and shall not be deemed filed
by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or incorporated by reference in any registration statement of
the Company filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



RETAIL OPPORTUNITY INVESTMENTS PARTNERSHIP, LP
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350
as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

The undersigned, the Chief Executive Officer of Retail Opportunity Investments Corp, the sole member of Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC, the sole
general partner of Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP (the “Operating Partnership”), hereby certifies to the best of his knowledge on the date
hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2016 (the “Form 10-Q”), filed concurrently herewith by the Operating Partnership, fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Operating Partnership.

Date: October 26, 2016  By:  /s/ Stuart A. Tanz
   Name:  Stuart A. Tanz
   Title:  Chief Executive Officer
   
 
The undersigned, the Chief Financial Officer of Retail Opportunity Investments Corp, the sole member of Retail Opportunity Investments GP, LLC, the sole
general partner of Retail Opportunity Investments Partnership, LP (the “Operating Partnership”), hereby certifies to the best of his knowledge on the date
hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2016 (the “Form 10-Q”), filed concurrently herewith by the Operating Partnership, fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Operating Partnership.

Date: October 26, 2016  By:  /s/ Michael B. Haines
   Name:  Michael B. Haines
   Title:  Chief Financial Officer
   
 
Pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Commission Release 33-8238, dated June 5, 2003, this certification is being furnished and shall not be deemed filed
by the Operating Partnership for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or incorporated by reference in any registration
statement of the Operating Partnership filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Operating Partnership and will be retained by the Operating
Partnership and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


